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Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport

LOCATOR MAP
September 2021

Coordinate System:  Airport Grid
Airfield Elevation:     58' AMSL
Airfield Lat:               N37 21.7
Airfield Long:            W121 55.7

  1. Terminal A
  2. Lot 2
  3. Federal Inspection Services
  4. Terminal B
  5. Consolidated Rental Car Center
  6. Lot 5
  7. Lot 3
  8. Lot 4
  9. Air Freight
10. Fire Station 20
11. SJPD Airport Division
12. General Aviation West

13. AvBase Aviation
14. ACM Aviation
15. HP Aviation
16. FAA-Flight Standards District Offices
17. Atlantic San José (Fueling and Transit Services)
18. FAA Air Traffic Control Tower
19. Signature Flight Support
20. Fuel Farm Location
21. North Air Cargo
22. Economy Lot 1
23. South Main Point of Entry
24. Interim Facility Gates 31-36
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7KH�$QQXDO�&RPSUHKHQVLYH�)LQDQFLDO�5HSRUW� �$&)5��RI� WKH�1RUPDQ�<��0LQHWD�6DQ�-RVp�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�
$LUSRUW��$LUSRUW�RU�6-&���D�GHSDUWPHQW�RI�WKH�&LW\�RI�6DQ�-RVp��&LW\���IRU�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDUV�HQGHG�-XQH�����
�����DQG�������LV�KHUHE\�VXEPLWWHG���5HVSRQVLELOLW\�IRU�ERWK�WKH�DFFXUDF\�RI�WKH�GDWD��DQG�WKH�FRPSOHWHQHVV�
DQG�IDLUQHVV�RI�WKH�SUHVHQWDWLRQ��LQFOXGLQJ�DOO�GLVFORVXUHV��UHVWV�ZLWK�WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�PDQDJHPHQW���:H�EHOLHYH�
WKH�GDWD��DV�SUHVHQWHG��LV�DFFXUDWH�LQ�DOO�PDWHULDO�DVSHFWV�DQG�SUHVHQWHG�LQ�D�PDQQHU�GHVLJQHG�WR�IDLUO\�VHW�
IRUWK� WKH� ILQDQFLDO� SRVLWLRQ�� FKDQJHV� LQ� ILQDQFLDO� SRVLWLRQ�� DQG� FDVK� IORZV� RI� WKH� $LUSRUW�� DQG� WKDW� DOO�
GLVFORVXUHV�QHFHVVDU\�WR�HQDEOH�WKH�UHDGHU�WR�JDLQ�WKH�PD[LPXP�XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�ILQDQFLDO�
DIIDLUV�KDYH�EHHQ�LQFOXGHG����

7KLV�WUDQVPLWWDO�OHWWHU�SURYLGHV�D�QRQ�WHFKQLFDO�VXPPDU\�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�EDFNJURXQG��HFRQRPLF�FRQGLWLRQ�
DQG�RXWORRN��DQG�PDMRU�LQLWLDWLYHV���0DQDJHPHQW¶V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV��0'	$��LV�FRQWDLQHG�LQ�WKH�
)LQDQFLDO� 6HFWLRQ� RI� WKH�$&)5� DQG� SURYLGHV� UHDGHUV�ZLWK� D�PRUH� GHWDLOHG� GLVFXVVLRQ� RI� WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�
ILQDQFLDO�UHVXOWV��

7KH�DQQXDO�DXGLW�RI�$LUSRUW�IXQGV�ZDV�FRPSOHWHG�E\�WKH�LQGHSHQGHQW�ILUP�RI�0DFLDV�*LQL�	�2¶&RQQHOO�
//3��&HUWLILHG�3XEOLF�$FFRXQWDQWV�IRU�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGHG�-XQH����������DQG�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGHG�-XQH�����
������ ,Q� DGGLWLRQ� WR�PHHWLQJ� WKH� UHTXLUHPHQWV� VHW� IRUWK� LQ� WKH� &LW\� &KDUWHU�� WKH� &LW\¶V� DXGLW�ZDV� DOVR�
GHVLJQHG�WR�PHHW� WKH�UHTXLUHPHQWV�RI� WKH�)HGHUDO�8QLIRUP�*XLGDQFH�IRU�IHGHUDO�DZDUGV�� �7KH�$LUSRUW¶V�
IHGHUDO�DZDUGV�SURJUDPV�DUH�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�&LW\ZLGH�6LQJOH�$XGLW�5HSRUW���7KH�DXGLWRU¶V�UHSRUW�RQ�WKH�
$LUSRUW¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LV�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�)LQDQFLDO�6HFWLRQ�RI�WKLV�UHSRUW��

5(3257,1*�(17,7<�

7KH�&LW\�&KDUWHU�FUHDWHG�WKH�$LUSRUW�'HSDUWPHQW��'HSDUWPHQW��LQ������DV�D�GHSDUWPHQW�ZLWKLQ�WKH�&LW\���
7KH�&LW\�LV�D�FKDUWHU�FLW\�WKDW�RSHUDWHV�XQGHU�D�FRXQFLO�PDQDJHU�IRUP�RI�JRYHUQPHQW����7KH�HOHYHQ�PHPEHUV�
RI�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�VHUYH�DV�WKH�JRYHUQLQJ�ERG\�WKDW�RYHUVHHV�WKH�RSHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW���7KH�'LUHFWRU�RI�
$YLDWLRQ�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�WKH�RSHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�'HSDUWPHQW�DQG�UHSRUWV�GLUHFWO\�WR�WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU���7KH�
'HSDUWPHQW�RSHUDWHV�WKH�$LUSRUW��ZKLFK�LV�FXUUHQWO\�FODVVLILHG�DV�D�PHGLXP�KXE�DLUSRUW��SULPDULO\�SURYLGLQJ�
GRPHVWLF�RULJLQ�GHVWLQDWLRQ��2	'��VHUYLFH�ZLWK�VRPH�OHYHOV�RI�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�VHUYLFH�� �7KH�'HSDUWPHQW¶V�
PLVVLRQ�LV�WR�FRQQHFW��VHUYH��DQG�LQVSLUH��

7KH�$LUSRUW�VHUYHV�6DQWD�&ODUD�&RXQW\��ZKLFK�LV�DOVR�WKH�6DQ�-RVp�3ULPDU\�0HWURSROLWDQ�6WDWLVWLFDO�$UHD�
DQG�LV�FRPPRQO\�UHIHUUHG�WR�DV�6LOLFRQ�9DOOH\��DV�ZHOO�DV�DGMDFHQW�FRXQWLHV�RI�0RQWHUH\��6DQ�%HQLWR��DQG�
6DQWD�&UX]�DQG�SRUWLRQV�RI�WZR�DGMDFHQW�FRXQWLHV��$ODPHGD�DQG�6DQ�0DWHR��FROOHFWLYHO\��WKH�$LU�6HUYLFH�

��7KH�6DQ�-RVp�&LW\�&KDUWHU�ZDV�SXW�LQWR�HIIHFW�LQ�0D\�RI�������
��$IWHU� GLVFXVVLRQV� GXULQJ� -XQH� DQG� -XO\�� WKH� &RXQFLO� YRWHG� RQ� -XO\� ���� ����� WR� HVWDEOLVK� D� &KDUWHU� 5HYLHZ� &RPPLVVLRQ� WR� EULQJ� IRUZDUG�
UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV�WR�WKH�&RXQFLO�RQ�����WKH�&LW\¶V�JRYHUQDQFH�VWUXFWXUH������DOLJQPHQW�RI�WKH�0D\RUDO�HOHFWLRQ�ZLWK�WKH�SUHVLGHQWLDO�HOHFWLRQ�DQG�
WHUP�RI�RIILFH�RI�FDQGLGDWH�HOHFWHG�WR�EH�0D\RU�LQ�������VHUYLQJ�D�WZR�\HDU�RU�VL[�\HDU�WHUP���7KH�&RXQFLO�DSSURYHG�WKH�IRUPDWLRQ�RI�WKH�&KDUWHU�
5HYLHZ�&RPPLVVLRQ�RQ�6HSWHPEHU�����������

V



$UHD��� �7KH�$LU�6HUYLFH�$UHD� LV� SDUW� RI� WKH� ODUJHU�6DQ�)UDQFLVFR�6DQ� -RVp�2DNODQG�$UHD�� � 7KH� QHDUE\�
FRXQWLHV�RI�0HUFHG��6WDQLVODXV��DQG�6DQ�-RDTXLQ�FRPSULVH�D�VHFRQGDU\�VHUYLFH�DUHD���7KUHH�RI�WKH�VL[�$LU�
6HUYLFH�$UHD� FRXQWLHV�EHORQJ� WR� WKH�$VVRFLDWLRQ�RI�%D\�$UHD�*RYHUQPHQWV� �$%$*�� UHJLRQDO� SODQQLQJ�
DJHQF\�DQG�UDQN�ZLWKLQ�WKH�WRS�ILYH�PRVW�SRSXODWHG�FRXQWLHV�RI�WKH�$%$*�5HJLRQ��ZLWK�6DQWD�&ODUD�DQG�
$ODPHGD�&RXQWLHV�UDQNLQJ�ILUVW�DQG�VHFRQG��DQG�WKH�&RXQW\�RI�6DQ�0DWHR�UDQNLQJ�ILIWK���,Q�DGGLWLRQ�WR�WKH�
$LUSRUW�� WZR� RWKHU� FRPPHUFLDO� DLUSRUWV� VHUYH� WKH� 6DQ� )UDQFLVFR�6DQ� -RVp�2DNODQG� DUHD�� 6DQ� )UDQFLVFR�
,QWHUQDWLRQDO�$LUSRUW�DQG�2DNODQG�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�$LUSRUW����

(&2120,&�&21',7,21�$1'�287/22.�

$YLDWLRQ� GHPDQG� QDWLRQZLGH� DQG� JOREDOO\� LV� SULPDULO\� D� IXQFWLRQ� RI� SRSXODWLRQ� DQG� HFRQRPLF� JURZWK��
GHYHORSPHQWV� ZLWKLQ� WKH� DLUOLQH� LQGXVWU\�� DQG� DLUSRUW� DQG� DLUVSDFH� FDSDFLW\�� � $LUOLQH� WUDIILF� DW� DLUSRUWV�
SULQFLSDOO\�VHUYLQJ�2	'�SDVVHQJHUV� LV�PRVW� UHVSRQVLYH� WR� ORFDO�HFRQRPLF�DQG�SRSXODWLRQ�JURZWK��$V�D�
SUHGRPLQDQWO\�2	'��PHGLXP�KXE�DLUSRUW��WKH�$LUSRUW�LV�GHSHQGHQW�XSRQ�WKH�UHJLRQDO�HFRQRP\��QDWLRQDO�
DQG�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�HFRQRPLF�FRQGLWLRQV��DLUOLQH�VHUYLFH��DLUIDUH�OHYHOV��DQG�SRSXODWLRQ�IRU�WKH�SDVVHQJHUV�ZKR�
SURGXFH�LWV�UHYHQXH�EDVH����

7KH�ZRUOGZLGH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�FRQWLQXHV�WR�LPSDFW�WKH�$LUSRUW�DQG�DYLDWLRQ�LQGXVWU\�DQG�KDV�FDXVHG�
VLJQLILFDQW� GLVUXSWLRQV� WR� GRPHVWLF� DQG� LQWHUQDWLRQDO� DLU� WUDYHO�� LQFOXGLQJ�SDVVHQJHU�� FDUJR�� DQG�JHQHUDO�
DYLDWLRQ�RSHUDWLRQV��7KH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�LV�RQJRLQJ��DQG�LWV�G\QDPLF�QDWXUH�OHDGV�WR�XQFHUWDLQWLHV��
LQFOXGLQJ��L�� WKH�JHRJUDSKLF�VSUHDG�RI� WKH�YLUXV�� �LL�� WKH�VHYHULW\�RI� WKH�GLVHDVH���LLL�� WKH�GXUDWLRQ�RI� WKH�
RXWEUHDN���LY��DFWLRQV�WKDW�PD\�EH�WDNHQ�E\�JRYHUQPHQWDO�DXWKRULWLHV�WR�FRQWDLQ�RU�PLWLJDWH�WKH�RXWEUHDN��
�Y� WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�PHGLFDO�WKHUDSHXWLFV�DQG�RU�YDFFLQDWLRQV���YL��WUDYHO�UHVWULFWLRQV�DQG�WKH�GHPDQG�IRU
DLU�WUDYHO��LQFOXGLQJ�DW�WKH�$LUSRUW���YLL��WKH�LPSDFW�RI�WKH�RXWEUHDN�RQ�WKH�ORFDO�DQG�JOREDO�HFRQRPLHV��RQ
WKH�DLUOLQHV�DQG�FRQFHVVLRQDLUHV� VHUYLQJ� WKH�$LUSRUW��RU�RQ� WKH�DLUOLQH�RU� WUDYHO� LQGXVWU\�JHQHUDOO\�� �YLLL�
ZKHWKHU� DQG� WR�ZKDW� H[WHQW� WKH�&LW\�PD\�SURYLGH� IXUWKHU�GHIHUUDOV�� IRUEHDUDQFHV�� DGMXVWPHQWV��RU�RWKHU
FKDQJHV�WR�WKH�&LW\¶V�DUUDQJHPHQWV�ZLWK�DLUOLQHV��WHQDQWV��DQG�FRQFHVVLRQDLUHV��DQG��L[��WKH�LPSDFW�RI�WKH
RXWEUHDN� DQG� DFWLRQV� WDNHQ� LQ� UHVSRQVH� WR� WKH� RXWEUHDN� RQ� $LUSRUW� UHYHQXHV�� H[SHQVHV�� DQG� ILQDQFLDO
FRQGLWLRQ�

$V�RI�0DUFK�������YDFFLQDWLRQV�KDYH�GUDPDWLFDOO\�UHGXFHG�LQIHFWLRQ�UDWHV�DQG�OHG�WR�WKH�VWDUW�RI�UHFRYHU\�
RI�SDVVHQJHU�WUDIILF��SDUWLFXODUO\�IRU�WKH�GRPHVWLF�GHVWLQDWLRQV��,QWHUQDWLRQDO�IOLJKWV�WR�0H[LFR�KDYH�UHVXPHG�
DW� 6-&�� EXW� RWKHU� ORQJ�UDQJH� LQWHUQDWLRQDO� GHVWLQDWLRQV� DQG� WKH� OHYHO� RI� EXVLQHVV� WUDYHO� DUH� ODJJLQJ��2Q�
-DQXDU\�����������WKH�&HQWHUV�IRU�'LVHDVH�&RQWURO�DQG�3UHYHQWLRQ��&'&��DQQRXQFHG�DQ�RUGHU�UHTXLULQJ�DOO�
DLU�SDVVHQJHUV�HQWHULQJ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�WR�SUHVHQW�D�QHJDWLYH�&29,'����WHVW�WDNHQ�ZLWKLQ�WKUHH�FDOHQGDU�
GD\V�RI�GHSDUWXUH�DQG�WR�SUHVHQW�WKH�QHJDWLYH�UHVXOW�RU�GRFXPHQWDWLRQ�RI�KDYLQJ�UHFRYHUHG�IURP�&29,'����
WR�WKH�DLUOLQH�EHIRUH�ERDUGLQJ�WKH�IOLJKW��5LVNV�WR�UHFRYHU\�UHPDLQ��KRZHYHU��WKH�WKUHH�URXQGV�RI�IHGHUDO�
IXQGLQJ�&RURQDYLUXV�$LG��5HOLHI��DQG�(FRQRPLF�6HFXULW\�$FW��&$5(6�$FW���&RURQDYLUXV�5HVSRQVH�DQG�
5HOLHI�6XSSOHPHQWDO�$SSURSULDWLRQ�$FW��&556$�$FW���DQG�$PHULFDQ�5HVFXH�3ODQ�$FW��$53�$FW��SURYLGH�
SDUWLDO�FRYHUDJH�WR�UHYHQXH�ORVVHV�ZKLOH�HIIHFWLYH�H[SHQGLWXUH�UHGXFWLRQV�DQG�UHGXFHG�GHEW�VHUYLFH�DPRXQWV�
UHVXOWLQJ�IURP�UHIXQGLQJ�ERQGV�HDVH�WKH�LPSDFW�RI�UHGXFHG�UHYHQXH��$OO�ILQDQFLDO�UDWLQJV�ZHUH�DIILUPHG�E\�
0RRG\¶V�,QYHVWRU�6HUYLFH��6	3�*OREDO�5DWLQJV��6	3���DQG�)LWFK�5DWLQJV��,QF���)LWFK���KRZHYHU��RQ�0DUFK�
���������6	3�UHYLVHG�6-&¶V�UDWLQJ�RXWORRN�WR�VWDEOH�IURP�QHJDWLYH�DV�GLG�)LWFK�RQ�$XJXVW����������

,Q�ILVFDO�\HDU��)<������SDVVHQJHU�OHYHOV�DW�WKH�$LUSRUW�ZHUH�����PLOOLRQ��������ORZHU�WKDQ������PLOOLRQ�LQ�
)<����DQG�������ORZHU�WKDQ������PLOOLRQ�LQ�)<������$LUSRUW�PDQDJHPHQW�FORVHO\�PRQLWRUV�LWV�RSHUDWLQJ�
EXGJHW�FRVWV�DQG�FRQWLQXHV�WR�ORRN�IRU�ZD\V�WR�LQFUHDVH�QRQ�DLUOLQH�UHYHQXHV���,Q�DGGLWLRQ��WKH�$LUSRUW�KDV�
DQ� REMHFWLYH� RI�PDLQWDLQLQJ� D� FRPSHWLWLYH� FRVW� SHU� HQSODQHG�SDVVHQJHU� �&3(��� � 7KH�)<���� DQG�)<����
DGMXVWHG�&3(�UHIOHFWV�DFWXDO�QHW�WHUPLQDO�UHYHQXHV�DQG�WKH�$LUOLQHV�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�QHW�UHYHQXH�VKDULQJ��7KH�
DGMXVWHG�&3(�ZDV��������LQ�)<����DQG��������LQ�)<������7KH�)<����DGMXVWHG�&3(�LV�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�IRUHFDVWHG�

VI



QHW�WHUPLQDO�UHYHQXHV�DQG�WKH�$LUOLQHV�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�QHW�UHYHQXH�VKDULQJ��ZKLFK�LV�HVWLPDWHG�WR�EH��������
EDVHG�RQ�D�QXPEHU�RI�DVVXPSWLRQV��ZKLFK�PD\�RU�PD\�QRW�PDWHULDOL]H��

)URP�)<���� WKURXJK�)HEUXDU\� RI������� WKH�$LUSRUW� KDG� H[SHULHQFHG� DQ� LQFUHDVH� LQ� SDVVHQJHU� DFWLYLW\��
UHVXOWLQJ�LQ�D�WRWDO�RI�DSSUR[LPDWHO\������PLOOLRQ�SDVVHQJHUV�WUDYHOLQJ�WKURXJK�WKH�$LUSRUW�DQG�SDVVHQJHU�
WUDIILF� JURZWK� RI� ����� RQ� D� UROOLQJ� WZHOYH�PRQWK� EDVLV� DV� RI� )HEUXDU\� ������ +RZHYHU�� LQWHUQDWLRQDO�
HQSODQHPHQWV�GHFOLQHG�������RQ�D�UROOLQJ�WZHOYH�PRQWK�EDVLV�WKURXJK�)HEUXDU\��������)URP�)<����WKURXJK�
)<����WKH�FRPSRXQG�DQQXDO�JURZWK�UDWH�ZDV��������$V�RI�-XQH�����������FDUULHUV�DW�WKH�$LUSRUW�VHUYHG����
QRQVWRS�PDUNHWV�ZLWK� ����SHDN� GDLO\� GHSDUWXUHV� FRPSDUHG� WR� ��� QRQVWRS�PDUNHWV�ZLWK�����SHDN� GDLO\�
GHSDUWXUH�DV�RI�-XQH�����������6LQFH�WKH�LPSDFW�RI�WKH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�LQ�0DUFK�RI�������SDVVHQJHU�
WUDIILF�DW� WKH�$LUSRUW�GHFOLQHG�DQG� WKH�)<����SDVVHQJHUV�GHFUHDVHG�E\�������IURP�WKH�SULRU�\HDU�� �,W� LV�
XQNQRZQ�KRZ� ORQJ� WKH� LPSDFW�RI� WKH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�ZLOO� DIIHFW� SDVVHQJHU� DFWLYLW\� DQG�ZKDW� WKH�
UHFRYHU\�WLPHOLQH�ZLOO�EH��

7KH� &LW\� DQG� WKH� $LUSRUW� FRQWLQXH� WR� ZRUN� ZLWK� EXVLQHVV� VWDNHKROGHUV� LQFOXGLQJ� WKH� 6LOLFRQ� 9DOOH\�
/HDGHUVKLS�*URXS�DQG�WKH�6LOLFRQ�9DOOH\�2UJDQL]DWLRQ�WR�KHOS�DWWUDFW�QHZ�DLUOLQHV�DQG�URXWHV���,Q�DQ�HIIRUW�
WR�DWWUDFW�QHZ�VHUYLFH��WKH�$LUSRUW�DQG�DLUSRUWV�DFURVV�WKH�QDWLRQ�KDYH�GHYHORSHG�DQG�HQKDQFHG�DLU�VHUYLFH�
VXSSRUW�SURJUDPV���7KHVH�VXSSRUW�SURJUDPV�DUH�VR�FRPPRQ�WKDW�WKH�)HGHUDO�$YLDWLRQ�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ��)$$��
KDV�SXEOLVKHG�JXLGHOLQHV�WKDW�DLUSRUWV�VKRXOG�IROORZ�WR�FRPSO\�ZLWK�UXOHV�DQG�UHJXODWLRQV�IRU�XVH�RI�DLUSRUW�
UHYHQXH���7KH�$LUSRUW�FRQWLQXHV�WR�RIIHU�DQ�DLU�VHUYLFH�VXSSRUW�SURJUDP�WR�SURPRWH�WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�QHZ�
GRPHVWLF�DQG� LQWHUQDWLRQDO�SDVVHQJHU�DLU� VHUYLFH� WKDW�TXDOLILHV�XQGHU�VSHFLILF�JXLGHOLQHV��7KH� WHUPV�DQG�
FRQGLWLRQV�RI�WKH�DLUOLQH�DLU�VHUYLFH�VXSSRUW�SURJUDP�FDQ�EH�PRGLILHG�DW�DQ\�WLPH�E\�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO��)RU�
TXDOLI\LQJ�IOLJKWV��WKHUH�LV�D�ZDLYHU�RI�ODQGLQJ�IHHV�SURYLGHG�IRU�D�SHULRG�RI�EHWZHHQ�WZHOYH�DQG�HLJKWHHQ�
PRQWKV���7KH�PLQLPXP�IUHTXHQF\�RI�WKH�QHZ�IOLJKW�PXVW�EH�WKUHH�WLPHV�ZHHNO\�QRQVWRS�VHUYLFH�IRU�WZHOYH�
FRQVHFXWLYH�PRQWKV�RU�IRXU�FRQVHFXWLYH�PRQWKV�IRU�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�VHDVRQDO�VHUYLFH���*LYHQ�WKH�FRQVWUDLQWV�
RQ�DLUSRUW�IDFLOLWLHV��WKHUH�DUH�QR�IHH�ZDLYHUV�IRU�WLFNHW�FRXQWHUV�RU�ERDUGLQJ�JDWHV���7KH�SURJUDP�SURYLGHV�
IRU�GHGLFDWHG�PDUNHWLQJ�IXQGV�UDQJLQJ�IURP���������WR�����������GHSHQGLQJ�RQ�WKH�W\SH�RI�QHZ�VHUYLFH�
SURYLGHG���,Q�FDVHV�ZKHUH�DQ�DLUOLQH�LQWURGXFHV�PXOWLSOH�ORZ�IUHTXHQF\�URXWHV�ZLWKLQ�D����PRQWK�SHULRG��WKH�
'LUHFWRU�RI�$YLDWLRQ�DOVR�KDV�WKH�GLVFUHWLRQ�WR�UHFRJQL]H�WKH�FRQWULEXWLRQ�RI�WKHVH�DGGLWLRQDO�VHUYLFHV�DQG�
H[WHQG�WKH�SURJUDP�EHQHILWV��LQFOXGLQJ�ODQGLQJ�IHH�ZDLYHUV�DQG�WKH�DZDUG�RI�PDUNHWLQJ�IXQGV�QRW�WR�H[FHHG�
����������7KH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�UHVXOWHG�LQ�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�WUDYHO�UHVWULFWLRQV�DQG�TXDUDQWLQH�FRQGLWLRQV�
LQFOXGLQJ�VXVSHQVLRQ�RI�DOO�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�IOLJKWV�DW�WKH�$LUSRUW��2Q�$XJXVW����������WKH�$LUSRUW�UHFHLYHG�&LW\�
&RXQFLO� DSSURYDO� WR� SURYLGH� WHPSRUDU\� OLPLWHG�WHUP� ODQGLQJ� DQG� )HGHUDO� ,QVSHFWLRQ� 6HUYLFH� �),6�� IHH�
ZDLYHUV�UDQJLQJ�IURP�WKUHH�WR�VL[�PRQWKV�XSRQ�UHVXPSWLRQ�RI�WKH�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�URXWHV��7KH�IHH�ZDLYHU�SHULRG�
LV�HIIHFWLYH�$XJXVW���������WKURXJK�-XQH����������IRU�1RUWK�$PHULFDQ�IOLJKWV�DQG�WKURXJK�-XQH����������
IRU�LQWHUFRQWLQHQWDO��QRQ�1RUWK�$PHULFD��IOLJKWV���7KURXJK�-XQH�����������ERWK�$ODVND�$LUOLQHV�DQG�9RODULV�
UHVWDUWHG�VHUYLFH�WR�PXOWLSOH�GHVWLQDWLRQV�LQ�0H[LFR�DQG�XWLOL]HG�WKH�WHPSRUDU\�IHH�ZDLYHUV��KRZHYHU�$LU�
&DQDGD�GLG�QRW�UHVWRUH�VHUYLFH�WR�9DQFRXYHU�SULRU�WR�WKH�H[SLUDWLRQ�GDWH��$V�RI�-XO\�������QR�LQWHUFRQWLQHQWDO�
IOLJKWV�KDYH�UHVXPHG�DW�6-&���2Q�)HEUXDU\����������WKH�$LUSRUW�UHFHLYHG�&LW\�&RXQFLO�DSSURYDO�WR�UHGXFH�
WKH�PLQLPXP�ZHHNO\� IOLJKW� WKUHVKROG� WKDW� LV� D� FRQGLWLRQ� WR� UHFHLYH� IHH�ZDLYHUV� DQG�PDUNHWLQJ� VXSSRUW�
UHWURDFWLYH�IURP�-DQXDU\���������WKURXJK�WKH�WHUPLQDWLRQ�RU�H[SLUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�&LW\¶V�3URFODPDWLRQ�RI�WKH�
&29,'����/RFDO�(PHUJHQF\��7KLV�LV�D�WHPSRUDU\�UHGXFWLRQ�IURP�WKH�FXUUHQW�OHYHO�RI�WKUHH�ZHHNO\�IOLJKWV�
WR�RQH�ZHHNO\�IOLJKW�DQG�LV� LQWHQGHG�WR�DGGUHVV�WKH�LPSDFW�RI�&29,'����RQ�WKH�DLU�WUDYHO� LQGXVWU\��7KH�
ZHHNO\� IOLJKWV� UHTXLUHG� WR�PDLQWDLQ� HOLJLELOLW\� IRU� IHH�ZDLYHUV� DQG�PDUNHWLQJ� VXSSRUW� XQGHU� WKH� &LW\¶V�
$LUSRUW�6HUYLFH�VXSSRUW�SURJUDP�ZLOO�UHVXPH�XSRQ�H[SLUDWLRQ�RU�WHUPLQDWLRQ�RI�WKH�&LW\¶V�3URFODPDWLRQ�RI�
&29,'����/RFDO�(PHUJHQF\��

7KH� $LUSRUW� HQWHUHG� LQWR� DQ� $LUOLQH�$LUSRUW� /HDVH� DQG� 2SHUDWLQJ� $JUHHPHQW� �SULRU� $LUOLQH� /HDVH�
$JUHHPHQW��WKDW�WRRN�HIIHFW�RQ�'HFHPEHU���������DQG�H[SLUHG�RQ�-XQH�����������7KH�$LUSRUW�HQWHUHG�LQWR�
D� QHZ� $LUOLQH�$LUSRUW� /HDVH� DQG� 2SHUDWLQJ� $JUHHPHQW� �$LUOLQH� /HDVH� $JUHHPHQW�� ZLWK� WKH� YDULRXV�
SDVVHQJHU�DQG�FDUJR�DLUOLQHV�VHUYLQJ�WKH�$LUSRUW�HIIHFWLYH�-XO\���������ZLWK�D�WHUPLQDWLRQ�GDWH�RI�-XQH�����
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������$GGLWLRQDOO\��WKH�$LUOLQH�/HDVH�$JUHHPHQW�PD\�EH�H[WHQGHG�IRU�WZR�FRQVHFXWLYH�ILYH�\HDU�UHQHZDO�
SHULRGV��IURP�-XO\��������� WR�-XQH����������DQG�IURP�-XO\���������WR�-XQH����������E\�PXWXDO�ZULWWHQ�
DJUHHPHQW�RI�$LUOLQH�DQG�WKH�&LW\��)RU�DGGLWLRQDO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�DERXW�WKH�$LUOLQH�/HDVH�$JUHHPHQW��VHH�WKH�
$LUOLQH�5DWHV�DQG�&KDUJHV�VHFWLRQ�RI�WKH�0'	$�DV�ZHOO�DV�1RWH����$LUOLQH�/HDVH�DQG�2WKHU�$JUHHPHQWV��
WR�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV���

3RSXODWLRQ�DQG�,QFRPH�

7KH�&LW\�LV�WKH�FRXQW\�VHDW�RI�6DQWD�&ODUD�&RXQW\���,W�LV�WKH�WHQWK�ODUJHVW�FLW\�LQ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�DQG�WKH�
WKLUG�ODUJHVW�LQ�&DOLIRUQLD�EHKLQG�/RV�$QJHOHV�DQG�6DQ�'LHJR���$FFRUGLQJ�WR�WKH�&DOLIRUQLD�'HSDUWPHQW�RI�
)LQDQFH�HVWLPDWHV��6DQ�-RVp�KDV�DQ�HVWLPDWHG�SRSXODWLRQ�RI�����������DV�RI�-DQXDU\����������UHIOHFWLQJ�D�
GHFOLQH�RI������RYHU�WKH�SULRU�\HDU���6DQ�-RVp�LV�ORFDWHG�LQ�WKH�6DQWD�&ODUD�9DOOH\��DW�WKH�VRXWKHUQ�HQG�RI�
WKH�6DQ�)UDQFLVFR�%D\�$UHD��D�UHJLRQ�UHIHUUHG�WR�DV�6LOLFRQ�9DOOH\���6DQWD�&ODUD�&RXQW\�LV�WKH�VL[WK�ODUJHVW�
FRXQW\�LQ�&DOLIRUQLD�DQG�WKH�ODUJHVW�LQ�1RUWKHUQ�&DOLIRUQLD���7KH�SRSXODWLRQ�RI�6DQWD�&ODUD�&RXQW\�GHFUHDVHG�
����� IURP������ WR� ������ZLWK� WKH� SRSXODWLRQ� GHFUHDVLQJ� WR� ����������DV�RI� -DQXDU\���� ������ �7KH� VL[�
FRXQWLHV�FRPSULVLQJ�WKH�SULPDU\�VHUYLFH�DUHD�IRU�WKH�$LUSRUW�GHFOLQHG������IURP�������LQ�OLQH�ZLWK�WKH�VWDWH�
GHFOLQH�RI���������,Q�WRWDO��WKH�SRSXODWLRQ�RI�WKH�SULPDU\�VHUYLFH�DUHD�GHFUHDVHG�E\��������IURP�WKH�SULRU�
\HDU�DQG�DFFRXQWV�IRU�����RI�WKH�VWDWH¶V�SRSXODWLRQ���

7KH�SHU�FDSLWD�LQFRPH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�GHVFULEHG�EHORZ�LV�WKH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�DYDLODEOH�IURP�WKH�8�6��%XUHDX�RI�
(FRQRPLF�$QDO\VLV���7RWDO�SHUVRQDO�LQFRPH�DQG�SHU�FDSLWD�SHUVRQDO�LQFRPH��3&3,��DUH�KLJKO\�UHOLHG�XSRQ�
PHDVXUHV�RI�HFRQRPLF�VWDQGLQJ���7KHVH�LQGLFDWRUV�DUH�D�FRPSRVLWH�PHDVXUHPHQW�RI�PDUNHW�SRWHQWLDO�DQG�
LQGLFDWH�WKH�JHQHUDO�DELOLW\�WR�SXUFKDVH�DYDLODEOH�SURGXFWV�RU�VHUYLFHV���$V�SHUVRQDO�LQFRPH�LQFUHDVHV��DLU�
WUDYHO�EHFRPHV�PRUH�DIIRUGDEOH�DQG�FDQ�EH�XVHG�PRUH�IUHTXHQWO\���

$FFRUGLQJ�WR�8�6��%XUHDX�RI�(FRQRPLF�$QDO\VLV¶�HVWLPDWHV�XSGDWHG�DV�RI�1RYHPEHU�����������IRU������
6DQWD�&ODUD�&RXQW\�KDG�D�3&3,�RI����������DQG�ZDV������RI�WKH�VWDWH�DYHUDJH�RI���������������RI�WKH�
QDWLRQDO�DYHUDJH�RI����������DQG�UDQNHG��WK� LQ�WKH�6WDWH�RI�&DOLIRUQLD���:LWKLQ�WKH�$LU�6HUYLFH�$UHD��WKH�
UHPDLQLQJ�FRXQWLHV�SHUVRQDO�LQFRPH�DQG�3&3,�ZHUH�DV�IROORZV��

&RXQW\ ���&KDQJH �'ROODUV� �����&KDQJH

1DPH ���� ���� ��������� ���� ���� ��������� �����5DQN

6DQWD�&ODUD ������������ ������������ ���� �������� �������� ���� �

$ODPHGD ����������� ����������� ���� ������ ������ ���� �

6DQ�0DWHR ���������� ����������� ���� ������� ������� ���� �

0RQWHUH\ ���������� ���������� ���� ������ ������ ���� ��

6DQWD�&UX] ���������� ���������� ���� ������ ������ ���� ��

6DQ�%HQLWR ��������� ��������� ���� ������ ������ ���� ��

&DOLIRUQLD �������������� �������������� ���� ������� ������� ����

8QLWHG�6WDWHV ��������������� ��������������� ���� ������� ������� ����

3HUVRQDO�,QFRPH�DQG�3HU�&DSLWD�3HUVRQDO�,QFRPH�ZLWKLQ�WKH�$LU�6HUYLFH�$UHD

�LQ�7KRXVDQG�'ROODUV�

3HU�&DSLWD�3HUVRQDO�,QFRPH�3HUVRQDO�,QFRPH

3HU�FDSLWD�LQFRPH�LQFUHDVHG�E\������IURP������LQ�6DQWD�&ODUD�&RXQW\�FRPSDUHG�WR�DQ�LQFUHDVH�RI������
DQG������IRU�&DOLIRUQLD�DQG�WKH�QDWLRQ��UHVSHFWLYHO\���

��&DOLIRUQLD�'HSDUWPHQW�RI�)LQDQFH�
��8�6��'HSDUWPHQW�RI�&RPPHUFH��%XUHDX�RI�(FRQRPLF�$QDO\VLV�
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(PSOR\PHQW�

(PSOR\PHQW�OHYHOV�LQ�6DQWD�&ODUD�&RXQW\�KDYH�GHFUHDVHG�E\��������IURP�����������LQ������WR���������LQ�
�������$V�RI�-XQH�������HPSOR\PHQW�OHYHOV�DUH�UHSRUWHG�MXVW�XQGHU�RQH�PLOOLRQ��7KH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�
KDV�FDXVHG�DQ�LQFUHDVH�LQ�FRXQW\��VWDWH��DQG�QDWLRQDO�XQHPSOR\PHQW�UDWHV��:LWK��������XQHPSOR\HG��6DQWD�
&ODUD�&RXQW\¶V�XQHPSOR\PHQW�UDWH�RI������DV�RI�-XQH������KDV�GHFUHDVHG�DERXW�����SRLQWV��FRPSDUHG�WR�
-XQH� ������ DQG� LV� ORZHU� WKDQ� WKH� ����� DQG� ����� XQHPSOR\PHQW� UDWHV� IRU� &DOLIRUQLD�� DQG� WKH� 8�6���
UHVSHFWLYHO\���

1RUPDQ�<��0LQHWD�6DQ�-RVp�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�$LUSRUW��3DVVHQJHU�DQG�$LU�7UDIILF�

7KH�$LUSRUW�LV�FODVVLILHG�DV�D�PHGLXP�KXE�DLUSRUW�E\�WKH�)$$�DQG�UDQNHG�DV�WKH���WK�EXVLHVW�DLUSRUW�LQ�WKH�
QDWLRQ�LQ�WHUPV�RI�WRWDO�SDVVHQJHUV�DFFRUGLQJ�WR�$LUSRUWV�&RXQFLO�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�1RUWK�$PHULFD�VWDWLVWLFV��DV�
RI� FDOHQGDU�\HDU������� �$V� RI� -XQH����� ������QLQH�FDUULHUV� SURYLGHG�VFKHGXOHG�SDVVHQJHU� VHUYLFH� WR����
GHVWLQDWLRQV�� LQFOXGLQJ� HLJKW�PDLQOLQH� FDUULHUV� DQG� RQH� LQWHUQDWLRQDO� FDUULHU�� � ,Q� DGGLWLRQ�� WZR� DOO�FDUJR�
FDUULHUV�SURYLGHG�VFKHGXOHG�FDUJR�VHUYLFH�DW�WKH�$LUSRUW���

)RU�)<�����WKH�$LUSRUW�HQSODQHG�DQG�GHSODQHG�����PLOOLRQ�SDVVHQJHUV��ZKLFK�UHSUHVHQWV�D�GHFUHDVH�RI�������
IURP�WKH�SUHYLRXV�ILVFDO�\HDU��

7KH�JUDSK�EHORZ�GLVSOD\V�WRWDO�ILVFDO�\HDU�SDVVHQJHU�FRPSDULVRQ�IRU�WKH�ODVW�WHQ�ILVFDO�\HDUV��

����

����

����

����

����

�����

�����

�����

3DVVHQJHU�&RPSDULVRQ
�LQ�0LOOLRQV�

)RU�)<�����WKH�$LUSRUW�H[SHULHQFHG�DQ�RYHUDOO�GHFUHDVH�RI�������LQ�WUDIILF�RSHUDWLRQV�GXH�WR�ORVVHV�LQ�WKH�
IROORZLQJ� FDWHJRULHV�� SDVVHQJHU� FDUULHU� �D� GHFUHDVH� RI� ������� RU� ��������PLOLWDU\� �D� GHFUHDVH� RI� ��� RU�
��������FDUJR�FDUULHU��D�GHFUHDVH�RI�����RU���������DQG�JHQHUDO�DYLDWLRQ�LWLQHUDQW��D�GHFUHDVH�RI�������RU�

��(PSOR\PHQW�'HYHORSPHQW�'HSDUWPHQW�±�6WDWH�RI�&DOLIRUQLD�
��8�6��'HSDUWPHQW�RI�/DERU��%XUHDX�RI�/DERU�6WDWLVWLFV��
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��������7KH�RYHUDOO�GHFUHDVH�ZDV�SDUWLDOO\�RIIVHW�E\�DQ�LQFUHDVH�LQ�ORFDO�JHQHUDO�DYLDWLRQ�RSHUDWLRQV�RI�������
RU���������

$LUSRUW�0DVWHU�3ODQ�

,Q� ������ DIWHU� H[WHQVLYH� SODQQLQJ� DQG� HQYLURQPHQWDO� VWXGLHV�� WKH� 6DQ� -RVp� &LW\� &RXQFLO� DSSURYHG� D�
FRPSUHKHQVLYH�XSGDWH�WR�WKH�SUHYLRXV������0DVWHU�3ODQ��,Q�WXUQ��WKH�)$$�LQ������FRQGLWLRQDOO\�DSSURYHG�
D� QHZ� $LUSRUW� /D\RXW� 3ODQ� �$/3�� GLVSOD\LQJ� WKH� SURSRVHG� 0DVWHU� 3ODQ� SURMHFWV� DQG� XQFRQGLWLRQDOO\�
DSSURYHG� DOO� WKH� QHDU�WHUP� SURMHFWV�� %RWK� WKH� 0DVWHU� 3ODQ� DQG� WKH� $/3�� ZKLFK� LGHQWLI\� IDFLOLW\�
LPSURYHPHQWV�QHHGHG�WR�DFFRPPRGDWH�IRUHFDVW�GHPDQG�IRU�FRPPHUFLDO�SDVVHQJHU�VHUYLFH��DLU�FDUJR��DQG�
JHQHUDO�DYLDWLRQ��KDYH�EHHQ�NHSW�XS�WR�GDWH�WKURXJK�SHULRGLF�DPHQGPHQWV��,PSOHPHQWDWLRQ�RI�WKH�0DVWHU�
3ODQ�KDV�EHHQ�RQJRLQJ��DQG�VLQFH������KDV�LQFOXGHG�PDMRU�UXQZD\�H[WHQVLRQV��QHZ�WD[LZD\V��QHZ�WHUPLQDO�
EXLOGLQJV��SDUNLQJ�JDUDJHV��URDGZD\V��DQG�HQYLURQPHQWDO�PLWLJDWLRQ�SURJUDPV��

7KH�PRVW�UHFHQW�DPHQGPHQW�WR�WKH�0DVWHU�3ODQ�ZDV�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO� LQ�$SULO������� �7KLV�
DPHQGPHQW� H[WHQGHG� WKH� SODQQLQJ� KRUL]RQ� \HDU� RXW� WR� ������ LQFRUSRUDWHG� WKH� DLUILHOG� UHFRQILJXUDWLRQ�
LPSURYHPHQWV�UHFRPPHQGHG�LQ�DQ�)$$�IXQGHG�5XQZD\�,QFXUVLRQ�0LWLJDWLRQ�'HVLJQ�6WDQGDUGV�$QDO\VLV�
6WXG\��PRGLILHG�WKH�SDVVHQJHU��FDUJR��DQG�JHQHUDO�DYLDWLRQ�IDFLOLW\�LPSURYHPHQW�SURJUDP�WR�VHUYH�SURMHFWHG�
�����GHPDQG��DQG�DGGHG�D�SURSRVHG�EXVLQHVV�KRWHO�WR�WKH�SDVVHQJHU�WHUPLQDO�FRPSOH[��7KH�0DVWHU�3ODQ�LV�
FXUUHQWO\� LQWHQGHG� WR� VHUYH� D� SURMHFWHG� �����GHPDQG� RI� �����PLOOLRQ� DQQXDO� SDVVHQJHUV� DQG� D� WRWDO� RI�
��������DQQXDO�DLUFUDIW�RSHUDWLRQV��DQG�LQFOXGHV�XS�WR����DLUOLQH�WHUPLQDO�JDWHV�LQ������PLOOLRQ�VTXDUH�IHHW�
RI�SDVVHQJHU�WHUPLQDO�IDFLOLWLHV��7KH�)$$�FRQGLWLRQDOO\�DSSURYHG�D�QHZ�$/3�LQ�-XQH������GLVSOD\LQJ�WKH�
DPHQGHG�0DVWHU�3ODQ�GHYHORSPHQW�SURJUDP��

3KDVH�,�RI�WKH�0DVWHU�3ODQ¶V�7HUPLQDO�$UHD�,PSURYHPHQW�3URJUDP��7$,3��ZDV�VXEVWDQWLDOO\�FRPSOHWHG�LQ�
������7KH�3KDVH�,�LPSURYHPHQWV�LQFOXGHG�QLQH�QHZ�DLUOLQH�JDWHV�DQG�DSSUR[LPDWHO\���������VTXDUH�IHHW�RI�
WHUPLQDO� VSDFH� LQ� D� QHZ� 7HUPLQDO� %�� LPSURYHPHQWV� WR� H[LVWLQJ� 7HUPLQDO� $�� LQFOXGLQJ� QHZ� WLFNHWLQJ�
IDFLOLWLHV��LQ�OLQH�EDJJDJH�V\VWHP��VHFXULW\�FKHFNSRLQW��DQG�FRQFHVVLRQ�VSDFH��WKH�GHPROLWLRQ�RI�WKH�RULJLQDO�
7HUPLQDO�&��GHVLJQ�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�D�&RQVROLGDWHG�5HQWDO�&DU�)DFLOLW\��&RQ5$&���DQG�UHDOLJQPHQW�DQG�
LPSURYHPHQW� RI� H[LVWLQJ� WHUPLQDO� URDGZD\V� DQG� SDUNLQJ� IDFLOLWLHV�� 7KH� 3KDVH� ,� SURJUDP� DOVR� LQFOXGHG�
SUHOLPLQDU\�GHVLJQ�RI�FHUWDLQ�7$,3�3KDVH�,,�SURMHFWV��2Q�WKH�DLUILHOG�� WKH�EXLOG�RXW�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�WZR�
FRPPHUFLDO�UXQZD\V����5���/�DQG���/���5��WR��������[�����IHHW�ZDV�FRPSOHWHG�LQ�������DOORZLQJ�WKH�
$LUSRUW�WR�UHJXODUO\�VHUYH�WDNHRIIV�DQG�ODQGLQJV�E\�DOO�GRPHVWLF�DQG�PRVW�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�FRPPHUFLDO�DLUOLQH�
DLUFUDIW�� $LUILHOG� SURMHFW� FRQVWUXFWLRQ� VLQFH� ����� KDV� FRQVLVWHG� RI� LPSURYHPHQWV� WR� WD[LZD\V�� DLUFUDIW�
SDUNLQJ� DSURQV�� DQG�QDYLJDWLRQDO� DLGV� WR� LQFUHDVH� HIILFLHQF\� DQG� FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK� FXUUHQW� )$$�DLUILHOG�
GHVLJQ�VWDQGDUGV���

7$,3�3KDVH�,,�SURMHFWV��DOVR�UHIHUUHG�WR�DV�WKH�³1HZ�7HUPLQDO�3URMHFW´��ZLOO�FRQVLVW�SULPDULO\�RI�WKH�GHVLJQ�
DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�D�7HUPLQDO�&�H[WHQGLQJ�IURP�WKH�VRXWK�HQG�RI�H[LVWLQJ�7HUPLQDO�%��LQFOXGLQJ�D�WRWDO�RI�
���DGGLWLRQDO�DLUOLQH�JDWHV�SOXV�D�QHZ�SDUNLQJ�JDUDJH��(LJKW�RI�WKRVH����IXWXUH�JDWHV�ZLOO�UHSODFH�H[LVWLQJ�
LQWHULP�JDWHV�EROWHG�RQ�WR� WKH�VRXWK�HQG�RI�7HUPLQDO�%� LQ������DQG������WR�DFFRPPRGDWH� LQFUHDVHV� LQ�
DLUOLQH�IOLJKWV�DQG�SDVVHQJHU�YROXPH��3XUVXDQW�WR�WKH�WHUPV�RI�WKH�FXUUHQW�VLJQDWRU\�$LUOLQH�$LUSRUW�/HDVH�
DQG�2SHUDWLQJ�$JUHHPHQW�DQG�VXEMHFW�RQO\�WR�SULRU�FRQVXOWDWLRQ�ZLWK�WKH�VLJQDWRU\�DLUOLQHV��WKH�&LW\�UHWDLQV�
VROH�GLVFUHWLRQ�WR�SURFHHG�WR�FRQVWUXFW�WKH�1HZ�7HUPLQDO�3URMHFW�XSRQ�LWV�GHWHUPLQDWLRQ�WKDW�DQ�LQFUHDVH�LQ�
WHUPLQDO�FDSDFLW\�WR�EH�DFKLHYHG�E\�WKH�1HZ�7HUPLQDO�3URMHFW�LV�QHHGHG��$IWHU�FRPSOHWLQJ�LWV�FRQVXOWDWLRQ�
ZLWK�WKH�VLJQDWRU\�DLUOLQHV��DQG�KDYLQJ�JLYHQ�GXH�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ�WR�WKH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�SURYLGHG�E\�WKH�VLJQDWRU\�
DLUOLQHV��WKH�&LW\�PD\�SURFHHG�ZLWK�WKH�1HZ�7HUPLQDO�3URMHFW�LI�WKH�&LW\�GHWHUPLQHV��LQ�LWV�VROH�GLVFUHWLRQ��
WKDW�WKH�1HZ�7HUPLQDO�3URMHFW�FRQWLQXHV�WR�EH�QHHGHG�DQG�FDQ�EH�ILQDQFHG�RQ�UHDVRQDEOH�WHUPV���

7KH�RQO\�0DVWHU�3ODQ�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�SURMHFW�XQGHUZD\�DW�WKH�WLPH�RI�WKLV�UHSRUW�LV�D�QHZ�ODUJHU�$LUFUDIW�5HVFXH�
DQG�)LUH�)LJKWLQJ��$5))��)DFLOLW\��SDUWLDOO\�IXQGHG�E\�WKH�)$$��RQ�DQ�H[LVWLQJ�YDFDQW�VLWH�RQ�WKH�VRXWKZHVW�

X



VLGH�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW��WR�UHSODFH�WKH�VPDOOHU������V�HUD�$5))�)DFLOLW\�ORFDWHG�RQ�WKH�VRXWKHDVW�VLGH�RI�WKH�
$LUSRUW���,Q�1RYHPEHU�RI�������WKH�&LW\�UHFHLYHG�D�YRWHU�DXWKRUL]DWLRQ�RI�XS�WR������PLOOLRQ�RI�JHQHUDO�
REOLJDWLRQ�ERQGV�IRU�YDULRXV�SXEOLF�LPSURYHPHQWV��³0HDVXUH�7´���LQWHQGHG�WR�DGGUHVV�VRPH�RI�WKH�&LW\¶V�
PRVW�FULWLFDO�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�QHHGV���$�ODQGVLGH�ILUH�VWDWLRQ�FRPSRQHQW�ZDV�DGGHG�WR�WKH�SURMHFW�WR�PHHW�WKH�
QHHGV�RI�WKH�ORFDO�FRPPXQLW\��7KLV�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�SURMHFW�LV�IXQGHG�E\�0HDVXUH�7����

0$-25�,1,7,$7,9(6�

7KH�$LUSRUW¶V�PLVVLRQ�LV�WR�FRQQHFW��VHUYH��DQG�LQVSLUH���7KH�YLVLRQ�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW�LV�WR�WUDQVIRUP�KRZ�6LOLFRQ�
9DOOH\�WUDYHOV���7KLV�YLVLRQ�ZLOO�EH�XVHG�E\�WKH�$LUSRUW�DV�D�JXLGH�IRU�PDNLQJ�GHFLVLRQV�WR�VXSSRUW�WKH�IXWXUH�
QHHGV�RI�WKH�WUDYHOLQJ�SXEOLF��

+LJKOLJKWV�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�DFWLYLWLHV�DQG�DFFRPSOLVKPHQWV�IRU�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGHG�-XQH�����������LQFOXGH�
WKH�IROORZLQJ��

x $LU�6HUYLFH�'HYHORSPHQW

3DVVHQJHU�OHYHOV�JUHZ��������LQ�-XQH������FRPSDUHG�WR�-XQH�������ZLWK�WKH�UHWXUQ�RI�QXPHURXV
QRQVWRS�GRPHVWLF�DQG�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�GHVWLQDWLRQV��EULQJLQJ�WKH�SDVVHQJHU�FRXQW�IRU�)<����WR�RYHU
IRXU�PLOOLRQ��+RZHYHU��RYHUDOO�SDVVHQJHU�OHYHOV�GHFUHDVHG�������LQ�)<����DQG�������LQ�)<���
GXH�WR�WKH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�

,QWHUQDWLRQDO�

&RPSDULQJ�-XQH������WR�-XQH�������LQWHUQDWLRQDO�HQSODQHPHQWV�LQFUHDVHG�E\�����������+RZHYHU�
LQWHUQDWLRQDO�HQSODQHG�SDVVHQJHUV�GHFUHDVHG�������LQ�)<����DQG�������LQ�)<�����7KH�$LUSRUW�KDV
RQH�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�FDUULHU�DV�RI�-XQH����������

'RPHVWLF�

&RPSDULQJ�-XQH������WR�-XQH�������GRPHVWLF�HQSODQHG�SDVVHQJHUV�LQFUHDVHG�E\���������+RZHYHU�
GRPHVWLF�HQSODQHG�SDVVHQJHUV�GHFUHDVHG�E\�������LQ�)<����DQG�������LQ�)<����

x �����%RQGV�5HIXQGLQJ

2Q�$SULO����������WKH�$LUSRUW�LVVXHG�$LUSRUW�5HYHQXH�5HIXQGLQJ�%RQGV�6HULHV�����$������%��DQG
����&� �WKH������$5%V�� LQ� WKH� DPRXQW�RI� �������PLOOLRQ��7KH������$5%V� UHIXQGHG� DOO� RI� WKH
$LUSRUW�5HYHQXH�%RQGV�6HULHV�����$��������$��������%��DQG�D�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW�5HYHQXH
5HIXQGLQJ�%RQGV��$5%V��6HULHV�����$������$��DQG�����%��LQ�WKH�DJJUHJDWH�SULQFLSDO�DPRXQW�RI
������� PLOOLRQ�� 7KLV� WUDQVDFWLRQ� JHQHUDWHG� QHW� SUHVHQW� YDOXH� VDYLQJV� RI� DSSUR[LPDWHO\� ������
PLOOLRQ�RU�������DV�D�SHUFHQW�RI�WKH�UHIXQGHG�SULQFLSDO�

x &$5(6�$FW�)XQGLQJ

,Q�0D\�������WKH�$LUSRUW�ZDV�DZDUGHG�������PLOOLRQ�LQ�IHGHUDO�&$5(6�$FW�IXQGV��7KH�IXQGV�DUH
DYDLODEOH�WR�WKH�&LW\�RQ�D�UHLPEXUVDEOH�EDVLV�DQG�ZLOO�EH�XVHG�WR�SD\�IRU�RSHUDWLQJ�H[SHQVHV�WKDW
PD\� QR� ORQJHU� EH� FRYHUHG� E\� UHYHQXHV�� ,Q� DGGLWLRQ�� WKH�&$5(6�$FW� SURYLGHG������PLOOLRQ� LQ
PDWFKLQJ�IXQGV�WR�LQFUHDVH�WKH�IHGHUDO�VKDUH�RI�IHGHUDO�)<����$LUSRUW�,PSURYHPHQW�3URJUDP��$,3�
JUDQWV�WR�������HOLPLQDWLQJ�WKH�UHTXLUHPHQW�IRU�WKH�$LUSRUW�WR�SURYLGH�D�SHUFHQWDJH�RI�IXQGV��7KH

XI



$LUSRUW�UHFHLYHG�UHLPEXUVHPHQWV�WRWDOLQJ�������PLOOLRQ�LQ�)<�����7KH�IHGHUDO�JUDQW�LV�DGPLQLVWHUHG�
E\�WKH�)$$��

x )XQGLQJ�IRU�WKH�$5))�)DFLOLW\

,Q�'HFHPEHU�������WKH�$LUSRUW�ZDV�DZDUGHG�������PLOOLRQ�LQ�IHGHUDO�IXQGLQJ�IRU�WKH�UHSODFHPHQW
DQG�UHORFDWLRQ�RI�WKH�$5))�)DFLOLW\��5HORFDWLRQ�LPSURYHV�DLUILHOG�VDIHW\�ZLWK�GLUHFW�DFFHVV�WR�WKH
SULPDU\� ODQGLQJ�UXQZD\�DQG�SURYLGHV� VSDFH�IRU�$5))�SHUVRQQHO�DQG�YHKLFOHV�EDVHG�RQ�FXUUHQW
,QGH[�'� UHTXLUHPHQWV�� ZKLFK� UHTXLUH� D�PLQLPXP� RI� WKUHH� $5))� YHKLFOHV�� 7KH� )$$� ,QGH[�'
UHTXLUHPHQWV�DUH�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�OHQJWK�DQG�DYHUDJH�GDLO\�GHSDUWXUHV�RI�DLUFUDIW�VHUYLQJ�WKH�$LUSRUW�
$Q�DGGLWLRQDO������PLOOLRQ�ZDV�DZDUGHG�LQ�6HSWHPEHU������DQG������PLOOLRQ�LQ�-XQH�������7KH
WRWDO�HVWLPDWHG�FRVW�RI�WKH�IDFLOLW\�LV�������PLOOLRQ��7KH�IHGHUDO�JUDQWV�DUH�DGPLQLVWHUHG�E\�WKH�)$$�
,Q�DGGLWLRQ�WR�WKH�$5))�)DFLOLW\��D�ODQGVLGH�ILUH�VWDWLRQ�FRPSRQHQW�ZDV�DGGHG�WR�WKH�SURMHFW�WR�PHHW
WKH�QHHGV�RI� WKH�ORFDO�FRPPXQLW\��7KH�WRWDO�HVWLPDWHG�FRVW�RI� WKLV�SRUWLRQ�RI� WKH�SURMHFW�LV�����
PLOOLRQ�DQG�LV�IXQGHG�E\�0HDVXUH�7�

x )XQGLQJ�IRU�WKH�3DYHPHQW�0DQDJHPHQW�6WXG\

,Q� $XJXVW� ������ WKH�$LUSRUW� ZDV� DZDUGHG� ��������� LQ� IHGHUDO� IXQGLQJ�� ZKLFK� FRYHUV� WKH� IXOO
HVWLPDWHG�FRVW� WR�FRQGXFW�D�3DYHPHQW�0DQDJHPHQW�6WXG\��ZKLFK�WKH�$LUSRUW�XVHV�IRU�SODQQLQJ�
PDLQWHQDQFH��FRQGLWLRQ�DVVHVVPHQW��DQG�FDSLWDO�EXGJHWLQJ�IRU�WKH�DLUILHOG�SDYHPHQWV��7KH�IHGHUDO
JUDQW�LV�DGPLQLVWHUHG�E\�WKH�)$$�

x &556$�$FW�)XQGLQJ

,Q�0DUFK� ������ WKH� $LUSRUW� ZDV� DZDUGHG� ������ PLOOLRQ� LQ� &556$�$FW� IXQGV�� 7KH� IXQGV� DUH
DYDLODEOH� WR� WKH�&LW\� RQ� D� UHLPEXUVDEOH� EDVLV� IRU� XS� WR� IRXU� \HDUV� DQG�ZLOO� EH�XVHG� WR� SD\� IRU
RSHUDWLQJ�H[SHQVHV��$Q�DGGLWLRQDO������PLOOLRQ�LQ�&556$�$FW�IXQGV�ZHUH�DZDUGHG�WR�SURYLGH�UHOLHI
IURP�UHQW�DQG�PLQLPXP�DQQXDO�JXDUDQWHHV��0$*��WR�RQ�DLUSRUW�FDU�UHQWDO��RQ�DLUSRUW�SDUNLQJ��DQG
LQ�WHUPLQDO�DLUSRUW�FRQFHVVLRQV��7KH�IHGHUDO�JUDQWV�DUH�DGPLQLVWHUHG�E\�WKH�)$$�

x )XQGLQJ�IRU�$LUILHOG�(OHFWULFDO�5HKDELOLWDWLRQ

,Q�-XQH�������WKH�$LUSRUW�ZDV�DZDUGHG������PLOOLRQ�LQ�IHGHUDO�IXQGLQJ�WR�FRPSOHWH�WKH�UHKDELOLWDWLRQ
RI� WKH�DLUILHOG�HOHFWULFDO� V\VWHP��7KH� UHSODFHPHQW�RI� WKH�7D[LZD\�/LJKWLQJ�6\VWHP�DQG�$LUILHOG
6LJQDJH� 6\VWHP� ZLOO� LPSURYH� WKH� FLUFXLW� UHOLDELOLW\� DQG� VXSSRUW� WKH� RQJRLQJ� RSHUDWLRQ� RI� WKH
$LUSRUW��7KH�$LUSRUW�KDG�SUHYLRXVO\�EHHQ�DZDUGHG������PLOOLRQ�IRU�WKH�ILUVW�SKDVH�RI�WKH�SURMHFW�LQ
$XJXVW�������7KH�IHGHUDO�JUDQWV�DUH�DGPLQLVWHUHG�E\�WKH�)$$�

x $53�$FW�)XQGLQJ

,Q�-XQH�������WKH�)$$�DQQRXQFHG�WKDW�WKH�$LUSRUW�ZLOO�EH�DZDUGHG�������PLOOLRQ�LQ�$53�$FW�IXQGV�
DYDLODEOH� WR� WKH�&LW\� RQ� D� UHLPEXUVDEOH� EDVLV� IRU� XS� WR� IRXU� \HDUV� DQG�ZLOO� EH�XVHG� WR� SD\� IRU
RSHUDWLQJ�H[SHQVHV���$Q�DGGLWLRQDO������PLOOLRQ�LQ�$53�$FW�IXQGV�ZLOO�EH�DZDUGHG�WR�SURYLGH�UHOLHI
IURP�UHQW�DQG�0$*�WR�LQ�WHUPLQDO�DLUSRUW�FRQFHVVLRQV�� ,Q�DGGLWLRQ��WKH�$53�$FW�SURYLGHG�����
PLOOLRQ�LQ�PDWFKLQJ�IXQGV� WR� LQFUHDVH�WKH� IHGHUDO�VKDUH�RI� IHGHUDO�)<����$,3�JUDQWV� WR������
HOLPLQDWLQJ�WKH�UHTXLUHPHQW�IRU�WKH�$LUSRUW�WR�SURYLGH�D�SHUFHQWDJH�RI�IXQGV�

XII



x *OREDO�6WDU�5DWLQJ

,Q�6HSWHPEHU�������WKH�$LUSRUW�LQVWDOOHG�QHZ�DQG�LQQRYDWLYH�XOWUDYLROHW�GHYLFHV�RQ�HYHU\�HVFDODWRU
ZLWKLQ� WKH�$LUSRUW��7KH� GHYLFHV� FRQWLQXRXVO\� GLVLQIHFW� WKH� KDQGUDLOV� E\� NLOOLQJ� XS� WR� ������ RI
EDFWHULD�DQG�YLUXVHV��DQG�UHVWRULQJ�D�IUHVKO\�VDQLWL]HG�VXUIDFH�IRU�HDFK�SHUVRQ�WR�JUDVS��,QVWDOODWLRQ
RI�WKH�GHYLFHV�FRQWULEXWHG�WR�WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�UHFRJQLWLRQ�IURP�WKH�*OREDO�%LRULVN�$GYLVRU\�&RXQFLO
�*%$&��DQG�WKH�*%$&�67$5�)DFLOLW\�$FFUHGLWDWLRQ�3URJUDP��,Q�-DQXDU\�������WKH�$LUSRUW�ZDV
WKH� ILUVW� &DOLIRUQLD� DLUSRUW� WR� HDUQ� JOREDO� DFFUHGLWDWLRQ� VWDWXV� IRU� KDYLQJ� WKH� KLJKHVW� OHYHOV� RI
FOHDQOLQHVV�DQG�VDIHW\�LQ�WKH�PLGVW�RI�WKH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�

x &29,'����7HVWLQJ�DW�WKH�$LUSRUW

,Q�'HFHPEHU�������WKH�$LUSRUW�VWDUWHG�RIIHULQJ�SUH�IOLJKW��RQVLWH��GULYH�WKUX�&29,'����WHVWLQJ�IRU
SDVVHQJHUV�IO\LQJ�RQ�$ODVND�$LUOLQHV�DQG�+DZDLLDQ�$LUOLQHV��&DUERQ�+HDOWK�DQG�:RUN6LWH�/DEV
ERWK�RIIHU�WHVWLQJ��&DUERQ�+HDOWK�DGPLQLVWHUV�IDVW�WXUQDURXQG�WHVWLQJ�H[FOXVLYHO\�WR�$ODVND�$LUOLQHV
SDVVHQJHUV��:RUN6LWH�/DEV�RIIHUV�WHVWLQJ�H[FOXVLYHO\�WR�+DZDLLDQ�$LUOLQHV�SDVVHQJHUV��,Q�)HEUXDU\
������WKH�$LUSRUW�DGGHG�&LW\�+HDOWK�WHVWLQJ�IRU�6RXWKZHVW�$LUOLQHV�SDVVHQJHUV�

287/22.�)25�7+(�)8785(�

6DQ� -RVp¶V� HFRQRPLF� GHYHORSPHQW� VWUDWHJ\� LGHQWLILHV� WKH� $LUSRUW¶V� UROH� LQ� SURYLGLQJ� DQ� LPSRUWDQW�
LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�UHVRXUFH�WR�VXSSRUW�WKH�HFRQRP\���%XVLQHVVHV�QHHG�$LUSRUW�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�DQG�VHUYLFHV�LQ�RUGHU�
WR�VXFFHVVIXOO\�PDUNHW�JRRGV�DQG�VHUYLFHV���*OREDO�HFRQRPLF�GHPDQGV�PHDQ�WKDW�LW�LV�FULWLFDO�WKDW�$LUSRUW�
LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�EH�GHYHORSHG�DQG�VHUYLFHV�FRQWLQXH�WR�PHHW�HPHUJLQJ�QHHGV���

7KH� $LUSRUW� VHHNV� SROLF\� GLUHFWLRQ� IURP� WKH� &RXQFLO� &RPPLWWHH� IRU� &RPPXQLW\� DQG� (FRQRPLF�
'HYHORSPHQW�WR�GULYH�HFRQRPLF�LPSURYHPHQWV�WKDW�EHQHILW�WKH�FRPPXQLW\���,Q�DGGLWLRQ��WKH�$LUSRUW�ZRUNV�
LQ�SDUWQHUVKLS�ZLWK�YDULRXV�&LW\�GHSDUWPHQWV��VXFK� DV� WKH�'HSDUWPHQW�RI�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ��3ROLFH��3XEOLF�
:RUNV�� DQG�VHHNV�SROLF\�GLUHFWLRQ� IURP� WKH�&RXQFLO�&RPPLWWHH� IRU�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ�DQG�(QYLURQPHQW� WR�
LPSURYH� WKH� WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ� V\VWHPV� WR� EHQHILW� WKH� UHVLGHQWV� RI� 6DQ� -RVp�� � 7KHVH� SDUWQHUVKLSV� DOORZ� WKH�
$LUSRUW�WR�IRFXV�FRRUGLQDWLRQ�HIIRUWV�RQ�FULWLFDO�EXVLQHVV�GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�WR�WUDQVIRUP�KRZ�6LOLFRQ�9DOOH\�
WUDYHOV��

7KH�$LUSRUW�H[SHULHQFHG�VWURQJ�SDVVHQJHU�JURZWK�VLQFH�)<����ZLWK�LQFUHDVHV�RI�PRUH�WKDQ�RQH�PLOOLRQ�WRWDO�
SDVVHQJHUV� LQ�)<���� ����������)<��������������DQG�)<��������������7KH�ZRUOGZLGH�RXWEUHDN�RI� WKH�
&29,'����SDQGHPLF�LQ�0DUFK������FDXVHG�VLJQLILFDQW�GLVUXSWLRQV�WR�GRPHVWLF�DQG�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�DLU�WUDYHO��
%\�WKH�HQG�RI�)<�����ILVFDO�\HDU�WR�GDWH�SDVVHQJHUV�ZHUH������PLOOLRQ����������DQG�)<����\HDU�WR�GDWH�
SDVVHQJHUV�ZHUH�����PLOOLRQ�����������&RPPHUFLDO�DLUOLQHV�KDYH�FRQWLQXHG�WR�PRGLI\�WKHLU�IOLJKW�VFKHGXOHV�
RQ�D�UROOLQJ�EDVLV�LQ�UHVSRQVH�WR�FKDQJHV�LQ�SDVVHQJHU�GHPDQG��VWD\�DW�KRPH�GLUHFWLYHV��ERUGHU�FORVXUHV��
TXDUDQWLQHV��DQG�D�QXPEHU�RI�SROLF\�GHFLVLRQV�WKDW�LPSDFW�WUDYHO��:KLOH�TXHVWLRQV�UHPDLQ�DERXW�WKH�SDFH�
DQG�WLPLQJ�RI�SDVVHQJHU�WUDIILF�UHFRYHU\��$LUSRUW�SDVVHQJHU�OHYHOV�GXULQJ�WKH�VXPPHU�PRQWKV�GHPRQVWUDWHG�
LPSURYHPHQWV�GHVSLWH�WKH�OLPLWHG�UHWXUQ�RI�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�IOLJKWV���7KH�)<����SURMHFWLRQ�IRU�WRWDO�SDVVHQJHUV�
LV�����PLOOLRQ��D�����LQFUHDVH�RYHU�)<����SDVVHQJHUV��

*HQHUDO�$LUSRUW�5HYHQXHV�GHSHQG�VLJQLILFDQWO\�RQ�WKH�OHYHO�RI�DYLDWLRQ�DFWLYLW\�DQG�SDVVHQJHU�WUDIILF�DW�WKH�
$LUSRUW�� 7KH� DELOLW\� RI� WKH� $LUSRUW� WR� GHULYH� UHYHQXHV� IURP� RSHUDWLRQV� PD\� DGGLWLRQDOO\� EH� DGYHUVHO\�
LPSDFWHG�LQ�WKH�HYHQW�RI�D�VHYHUH�GHFOLQH�LQ�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�KHDOWK�RI�DLUOLQHV�DQG�RWKHU�WHQDQWV�VHUYLQJ�WKH�
$LUSRUW�DQG�WKH�DYLDWLRQ�LQGXVWU\�DV�D�ZKROH��2WKHU�DLUSRUW�UHYHQXHV��VXFK�DV�3DVVHQJHU�)DFLOLW\�&KDUJHV�
�3)&��DQG�&XVWRPHU�)DFLOLW\�&KDUJHV��&)&��UHYHQXHV��DUH�DOVR�GLUHFWO\�LPSDFWHG�E\�OHYHOV�RI�SDVVHQJHU�
WUDIILF� DW� WKH� $LUSRUW�� 5HVRXUFHV� DYDLODEOH� WR� FRQWHQG� ZLWK� WKH� XQFHUWDLQ� UHYHQXH� UHFRYHU\� LQFOXGH� DQ�
LQFUHDVH�WR�WKH�&)&�UDWH�WR�������SHU�GD\��UHILQDQFHG�ERQGV�UHVXOWLQJ�LQ�D�VLJQLILFDQW�GHFUHDVH�LQ�)<����DQG�
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VXEVHTXHQW�\HDUV�GHEW�VHUYLFH��DQG�&$5(6��&556$��DQG�$53�$FW�IXQGV��:LWK�WKH�DYDLODEOH�UHVRXUFHV��WKH�
$LUSRUW�ZLOO�FRQWLQXH�WR�ZRUN�ZLWK�WKH�DLUOLQH�DQG�QRQ�DLUOLQH�WHQDQWV�DW�WKH�$LUSRUW�WR�SURYLGH�VXSSRUW��DV�
QHHGHG��GXULQJ�WKH�RQJRLQJ�UHFRYHU\�IURP�&29,'�����VXEMHFW�WR�&LW\�&RXQFLO�GLUHFWLRQ��'XULQJ�)<�����WKH�
$LUSRUW�RIIHUHG�SD\PHQW�GHIHUUDOV�DQG�ILQDQFLDO�UHOLHI�WR�YDULRXV�WHQDQWV���7KH�DLUOLQHV�ZHUH�JLYHQ�SD\PHQW�
GHIHUUDOV�IRU�-XO\�WKURXJK�6HSWHPEHU������ZLWK�YDULRXV�GXH�GDWHV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�� �)RU�PRVW�QRQ�
DLUOLQH�WHQDQWV��LQFOXGLQJ�IRRG�DQG�EHYHUDJH�FRQFHVVLRQDLUHV��UHWDLO�FRQFHVVLRQDLUHV��DQG�RQ�$LUSRUW�UHQWDO�
FDU�FRPSDQLHV��WKH�$LUSRUW�RIIHUHG�DEDWHPHQW�RI�0$*�FRQFHVVLRQ�IHHV�IRU�WKH�HQWLUH�ILVFDO�\HDU��LQ�H[FKDQJH�
IRU�WKHVH�WHQDQWV�SD\LQJ�WKH�FRQWUDFWXDO�SHUFHQWDJH�UHQW�SOXV�DQ�DGGLWLRQDO�IHH���+RZHYHU��DW�WKLV�WLPH�WKHUH�
DUH�QR�SODQV�RU�DSSURYDO�WR�SURYLGH�DGGLWLRQDO�0$*�DEDWHPHQW�RU�SD\PHQW�GHIHUUDOV�WR�DQ\�WHQDQWV���

7KH�$LUSRUW�ZLOO�FRQWLQXH�WR�DFWLYHO\�FROODERUDWH�ZLWK�WKH�&LW\¶V�2IILFH�RI�(FRQRPLF�'HYHORSPHQW�DV�ZHOO�
DV�ORFDO�EXVLQHVV�JURXSV�OLNH�WKH�6LOLFRQ�9DOOH\�/HDGHUVKLS�*URXS�DQG�WKH�6LOLFRQ�9DOOH\�2UJDQL]DWLRQ�WR�
SXUVXH�DLU�VHUYLFH�GHYHORSPHQW�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�DQG�FXVWRPHU�VHUYLFH�HQKDQFHPHQWV���7KH�GUDVWLFDOO\�FKDQJHG�
HFRQRPLF�HQYLURQPHQW�UHTXLUHV�WKH�$LUSRUW�WR�IRFXV�RQ�VWUDWHJLHV�WR�HQGXUH�VHYHUDO�\HDUV�RI�UHFRYHU\�WR�)<�
���OHYHOV��0HDVXUHV�LQFOXGH�FRVW�FRQWDLQPHQW��FROODERUDWLYH�SDUWQHUVKLSV�ZLWK�WHQDQWV�WR�IRVWHU�PRUH�VWDEOH�
ORQJ�WHUP�UHYHQXH�VWUHDPV��VWUDWHJLF�XVH�RI�WKH�IHGHUDO�&$5(6��&556$��DQG�$53�$FW�IXQGLQJ��OHYHUDJLQJ�
WHFKQRORJ\� WR� LQFUHDVH� HIILFLHQFLHV�� DQG� NHHSLQJ� WKH� DLUOLQH� &3(� DW� D� FRPSHWLWLYH� OHYHO�� &LW\� &RXQFLO�
GLUHFWLRQ�WR�$LUSRUW�VWDII�LV�WR�XVH�LWV�EHVW�HIIRUWV�WR�PDLQWDLQ�D�&3(�WKDW�LV�FRPSHWLWLYH�ZLWK�RWKHU�DLUSRUWV�
LQ�WKH�UHJLRQ����

7KH�)<����$GRSWHG�%XGJHW�DGGV�RQH�IXOO�WLPH�SRVLWLRQ�WR�WKH�$LUSRUW�7HFKQRORJ\�6HUYLFHV�WHDP�WR�ZRUN�
RQ�WKH�QHWZRUN��ZHEVLWH�VHUYLFHV��DQG�RWKHU�DSSOLFDWLRQV��7KHUH�ZHUH�QR�DGGLWLRQDO�VWDIILQJ�DGMXVWPHQWV�LQ�
WKH�$LUSRUW�'HSDUWPHQW��

7KHUH�DUH�H[SHQGLWXUH�LQFUHDVHV�IRU�FRVW�RI�OLYLQJ�DGMXVWPHQWV�WR�H[LVWLQJ�DJUHHPHQWV��ZDWHU�DQG�HOHFWULF�
XWLOLW\� FRVW� DGMXVWPHQWV�� DQG� LQFUHDVHV� IRU� QHZ� VHUYLFH� SURYLGHUV� VXFK� DV� XQLQWHUUXSWHG� SRZHU� VXSSO\�
PRQLWRULQJ�� YLGHR� VWRUDJH�� DQG� HOHFWULF� EXV� FKDUJLQJ� XQLW� PDLQWHQDQFH�� *LYHQ� WKH� RQJRLQJ� XQFHUWDLQW\�
UHJDUGLQJ�WKH�LPSDFWV�DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�WKH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�DQG�WKH�WLPLQJ�IRU�D�UHFRYHU\�LQ�WKH�JHQHUDO�
HFRQRP\� DQG� WKH� DYLDWLRQ� VHFWRU��$LUSRUW�PDQDJHPHQW� LV� DEOH� WR� LPSOHPHQW� LQWHUQDO� VDYLQJV� WDUJHWV� DV�
QHHGHG�WR�SURYLGH�IOH[LELOLW\�IRU�DGMXVWLQJ�VHUYLFH�OHYHOV�DW�WKH�$LUSRUW�WR�ILW�QHHGV��

&RQVHUYDWLYH�EXGJHW�DQG�ILVFDO�SROLFLHV�KDYH�OHG�WR�D�VXUSOXV�IRU�)<�����$IWHU�FRPSOHWLRQ�RI�WKH�\HDU�HQG�
FORVLQJ�DQG�DQQXDO�DXGLW��WKH�)<����DFWXDO�QHW�UHPDLQLQJ�UHYHQXHV�ZHUH������PLOOLRQ�DQG�ZLOO�EH�DOORFDWHG�
LQ� DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK� WKH� UHYHQXH� VKDULQJ� SURYLVLRQV� RI� WKH�$LUOLQH� /HDVH�$JUHHPHQW�� � $V� QRWHG� LQ� WKH�
ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��WKH�SDUWLFLSDWLQJ�DLUOLQH�QHW�UHYHQXH�VKDULQJ�SRUWLRQ�ZDV������PLOOLRQ�IRU�)<�����

7KH�$LUSRUW�FRPSOHWHG�D�6WUDWHJLF�3ODQ��ZKLFK�GHILQHV�D�FRPPRQ�SXUSRVH�IRU�WKH�RUJDQL]DWLRQ��HVWDEOLVKHV�
D����\HDU�YLVLRQ��DQG�FUHDWHV�JRDOV��REMHFWLYHV��DFWLRQ�SODQV��DQG�SHUIRUPDQFH�PHDVXUHV�WR�UHDOL]H�WKH�IXOO�
SRWHQWLDO� RI� WKH� $LUSRUW�� ERWK� DV� D� SULPDU\� HFRQRPLF� GULYHU� RI� WKH� 6LOLFRQ� 9DOOH\� HFRQRP\� DQG� DV� D�
FRPPXQLW\�DVVHW�UHSUHVHQWLQJ�WKH�EHVW�RI�6DQ�-RVp¶V�ORFDO�FXOWXUH�DQG�OLIHVW\OH���7KH�6WUDWHJLF�*RDOV�DUH��

'ULYH�*URZWK�
,QQRYDWH�
)XQG�WKH�)XWXUH�
,QYHVW�LQ�WKH�2UJDQL]DWLRQ�

7KH�$LUSRUW¶V�)<�������$GRSWHG�&DSLWDO�,PSURYHPHQW�3URJUDP��&,3��FRQWDLQV�SURMHFWV�UHIOHFWLQJ�DOO�RI�
WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�VWUDWHJLF�SULRULWLHV����,Q�UHVSRQVH�WR�WKH�&29,'����SDQGHPLF�DQG�UHVXOWLQJ�UHGXFHG�UHYHQXHV��
WKH�$LUSRUW�WRRN�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�WR�SULRULWL]H�SURMHFWV�WR� WKH�UDWH�RI�UHFRYHU\�RI�WKH�DLU�WUDYHO�LQGXVWU\�DQG�
IRFXV� RQ� JURXQGZRUN� DQG� SUHOLPLQDU\� SURMHFWV� WKDW� SRVLWLRQ� WKH�$LUSRUW�ZHOO� IRU� IXWXUH� SURMHFWV�� � ,W� LV�
LPSRUWDQW�WKDW�WKH�$LUSRUW�FRQWLQXH�WR�VXSSRUW�DOO�RI�WKH�DLUOLQHV�E\�PDLQWDLQLQJ�UHDVRQDEOH�FRVWV��LPSURYLQJ�

XIV



VDIHW\� DQG� VHFXULW\�� OHYHUDJLQJ� WHFKQRORJ\�� PDLQWDLQLQJ� LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�� DQG� SURYLGLQJ� D� IDYRUDEOH�
HQYLURQPHQW�IRU�UHFRYHU\��

7KH�)<�������$GRSWHG�&,3�EXGJHW�IXQGLQJ�RI��������PLOOLRQ�LV�SULPDULO\�IRU�SURMHFWV�DQG�GHEW�VHUYLFH��RI�
ZKLFK�������PLOOLRQ�LV�DOORFDWHG�WR�)<������2YHU�WKH�ILYH�\HDU�&,3��IXQGLQJ�DOORFDWHG�WR�SD\�GHEW�VHUYLFH�
RQ�RXWVWDQGLQJ�ERQGV�WRWDOV��������PLOOLRQ��+RZHYHU��WKH�FXUUHQW�&,3�GRHV�QRW�UHIOHFW�GHEW�VHUYLFH�SD\PHQW�
UHGXFWLRQV�LQ�)<����WKURXJK�)<����UHVXOWLQJ�IURP�WKH�ERQG�UHIXQGLQJ�FRPSOHWHG�LQ�$SULO�������$�WRWDO�RI�
������PLOOLRQ� LV� DOORFDWHG� WR� JHQHUDO� QRQ�FRQVWUXFWLRQ� DFWLYLWLHV� DQG�SXEOLF� DUW�SURMHFWV�� OHDYLQJ� �������
PLOOLRQ�IRU�FDSLWDO�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RYHU�WKH�QH[W�ILYH�\HDUV��

3URJUDP�KLJKOLJKWV�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�)<�������$GRSWHG�&,3�DUH�DV�IROORZV��

x ������ PLOOLRQ� IRU� 5XQZD\� ,QFXUVLRQ� 0LWLJDWLRQ� �IRUPHUO\� NQRZQ� DV� $LUILHOG� *HRPHWULF
,PSOHPHQWDWLRQ��LV�WKH�VHFRQG�VWDJH�RI�D�PXOWL�\HDU�SURMHFW���7KH�JRDO�RI�WKH�SURMHFW�LV�WR�LPSOHPHQW
FKDQJHV�WR�DLUILHOG�JHRPHWU\�WR�FRPSO\�ZLWK�)$$�UHJXODWLRQV�DQG�QHZ�GHVLJQ�VWDQGDUGV�LGHQWLILHG
LQ�WKH�5XQZD\�,QFXUVLRQ�0LWLJDWLRQ�6WXG\�SURMHFW��7KLV�SURMHFW�LV�LPSRUWDQW�WR�PD[LPL]H�DLUILHOG
VDIHW\�WKURXJK�IDFLOLW\�GHVLJQ�DQG�UHFRQILJXUDWLRQ�LPSURYHPHQWV��7KLV�SURMHFW�LV�SDUWLDOO\�IXQGHG�LQ
WKH�WHUP�RI�WKH�FXUUHQW�&,3��EXW�FRQWLQXHV�EH\RQG�WKH�ILYH�\HDU�&,3�

x ������PLOOLRQ�IRU�WKH�7HUPLQDO�%�5DPS�5HKDELOLWDWLRQ�SURYLGHV�IRU�WKH�UHFRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�DSURQ
VRXWK�RI�WKH�H[LVWLQJ�WHUPLQDO��7KLV�SURMHFW�DQWLFLSDWHV�WKH�SRWHQWLDO�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�WKH�WHUPLQDO
DQG� H[WHQGV� WKH� DSURQ� WR� DFFRPPRGDWH� DGGLWLRQDO� JDWHV� DQG�RU� JURXQG� ERDUGLQJ� WR� PD[LPL]H
IXQFWLRQDOLW\�DQG�HIILFLHQF\�RI�WKH�WHUPLQDO��7KLV�DSURQ�LV�XVHG�WR�SDUN�DLUFUDIW�IRU�IXHOLQJ��VHUYLFLQJ�
ORDGLQJ�DQG�XQORDGLQJ�ERWK�SDVVHQJHUV�DQG�FDUJR���7KH�H[LVWLQJ�SDYHPHQW�LV�UHDFKLQJ�WKH�HQG�RI�LWV
OLIHVSDQ�DQG�QHZ�SDYHPHQW�QHHGV�WR�EH�FRQVWUXFWHG�WR�VXSSRUW�H[LVWLQJ�DQG�QHZ�DLUFUDIW�RSHUDWLRQV�
7KLV�SURMHFW�KDV�UHFHLYHG�)$$�JUDQW�IXQGLQJ�IRU�3KDVH�������DQG���RI�WKH�SURMHFW�RU�������PLOOLRQ
DQG� UHSUHVHQWV� D� VLJQLILFDQW� H[SHQGLWXUH� LOOXVWUDWHG� LQ� WKH�$LUILHOG� )DFLOLWLHV� VSHQGLQJ� FDWHJRU\�
)XWXUH�IXQGLQJ�LV�IRU�3KDVHV���DQG���RI�WKH�DSURQ��7KLV�SURMHFW�LV�IXQGHG�LQ�WKH�WHUP�RI�WKH�FXUUHQW
&,3�

x ������PLOOLRQ�IRU�WKH�7HUPLQDO�$�5DPS�5HKDELOLWDWLRQ�SURYLGHV�IRU�WKH�UHFRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�DLUVLGH
SDUNLQJ� DSURQ� IRU� 7HUPLQDO� $�3OXV�� 7KH� DSURQ� DUHD� WR� EH� UHSODFHG� LQFOXGHV� IRXU� FRQWLJXRXV
SDYHPHQW�VHFWLRQV�ZLWK�3DYHPHQW�&RQGLWLRQ�,QGH[��3&,��YDOXHV�UDWHG�DV�3RRU��7KH�IRXU�FRQWLJXRXV
SDYHPHQW�VHFWLRQV�DUH�DQWLFLSDWHG�WR�EH�UHSODFHG�LQ�WZR�SKDVHV�DQG�LQFOXGHV�DSSUR[LPDWHO\��������
VTXDUH�IHHW�RI�DSURQ��7KLV�SURMHFW�LV�IXQGHG�LQ�WKH�WHUP�RI�WKH�FXUUHQW�&,3�

x �����PLOOLRQ�IRU�$LUILHOG�(OHFWULFDO�&LUFXLW�5HKDELOLWDWLRQ�SURYLGHV�IRU�WKH�UHSODFHPHQW�RI�DLUILHOG
OLJKWLQJ� FDEOHV� DQG� DVVRFLDWHG� LPSURYHPHQWV� WR� LPSURYH� HOHFWULFLDQ� DFFHVV�� VDIHW\� WR� DLUILHOG
OLJKWLQJ�FLUFXLWV��DQG�KHOS�UHGXFH�WKH�LPSDFWV�RI�FRQILQHG�VSDFH��7KLV�SURMHFW�ZLOO�KHOS�HQVXUH�WKH
LQWHJULW\� DQG� UHOLDELOLW\� RI� WKH� DLUILHOG� OLJKWLQJ� V\VWHP�� IXUWKHU� VXSSRUWLQJ� $LUILHOG� VDIHW\� DQG
VHFXULW\��7KLV�SURMHFW�UHFHLYHG�)$$�$,3�JUDQW�IXQGLQJ�DQG�ZRUN�LV�FRPSOHWHG�IRU�WKH�ILUVW�SKDVH�RI
WDVNV�UHODWHG�WR�LPSURYHPHQWV�WR�UXQZD\�OLJKWLQJ�DQG�UXQZD\�JXDUG�OLJKWV��)$$�$,3�JUDQW�IXQGLQJ
ZDV�DZDUGHG� LQ�-XQH������ IRU� LPSURYHPHQWV� WR�VLJQDJH�DQG� WD[LZD\� OLJKWLQJ��)XQGLQJ� IRU� WKLV
SURMHFW�LV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�WHUP�RI�WKH�FXUUHQW�&,3�

x ������PLOOLRQ�IRU�WKH�)DFLOLWLHV�'LYLVLRQ�5HORFDWLRQ��7KH�)DFLOLWLHV�'LYLVLRQ�LV�FXUUHQWO\�KRXVHG�LQ
VHYHUDO�WUDLOHUV�RQ�WKH�HDVW�VLGH�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW��7KLV�SURMHFW�UHORFDWHV�WKH�GLYLVLRQ�WR�WKH�ZHVW�VLGH�RI
WKH�$LUSRUW��QRUWK�RI�WKH�$5))�)DFLOLW\��7KH�SURMHFW�DQWLFLSDWHV�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�D�QHZ�EXLOGLQJ�WR
KRXVH�DOO�DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ�DQG�ILHOG�SHUVRQQHO�DORQJ�ZLWK�VWRUDJH�RI�PDWHULDOV�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�UHTXLUHG
E\�WKH�GLYLVLRQ��7KH�EXLOGLQJ�LV�DOVR�H[SHFWHG�WR�EH�H[SDQGDEOH�DQG�DGDSWDEOH�WR�PHHW�IXWXUH�QHHGV�

XV



5HORFDWLRQ� RI� WKH� )DFLOLWLHV� 'LYLVLRQ� LV� D� QHFHVVDU\� VWHS� WR� HQDEOH� IXWXUH� WHUPLQDO� H[SDQVLRQ��
)XQGLQJ�IRU�WKLV�SURMHFW�LV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�WHUP�RI�WKH�FXUUHQW�&,3��
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7KH�PDQDJHPHQW�VWDII�RI� WKH�$LUSRUW� LV�UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU�HVWDEOLVKLQJ�DQG�PDLQWDLQLQJ�DQ� LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�
V\VWHP�GHVLJQHG�WR�VDIHJXDUG�WKH�DVVHWV�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW�IURP�ORVV��WKHIW��RU�PLVXVH��DQG�DOORZ�WKH�FRPSLODWLRQ�
RI� DGHTXDWH� DFFRXQWLQJ� GDWD� IRU� WKH� SUHSDUDWLRQ� RI� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� LQ� FRQIRUPLW\�ZLWK� DFFRXQWLQJ�
SULQFLSOHV�JHQHUDOO\�DFFHSWHG�LQ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�RI�$PHULFD���7KH�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�V\VWHP�LV�GHVLJQHG�WR�
SURYLGH�UHDVRQDEOH��EXW�QRW�DEVROXWH��DVVXUDQFH�WKDW�WKHVH�REMHFWLYHV�DUH�PHW���7KH�FRQFHSW�RI�UHDVRQDEOH�
DVVXUDQFH�UHFRJQL]HV�WKDW�WKH�FRVW�RI�D�FRQWURO�VKRXOG�QRW�H[FHHG�LWV�OLNHO\�EHQHILWV�DQG�WKDW�WKH�HYDOXDWLRQ�
RI�FRVWV�DQG�EHQHILWV�LV�VXEMHFW�WR�PDQDJHPHQW�HVWLPDWHV�DQG�MXGJPHQWV��

6LQJOH�$XGLW��3)&��DQG�&)&�

$V�D�UHFLSLHQW�RI�IHGHUDO�IXQGV��WKH�$LUSRUW� LV�DOVR�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�SURYLGLQJ�DVVXUDQFH�WKDW�DQ�DGHTXDWH�
LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�V\VWHP�LV�LQ�SODFH�WR�HQVXUH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�DSSOLFDEOH�ODZV�DQG�UHJXODWLRQV�UHODWLQJ�WR�
IHGHUDO�DZDUG�SURJUDPV���7KLV�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�V\VWHP�LV�VXEMHFW�WR�SHULRGLF�HYDOXDWLRQ�E\�PDQDJHPHQW��WKH�
&LW\�$XGLWRU��DQG�WKH�&LW\¶V�RXWVLGH�LQGHSHQGHQW�FHUWLILHG�SXEOLF�DFFRXQWDQWV��

$V�SDUW�RI�WKH�&LW\¶V�6LQJOH�$XGLW�SURFHGXUHV��WHVWV�DUH�PDGH�WR�GHWHUPLQH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�LQWHUQDO�
FRQWURO�V\VWHP�RYHU�IHGHUDO�DZDUGV�LQ�SODFH��DQG�ZKHWKHU�WKH�$LUSRUW�KDV�FRPSOLHG�ZLWK�DOO�DSSOLFDEOH�ODZV�
DQG�UHJXODWLRQV���7KH�&LW\¶V�6LQJOH�$XGLW�IRU�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGHG�-XQH����������LV�VWLOO�LQ�SURJUHVV��

7KH� $LUSRUW� ZDV� DXWKRUL]HG� WR� LPSRVH� 3)&� HIIHFWLYH� 6HSWHPEHU� ��� ������ � /HJLVODWLRQ� DXWKRUL]LQJ� WKH�
FROOHFWLRQ� RI� 3)&� UHYHQXHV� SUHVFULEHV� UHSRUWLQJ� DQG� FRQWURO� UHTXLUHPHQWV� DQG� UHVWULFWV� WKH� XVH� RI� 3)&�
UHYHQXH� WR� WKH� DFTXLVLWLRQ� RI� VSHFLILHG� DVVHWV� RU� SD\PHQW� RI� 3)&� HOLJLEOH� GHEW� VHUYLFH�� �$V� SDUW� RI� WKH�
FRPSOLDQFH�DXGLW�RI�WKH�3)&�SURJUDP��WHVWV�DUH�PDGH�WR�GHWHUPLQH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�3)&�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�
V\VWHP�LQ�SODFH�DQG�ZKHWKHU�WKH�$LUSRUW�KDV�FRPSOLHG�ZLWK�DOO�DSSOLFDEOH�ODZV�DQG�UHJXODWLRQV���7KH�3)&�
SURJUDP�DXGLW�IRU�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGHG�-XQH����������LV�VWLOO�LQ�SURJUHVV��

3XUVXDQW� WR� &DOLIRUQLD� *RYHUQPHQW� &RGH� 6HFWLRQV� ���������������� �IRUPHUO\� &DOLIRUQLD� &LYLO� &RGH�
6HFWLRQ��������VLQFH�0D\�������WKH�&LW\�UHTXLUHG�UHQWDO�FDU�FRPSDQLHV�WR�FROOHFW�D�&)&�IURP�WKHLU�FXVWRPHUV�
UHQWLQJ�YHKLFOHV�DW�WKH�$LUSRUW���&)&�UHYHQXHV�PD\�EH�XVHG�WR�SD\�WKH�UHDVRQDEOH�FRVWV�WR�ILQDQFH��GHVLJQ��
DQG� FRQVWUXFW� WKH�&RQ5$&�� DQG� WR� ILQDQFH�� GHVLJQ�� FRQVWUXFW�� DQG�RSHUDWH� WKH�&RQ5$&�7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ�
6\VWHP����

%XGJHWDU\�&RQWUROV�

(DFK�\HDU��WKH�$LUSRUW�SUHSDUHV�DQ�RSHUDWLQJ�EXGJHW�DQG�D�FDSLWDO�EXGJHW���7KHVH�GRFXPHQWV�DUH�SUHVHQWHG�
WR� WKH� &LW\� &RXQFLO� DQG� LQFOXGHG� LQ� WKH� &LW\¶V� DQQXDO� RSHUDWLQJ� DQG� FDSLWDO� EXGJHWV� DQG� WKH� DQQXDO�
DSSURSULDWLRQ� RUGLQDQFH�� � 7KH� DSSURYHG� EXGJHWV� VHUYH� DV� DQ� DSSURYHG� SODQ� WR� IDFLOLWDWH� FRQWURO� DQG�
RSHUDWLRQDO�HYDOXDWLRQ��

7KH�$LUSRUW�DQG�WKH�&LW\�PDLQWDLQ�EXGJHWDU\�FRQWUROV�WR�HQVXUH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�OHJDO�SURYLVLRQV�HPERGLHG�
LQ�WKH�DQQXDO�DSSURSULDWHG�EXGJHW�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�&LW\�&RXQFLO���7KH�OHYHO�RI�EXGJHWDU\�FRQWURO��DW�ZKLFK�
H[SHQVHV�FDQQRW�OHJDOO\�H[FHHG�WKH�EXGJHWHG�DPRXQW��LV�DW�WKH�DSSURSULDWLRQ�OHYHO��

7KH�$LUSRUW��DV�ZLWK�WKH�&LW\��DOVR�XVHV�HQFXPEUDQFH�DFFRXQWLQJ�DV�DQRWKHU�WHFKQLTXH�RI�DFFRPSOLVKLQJ�
EXGJHWDU\�FRQWURO�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW�IXQGV���3XUFKDVH�FRPPLWPHQWV�DUH�HDUPDUNHG�IRU�SDUWLFXODU�SXUSRVHV�DQG�
EHFRPH�XQDYDLODEOH�IRU�JHQHUDO�VSHQGLQJ���$SSURSULDWLRQV�WKDW�DUH�QRW�HQFXPEHUHG�ODSVH�DW�WKH�HQG�RI�WKH�

XVI



ILVFDO�\HDU���<HDU�HQG�HQFXPEUDQFHV�DUH�FDUULHG�IRUZDUG�DQG�EHFRPH�SDUW�RI�WKH�IROORZLQJ�\HDU¶V�EXGJHW��
)RU�EXGJHW�SXUSRVHV��H[SHQVHV�DUH�UHFRJQL]HG�LQ�WKH�\HDU�HQFXPEHUHG���)RU�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQW�SXUSRVHV��
H[SHQVHV�DUH�UHFRJQL]HG�ZKHQ�LQFXUUHG��

&HUWDLQ�EXGJHWDU\�DQG�IXQG�SURYLVLRQV�DUH�VWLSXODWHG�LQ�WKH�$LUOLQH�/HDVH�$JUHHPHQW�DQG�WKH�0DVWHU�7UXVW�
$JUHHPHQW���%RWK�RSHUDWLQJ�DQG�FDSLWDO�EXGJHWV�FRPSO\�ZLWK�WKH�SURYLVLRQV�RU�UHVWULFWLRQV�VHW�IRUWK�ZLWKLQ�
WKHVH�DJUHHPHQWV��

7KH�$LUSRUW�FRQWLQXHV�WR�PHHW�LWV�UHVSRQVLELOLW\�IRU�VRXQG�ILQDQFLDO�PDQDJHPHQW�DV�GHPRQVWUDWHG�E\�WKH�
VWDWHPHQWV�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VHFWLRQ�RI�WKLV�UHSRUW��

27+(5�,1)250$7,21�

$ZDUGV�

7KH� *RYHUQPHQW� )LQDQFH� 2IILFHUV� $VVRFLDWLRQ� RI� WKH� 8QLWHG� 6WDWHV� DQG� &DQDGD� �*)2$�� DZDUGHG� D�
&HUWLILFDWH� RI� $FKLHYHPHQW� IRU� ([FHOOHQFH� LQ� )LQDQFLDO� 5HSRUWLQJ� WR� 1RUPDQ� <�� 0LQHWD� 6DQ� -RVp�
,QWHUQDWLRQDO�$LUSRUW�IRU� LWV�$&)5�IRU� WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGHG�-XQH����������� �7KLV�ZDV�WKH�WZHQW\�IRXUWK�
FRQVHFXWLYH�\HDU�WKDW�WKH�$LUSRUW�KDV�DFKLHYHG�WKLV�SUHVWLJLRXV�DZDUG���,Q�RUGHU�WR�EH�DZDUGHG�D�&HUWLILFDWH�
RI�$FKLHYHPHQW��WKH�$LUSRUW�PXVW�SXEOLVK�DQ�HDVLO\�UHDGDEOH�DQG�HIILFLHQWO\�RUJDQL]HG�$&)5���7KLV�UHSRUW�
PXVW�VDWLVI\�ERWK�DFFRXQWLQJ�SULQFLSOHV�JHQHUDOO\�DFFHSWHG�LQ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�RI�$PHULFD�DQG�DSSOLFDEOH�
OHJDO�UHTXLUHPHQWV��

$�&HUWLILFDWH�RI�$FKLHYHPHQW�LV�YDOLG�IRU�D�SHULRG�RI�RQH�\HDU�RQO\���:H�EHOLHYH�WKDW�RXU�FXUUHQW�$&)5�
FRQWLQXHV�WR�PHHW�WKH�&HUWLILFDWH�RI�$FKLHYHPHQW�3URJUDP¶V�UHTXLUHPHQWV��DQG�ZH�DUH�VXEPLWWLQJ�LW�WR�WKH�
*)2$�WR�GHWHUPLQH�LWV�HOLJLELOLW\�IRU�DQRWKHU�FHUWLILFDWH��

$FNQRZOHGJPHQWV�

7KH�SUHSDUDWLRQ� RI� WKH�$&)5�ZDV�PDGH� SRVVLEOH� E\� WKH� GHGLFDWHG� VHUYLFH� DQG� HIIRUWV� RI� WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�
)LQDQFH�DQG�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ�'LYLVLRQ���(DFK�PHPEHU�RI�WKH�GLYLVLRQ�KDV�RXU�VLQFHUH�DSSUHFLDWLRQ�IRU�WKH�
FRQWULEXWLRQV�PDGH�LQ�WKH�SUHSDUDWLRQ�RI�WKLV�UHSRUW��

,Q�DGGLWLRQ��VWDII� LQ�DOO�$LUSRUW�GLYLVLRQV� VKRXOG�EH� UHFRJQL]HG�IRU� UHVSRQGLQJ�TXLFNO\�DQG�SRVLWLYHO\� WR�
UHTXHVWV� IRU� GHWDLOHG� LQIRUPDWLRQ� ZKLFK� DFFRPSDQ\� HDFK� DQQXDO� DXGLW�� � 7KH� UROH� RI� 0DFLDV� *LQL� 	�
2¶&RQQHOO�//3�VKRXOG�DOVR�EH�DFNQRZOHGJHG�DV�D�VLJQLILFDQW�FRQWULEXWRU�WR�D�ILQH�SURGXFW��

5HVSHFWIXOO\�VXEPLWWHG��

-RKQ�$LWNHQ��$�$�(�� .LP�+DZN��&3$��,QDFWLYH��
'LUHFWRU�RI�$YLDWLRQ� 'HSXW\�'LUHFWRU�

)LQDQFH�DQG�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ�'LYLVLRQ�
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Listing of Principal Officials
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� 0DJGDOHQD�&DUUDVFR������������������������������ &RXQFLO�0HPEHU��'LVWULFW�� 

� 'HYRUD�'DYLV����������������������������������������� &RXQFLO�0HPEHU��'LVWULFW�� 

� 0D\D�(VSDU]D����������������������������������������� &RXQFLO�0HPEHU��'LVWULFW���
� 6\OYLD�$UHQDV������������������������������������������ &RXQFLO�0HPEHU��'LVWULFW���
� 3DP�)ROH\���������������������������������������������� &RXQFLO�0HPEHU��'LVWULFW���
� 0DWW�0DKDQ��������������������������������������������� &RXQFLO�0HPEHU��'LVWULFW����
�
AIRPORT COMMISSION:
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-XOLH�5LHUD�0DWVXVKLPD��������������������������� 0HPEHU�
(��5RQDOG�%ODNH��������������������������������������� 0HPEHU�
5REHUW�+HQFNHQ��������������������������������������� 0HPEHU�
1LFN�3DWHO������������������������������������������������     0HPEHU�
3UDWHHN�*XSWD������������������������������������������ 0HPEHU�
&DWKHULQH�+HQGUL[������������������������������������ 0HPEHU�
'DQ�&RQQROO\������������������������������������������ 0HPEHU�

� -RH�+HDG��������������������������������������������������� 0HPEHU�
� 6XUMLW�%DLQV����������������������������������������������� 0HPEHU�

'DYLG�&RKHQ�������������������������������������������� &RXQFLO�0HPEHU��$LUSRUW�/LDLVRQ��

CITY OFFICIAL:
-HQQLIHU�$��0DJXLUH���������������������������������� &LW\�0DQDJHU�
-XOLD�+��&RRSHU������������������������������������������� 'LUHFWRU�RI�)LQDQFH�

�
AIRPORT DEPARTMENT:
� -RKQ�$LWNHQ��$�$�(����������������������������������� 'LUHFWRU�RI�$YLDWLRQ�

-XG\�0��5RVV��$�$�(�������������������������������� $VVLVWDQW�'LUHFWRU�RI�$YLDWLRQ�
� 5REHUW�/RFNKDUW��&�0���$&(�������������������� 'HSXW\�'LUHFWRU��$LUSRUW�2SHUDWLRQV�
� .LP�+DZN��&3$��,QDFWLYH����������������������� 'HSXW\�'LUHFWRU��)LQDQFH�	�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ�
� *HQH�)UD]LHU��03$��&�0�������������������������� 'HSXW\�'LUHFWRU��)DFLOLWLHV�	�(QJLQHHULQJ�
� $QGUHV�1LHPH\HU��������������������������������������� 'HSXW\�'LUHFWRU��3ODQQLQJ�	�'HYHORSPHQW�
� 6FRWW�:LQWQHU�������������������������������������������� 'HSXW\�'LUHFWRU��0DUNHWLQJ�	�&RPPXQLFDWLRQV�
� /LHXWHQDQW�-DVRQ�3LHUFH���������������������������� 6DQ�-RVp�3ROLFH�'HSW��±�$LUSRUW�'LYLVLRQ��
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ZZZ�PJRFSD�FRP

0DFLDV�*LQL�	�2¶&RQQHOO�//3
�����1��&DOLIRUQLD�%RXOHYDUG��6XLWH ���
:DOQXW�&UHHN��&$������

�

,QGHSHQGHQW�$XGLWRU¶V�5HSRUW�

+RQRUDEOH�&LW\�&RXQFLO�
&LW\�RI�6DQ�-RVp��&DOLIRUQLD�

5HSRUW�RQ�WKH�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV�

:H�KDYH�DXGLWHG�WKH�DFFRPSDQ\LQJ�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�RI�WKH�1RUPDQ�<��0LQHWD�6DQ�-RVp�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�
$LUSRUW� �$LUSRUW���D�GHSDUWPHQW�RI� WKH�&LW\�RI�6DQ�-RVp��&DOLIRUQLD� �&LW\���DV�RI�DQG�IRU� WKH�ILVFDO�\HDUV�
HQGHG� -XQH� ���� ����� DQG� ������ DQG� WKH� UHODWHG� QRWHV� WR� WKH� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV�� ZKLFK� FROOHFWLYHO\�
FRPSULVH�WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�EDVLF�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DV�OLVWHG�LQ�WKH�WDEOH�RI�FRQWHQWV��

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

0DQDJHPHQW� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� WKH� SUHSDUDWLRQ� DQG� IDLU� SUHVHQWDWLRQ� RI� WKHVH� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� LQ�
DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�DFFRXQWLQJ�SULQFLSOHV�JHQHUDOO\�DFFHSWHG�LQ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�RI�$PHULFD��WKLV�LQFOXGHV�
WKH� GHVLJQ�� LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ�� DQG� PDLQWHQDQFH� RI� LQWHUQDO� FRQWURO� UHOHYDQW� WR� WKH� SUHSDUDWLRQ� DQG� IDLU�
SUHVHQWDWLRQ� RI� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� WKDW� DUH� IUHH� IURP�PDWHULDO� PLVVWDWHPHQW�� ZKHWKHU� GXH� WR� IUDXG� RU�
HUURU��

Auditor’s Responsibility 

2XU� UHVSRQVLELOLW\� LV� WR� H[SUHVV� DQ� RSLQLRQ� RQ� WKHVH� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� EDVHG� RQ� RXU� DXGLWV�� :H�
FRQGXFWHG� RXU� DXGLWV� LQ� DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK� DXGLWLQJ� VWDQGDUGV� JHQHUDOO\� DFFHSWHG� LQ� WKH�8QLWHG� 6WDWHV� RI�
$PHULFD� DQG� WKH� VWDQGDUGV� DSSOLFDEOH� WR� ILQDQFLDO� DXGLWV� FRQWDLQHG� LQ�Government Auditing Standards��
LVVXHG�E\�WKH�&RPSWUROOHU�*HQHUDO�RI�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV��7KRVH�VWDQGDUGV�UHTXLUH�WKDW�ZH�SODQ�DQG�SHUIRUP�
WKH� DXGLW� WR� REWDLQ� UHDVRQDEOH� DVVXUDQFH� DERXW�ZKHWKHU� WKH� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� DUH� IUHH� IURP�PDWHULDO�
PLVVWDWHPHQW��

$Q�DXGLW� LQYROYHV�SHUIRUPLQJ�SURFHGXUHV� WR�REWDLQ�DXGLW�HYLGHQFH�DERXW�WKH�DPRXQWV�DQG�GLVFORVXUHV�LQ�
WKH� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV�� 7KH� SURFHGXUHV� VHOHFWHG� GHSHQG� RQ� WKH� DXGLWRU¶V� MXGJPHQW�� LQFOXGLQJ� WKH�
DVVHVVPHQW�RI�WKH�ULVNV�RI�PDWHULDO�PLVVWDWHPHQW�RI�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��ZKHWKHU�GXH�WR�IUDXG�RU�HUURU��
,Q�PDNLQJ�WKRVH�ULVN�DVVHVVPHQWV��WKH�DXGLWRU�FRQVLGHUV�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�UHOHYDQW�WR�WKH�HQWLW\¶V�SUHSDUDWLRQ�
DQG�IDLU�SUHVHQWDWLRQ�RI�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LQ�RUGHU�WR�GHVLJQ�DXGLW�SURFHGXUHV�WKDW�DUH�DSSURSULDWH�LQ�
WKH�FLUFXPVWDQFHV��EXW�QRW� IRU� WKH�SXUSRVH�RI�H[SUHVVLQJ�DQ�RSLQLRQ�RQ� WKH�HIIHFWLYHQHVV�RI� WKH�HQWLW\¶V�
LQWHUQDO� FRQWURO�� $FFRUGLQJO\�� ZH� H[SUHVV� QR� VXFK� RSLQLRQ�� $Q� DXGLW� DOVR� LQFOXGHV� HYDOXDWLQJ� WKH�
DSSURSULDWHQHVV� RI� DFFRXQWLQJ� SROLFLHV� XVHG� DQG� WKH� UHDVRQDEOHQHVV� RI� VLJQLILFDQW� DFFRXQWLQJ� HVWLPDWHV�
PDGH�E\�PDQDJHPHQW��DV�ZHOO�DV�HYDOXDWLQJ�WKH�RYHUDOO�SUHVHQWDWLRQ�RI�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��

:H�EHOLHYH�WKDW�WKH�DXGLW�HYLGHQFH�ZH�KDYH�REWDLQHG�LV�VXIILFLHQW�DQG�DSSURSULDWH�WR�SURYLGH�D�EDVLV�IRU�
RXU�DXGLW�RSLQLRQ��

Opinion

,Q� RXU� RSLQLRQ�� WKH� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� UHIHUUHG� WR� DERYH� SUHVHQW� IDLUO\�� LQ� DOO� PDWHULDO� UHVSHFWV�� WKH�
ILQDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW�DV�RI�-XQH����������DQG�������DQG�WKH�FKDQJHV�LQ�LWV�ILQDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ�
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�

DQG� LWV� FDVK� IORZV� IRU� WKH� ILVFDO� \HDUV� WKHQ� HQGHG� LQ� DFFRUGDQFH� ZLWK� DFFRXQWLQJ� SULQFLSOHV� JHQHUDOO\�
DFFHSWHG�LQ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�RI�$PHULFD��

Emphasis of a Matter 

Basis of Presentation 

$V�GLVFXVVHG�LQ�1RWH���D��WR�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW�DUH�LQWHQGHG�
WR�SUHVHQW�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ��WKH�FKDQJHV�LQ�ILQDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ�DQG�FDVK�IORZV�RI�RQO\�WKDW�SRUWLRQ�RI�
WKH� EXVLQHVV�W\SH� DFWLYLWLHV� DQG� PDMRU� IXQG� RI� WKH� &LW\� WKDW� LV� DWWULEXWDEOH� WR� WKH� WUDQVDFWLRQV� RI� WKH�
$LUSRUW�� 7KH\� GR� QRW� SXUSRUW� WR�� DQG� GR� QRW�� SUHVHQW� IDLUO\� WKH� ILQDQFLDO� SRVLWLRQ� RI� WKH� &LW\� DV� RI�
-XQH����������DQG�������WKH�FKDQJHV�LQ�LWV�ILQDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ��RU��ZKHUH�DSSOLFDEOH��LWV�FDVK�IORZV�IRU�WKH�
ILVFDO�\HDUV�WKHQ�HQGHG�LQ�FRQIRUPLW\�ZLWK�DFFRXQWLQJ�SULQFLSOHV�JHQHUDOO\�DFFHSWHG�LQ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�
RI�$PHULFD��2XU�RSLQLRQ�LV�QRW�PRGLILHG�ZLWK�UHVSHFW�WR�WKLV�PDWWHU��

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

$FFRXQWLQJ�SULQFLSOHV�JHQHUDOO\�DFFHSWHG�LQ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�RI�$PHULFD�UHTXLUH�WKDW�WKH�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�
GLVFXVVLRQ� DQG� DQDO\VLV� LGHQWLILHG� LQ� WKH� DFFRPSDQ\LQJ� WDEOH� RI� FRQWHQWV�� DQG� WKH� VFKHGXOH� RI� WKH�
SURSRUWLRQDWH�VKDUH�RI� WKH�QHW�SHQVLRQ�OLDELOLW\�� WKH�VFKHGXOH�RI�FRQWULEXWLRQV��SHQVLRQ��� WKH�VFKHGXOH�RI�
WKH�SURSRUWLRQDWH�VKDUH�RI�WKH�QHW�23(%�OLDELOLW\��DQG�WKH�VFKHGXOH�RI�FRQWULEXWLRQV��23(%���FROOHFWLYHO\�
LGHQWLILHG�DV�5HTXLUHG�6XSSOHPHQWDU\�,QIRUPDWLRQ�LQ�WKH�DFFRPSDQ\LQJ�WDEOH�RI�FRQWHQWV��EH�SUHVHQWHG�WR�
VXSSOHPHQW� WKH�EDVLF� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV��6XFK� LQIRUPDWLRQ�� DOWKRXJK�QRW� D� SDUW� RI� WKH�EDVLF� ILQDQFLDO�
VWDWHPHQWV�� LV� UHTXLUHG� E\� WKH� *RYHUQPHQWDO� $FFRXQWLQJ� 6WDQGDUGV� %RDUG� ZKR� FRQVLGHUV� LW� WR� EH� DQ�
HVVHQWLDO� SDUW� RI� ILQDQFLDO� UHSRUWLQJ� IRU� SODFLQJ� WKH� EDVLF� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� LQ� DQ� DSSURSULDWH�
RSHUDWLRQDO��HFRQRPLF��RU�KLVWRULFDO�FRQWH[W��:H�KDYH�DSSOLHG�FHUWDLQ�OLPLWHG�SURFHGXUHV�WR�WKH�UHTXLUHG�
VXSSOHPHQWDU\�LQIRUPDWLRQ�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�DXGLWLQJ�VWDQGDUGV�JHQHUDOO\�DFFHSWHG�LQ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�
RI�$PHULFD��ZKLFK�FRQVLVWHG�RI�LQTXLULHV�RI�PDQDJHPHQW�DERXW�WKH�PHWKRGV�RI�SUHSDULQJ�WKH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�
DQG�FRPSDULQJ�WKH� LQIRUPDWLRQ�IRU�FRQVLVWHQF\�ZLWK�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�UHVSRQVHV�WR�RXU� LQTXLULHV�� WKH�EDVLF�
ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��DQG�RWKHU�NQRZOHGJH�ZH�REWDLQHG�GXULQJ�RXU�DXGLWV�RI�WKH�EDVLF�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��
:H�GR�QRW�H[SUHVV�DQ�RSLQLRQ�RU�SURYLGH�DQ\�DVVXUDQFH�RQ�WKH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�EHFDXVH�WKH�OLPLWHG�SURFHGXUHV�
GR�QRW�SURYLGH�XV�ZLWK�VXIILFLHQW�HYLGHQFH�WR�H[SUHVV�DQ�RSLQLRQ�RU�SURYLGH�DQ\�DVVXUDQFH���

Other Information�

2XU� DXGLW�ZDV� FRQGXFWHG� IRU� WKH�SXUSRVH�RI� IRUPLQJ�DQ�RSLQLRQ�RQ� WKH�EDVLF� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV��7KH�
LQWURGXFWRU\��VWDWLVWLFDO�DQG�ERQG�GLVFORVXUH�VHFWLRQV�DUH�SUHVHQWHG�IRU�SXUSRVHV�RI�DGGLWLRQDO�DQDO\VLV�DQG�
DUH�QRW�D�UHTXLUHG�SDUW�RI�WKH�EDVLF�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV���7KH�LQWURGXFWRU\��VWDWLVWLFDO�DQG�ERQG�GLVFORVXUH�
VHFWLRQV�KDYH�QRW�EHHQ� VXEMHFWHG� WR� WKH�DXGLWLQJ�SURFHGXUHV�DSSOLHG� LQ� WKH�DXGLWV�RI� WKH�EDVLF� ILQDQFLDO�
VWDWHPHQWV��DQG�DFFRUGLQJO\��ZH�GR�QRW�H[SUHVV�DQ�RSLQLRQ�RU�SURYLGH�DQ\�DVVXUDQFH�RQ�WKHP��
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2WKHU�5HSRUWLQJ�5HTXLUHG�E\�Government Auditing Standards�

,Q� DFFRUGDQFH� ZLWK� Government Auditing Standards�� ZH� KDYH� DOVR� LVVXHG� RXU� UHSRUW� GDWHG�
1RYHPEHU����������RQ�RXU�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�RYHU�ILQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ�DQG�RQ�
RXU� WHVWV�RI� LWV�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�FHUWDLQ�SURYLVLRQV�RI� ODZV��UHJXODWLRQV��FRQWUDFWV��DQG�JUDQW�DJUHHPHQWV�
DQG�RWKHU�PDWWHUV�� �7KH�SXUSRVH�RI� WKDW� UHSRUW� LV� VROHO\� WR�GHVFULEH� WKH� VFRSH�RI� RXU� WHVWLQJ�RI� LQWHUQDO�
FRQWURO� RYHU� ILQDQFLDO� UHSRUWLQJ� DQG� FRPSOLDQFH� DQG� WKH� UHVXOWV� RI� WKDW� WHVWLQJ�� DQG� QRW� WR� SURYLGH� DQ�
RSLQLRQ�RQ�WKH�HIIHFWLYHQHVV�RI�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�RYHU�ILQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ�RU�RQ�FRPSOLDQFH��7KDW�UHSRUW�LV�
DQ�LQWHJUDO�SDUW�RI�DQ�DXGLW�SHUIRUPHG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�Government Auditing Standards�LQ�FRQVLGHULQJ�
WKH�$LUSRUW¶V�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�RYHU�ILQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ�DQG�FRPSOLDQFH��

:DOQXW�&UHHN��&DOLIRUQLD��
1RYHPEHU����������
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)
Management's Discussion and Analysis

(Unaudited)

This section of the Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport (Airport) Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report (ACFR) presents a narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the
Airport for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.  The Airport is a department of the City of San
José (City).

AIRPORT ACTIVITIES HIGHLIGHTS

The worldwide coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic continues to impact the Airport and aviation industry
and has caused significant disruptions to domestic and international air travel.  Various governments,
including the U.S. government, continue to restrict access to their borders to nonessential travel and
issued other travel restrictions, warnings, or testing/vaccination requirements.

The Airport has continued its operations throughout the pandemic as an essential infrastructure. Non-
essential concession operations, including duty free, certain other retail, and food and beverage
concessions, were temporarily closed at various times during the year in line with Santa Clara County's
Public Health Orders. Due to the large decline in passengers, the City Council approved payment
deferrals and financial relief to tenants that have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Airlines
received extended payment terms for the April 2020 to September 2020 rent and air activity.  Non-airline
tenants, including terminal concessionaires, rental car companies, and an in-flight kitchen company, were
granted minimal annual guarantee (MAG) waiver for April 2020 to June 2021.  MAG is the annual
amount that a concessionaire agrees to pay at a minimum as rent under a concession agreement.  Instead
of paying the monthly MAG,  the concessionaires paid an activity-based percentage rent.

In fiscal year (FY) 20, the Airport was awarded $65.6 million of funding from the federal Coronavirus
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act), which became law on March 27, 2020, to assist
with the economic crisis created by the COVID-19 pandemic.  The aid will reimburse amounts spent for
any lawful airport purpose, and must be used within four years.  The Airport requested reimbursement of
$53.5 million for  costs in  FY 21.  No reimbursement was requested in FY 20.

In March 2021, the Airport was awarded $13.4 million in Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental
Appropriation Act (CRRSA Act) funds. The funds are available to the Airport on a reimbursable basis for
up to four years and will be used to pay for operating expenses. An additional $1.6 million in CRRSA Act
funds were awarded to provide relief from rent and MAG to on-airport car rental, on-airport parking, and
in-terminal airport concessions.

In March 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act (ARP Act) was signed into law and with it the Federal
Aviation Administration (FAA) established the Airport Rescue Grants to distribute funds to be awarded
as economic assistance to eligible U.S. airports and eligible concessions at those airports to prevent,
prepare for, and respond to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Airport was awarded $48.9 million in ARP Act
funds, available to the Airport on a reimbursable basis for up to four years and will be used to pay for
operating expenses. An additional $6.6 million in ARP Act funds will be awarded to provide relief from
rent and minimum annual guarantees to in-terminal airport concessions. In addition, the ARP Act
provided $1.6 million in matching funds to increase the federal share of federal FY 21 AIP grants to
100%, eliminating the requirement for the Airport to provide a percentage of funds.

A total of approximately 4.2 million passengers traveled through the Airport in FY 21 compared to
approximately 11.3 million in FY 20, resulting in passenger traffic decline of 62.7%. The Airport
experienced a decrease in passenger traffic of 24.2% in FY 20 and an increase of 10.8% in FY 19.  

As of February 2020, the Airport was on pace to set another consecutive annual record for passengers.
However, that pace of growth dramatically changed by March 2020 as global air travel dropped
significantly due to the COVID-19 pandemic and recovery has been slow.  As a result, domestic
passengers declined 63.2% for FY 21.  Vaccination rates have significantly reduced the infection rates
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and led to the start of recovery of passenger traffic.  In FY 21, Alaska Airlines began new service to
Missoula, Montana, and Spokane, Washington.

International passengers declined 54.2% in FY 21. Hainan Airlines suspended passenger service in
February 2020 followed by Air Canada, All Nippon Airways, and British Airways in March 2020 due to
the COVID-19 pandemic and did not operate at the Airport in FY 21. International flights to Mexico
resumed at the Airport during the fiscal year at a reduced frequency.  In FY 21, Volaris began new service
to Mexico City. 

As of June 30, 2021, Airport carriers served 36 nonstop markets. Daily departures ranged from 59
minimum to 129 peak departures in FY 21, compared to 21 nonstop markets with 234 peak daily
departures in FY 20, and 50 nonstop markets with 232 peak daily departures in FY 19.

The following shows major air traffic activities at the Airport and year-over-year change during the last
three fiscal years:

2021 2020 2019

Flight operations 111,660 168,384 192,008
%(33.7) %(12.3) %15.8

Landed weight by passenger (1,000 lbs) 3,715,202 7,591,258 8,984,703
%(51.1) %(15.5) %9.0

Landed weight by cargo carriers (1,000 lbs) 210,406 233,630 244,440
%(9.9) %(4.4) %(1.3)

Total enplaned and deplaned passengers 4,226,239 11,328,759 14,949,956
%(62.7) %(24.2) %10.8

Enplaned passengers 2,125,823 5,660,067 7,462,126
%(62.4) %(24.1) %11.0

Deplaned passengers 2,100,416 5,668,692 7,487,830
%(62.9) %(24.3) %10.7

Domestic passengers 3,944,919 10,714,124 14,015,534
%(63.2) %(23.6) %11.7

International passengers 281,320 614,635 934,422
%(54.2) %(34.2) %(0.4)

Cargo tonnage (in tons) 40,359 48,801 57,393
%(17.3) %(15.0) %(6.1)

Parking (vehicles) exits 375,846 771,225 1,133,242
%(51.3) %(31.9) %(4.6)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Airport posted an increase in net position for the 2021 fiscal year.

 Operating revenues decreased by 25.2% from $175.3 million in 2020 to $131.2 million in 2021.  

 Operating expenses before depreciation decreased by 10.0% from $105.6 million in 2020 to $95.0

million in 2021. 

 Operating income before depreciation decreased by 48.1% from $69.7 million in 2020 to $36.1

million in 2021.  

 Depreciation decreased by 4.1% from $55.4 million in 2020 to $53.1 million in 2021.
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 The above resulted in an operating income before nonoperating revenues and expenses of $14.3

million in 2020 and an operating loss before nonoperating revenues and expenses of $17.0 million in

2021.

 Nonoperating revenues, net of nonoperating expenses, increased 178.1% from $22.5 million net

operating expenses in 2020 to $17.6 million net operating revenues in 2021.

 Capital contributions earned in the form of grants from the federal government increased by 290.9%

from $3.1 million in 2020 to $12.0 million in 2021 mainly due to grants for the Aircraft Rescue and

Fire Fighting (ARFF) Facility.

 Change in net position from current year activities showed an increase of $12.6 million in 2021

compared to a decrease of $5.1 million in 2020. The one-time use of CARES and CRRSA Act

Grants funding, the decrease in net revenue sharing with participating airlines, the increase in capital

contributions, and the decrease in operating expenses were sufficient to offset the decrease in

operating revenues and investment income, the decrease in Passenger Facility Charges (PFC) and

Customer Facility Charges (CFC) revenues, all resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

 In addition, the Airport showed an increase in net position for the 2020 fiscal year.

 Operating revenues increased by 0.3% from $174.8 million in 2019 to $175.3 million in 2020.

 Operating expenses before depreciation increased by 4.8% from $100.8 million in 2019 to $105.6

million in 2020. 

 Operating income before depreciation decreased by 5.9% from $74.1 million in 2019 to $69.7

million in 2020.  

 Depreciation increased by 13.0% from $49.0 million in 2019 to $55.4 million in 2020.

 The above resulted in an operating income before nonoperating revenues and expenses of $25.0

million in 2019 and $14.3 million in 2020.

 Nonoperating expenses, net of nonoperating revenues, increased 55.2% from $14.5 million in 2019

to $22.5 million in 2020.

 Capital contributions earned in the form of grants from the federal government decreased from $18.7

million in 2019 to $3.1 million in 2020.

 Change in net position showed a decrease of $5.1 million in 2020 compared to an increase of $13.0

million in 2019. The combination of an increase in operating expenses, including an increase in

depreciation, a decrease in PFC and CFC revenues resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, and a

decrease in capital contributions was greater than the one-time distribution of the rate stabilization

fund and ten-year lookback in 2019. 
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HIGHLIGHTS IN CHANGES IN NET POSITION

The following table reflects a condensed summary of the changes in net position (in thousands) for fiscal
years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019:

2021 2020 2019

Operating revenues $ 131,162 $ 175,291 $ 174,828
Operating expenses before depreciation (95,019) (105,601) (100,766)
Operating income before depreciation 36,143 69,690 74,062
Depreciation (53,134) (55,383) (49,026)
Operating income (loss) (16,991) 14,307 25,036
Nonoperating revenues and expenses, net 17,577 (22,503) (14,498)
Income (loss) before capital contributions 586 (8,196) 10,538
Capital contributions 12,023 3,076 18,747
Special item - rate stabilization fund and ten-year

lookback distribution - - (16,266)
Change in net position 12,609 (5,120) 13,019

Net position - beginning 212,421 217,541 204,522

Net position - ending $ 225,030 $ 212,421 $ 217,541

NET POSITION SUMMARY

Net position serves over time as a useful indicator of the Airport’s financial position. The Airport’s assets
plus deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources by $225.0
million, $212.4 million, and $217.5 million at June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, a $12.6
million increase from June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021 and a $5.1 million decrease from June 30, 2019 to
June 30, 2020.
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A condensed summary of the Airport’s net position (in thousands) at June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 is as
follows:

2021 2020 2019
Assets:

Unrestricted assets $ 174,267 $ 171,287 $ 173,870
Restricted assets 113,184 155,979 173,584
Capital assets 1,274,183 1,289,890 1,305,205
Other assets 1,509 3,239 3,401

Total assets 1,563,143 1,620,395 1,656,060
Deferred outflows of resources:

Deferred outflows of resources related to pension 17,288 18,824 18,111
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 2,908 2,306 2,427
Loss on refunding of debt 11,516 7,639 8,128

Total deferred outflows of resources 31,712 28,769 28,666
Liabilities:

Current liabilities - unrestricted 70,767 82,642 84,728
Current liabilities - restricted 22,267 57,392 56,668
Noncurrent liabilities 1,273,230 1,293,578 1,322,553

Total liabilities 1,366,264 1,433,612 1,463,949
Deferred inflows of resources:

Deferred inflows of resources related to pension 1,919 996 61
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 1,642 2,134 3,175

Total deferred inflows of resources 3,561 3,130 3,236
Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 171,356 139,388 126,419
Restricted 27,539 44,795 61,897
Unrestricted 26,135 28,238 29,225

Net position $ 225,030 $ 212,421 $ 217,541

2021 versus 2020

Total liabilities declined 4.7%, or $67.3 million. Restricted current liabilities decreased $35.1 million due
the issuance of the Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2021A, 2021B, and 2021C (the 2021 ARBs)
in the amount of $428.1 million. The 2021 ARBs refunded all of the Airport Revenue Bonds Series
2011A-1, 2011A-2, 2011B, and a portion of the Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds (ARBs) Series
2014A, 2017A, and 2017B, in the aggregate principal amount of $473.6 million, which reduced the bond
principal due in FY 22 and accrued interest payable. Additional information about the Airport's revenue
bonds can be found in Note 5 to the financial statements. Unrestricted current liabilities declined 14.4%,
or $11.9 million, due to a reduction in accounts payable from unrestricted accounts, partially offset by an
increase in unearned revenues.  Noncurrent liabilities decreased 1.6%, or $20.3 million, due to decreases
in the bond payable balance and other postemployment benefits liability.  

Restricted assets declined 27.4%, or $42.8 million, from $156.0 million at June 30, 2020 to $113.2
million at June 30, 2021, due to a decrease in cash and investments held in City Treasury following the
decline in revenues resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, and a reduction in cash and investments held
by fiscal agents due to a decrease in the bond reserve requirements resulting from the bond refunding
completed in April 2021. 

Loss on refunding of debt increased 50.7%, or $3.9 million, from $7.6 million as June 30,  2020 to $11.5
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million at June 30, 2021, due to the issuance of the 2021 ARBs. 

Deferred outflows of resources related to pension decreased 8.2%, or $1.5 million, from $18.8 million at
June 30, 2020 to $17.3 million at June 30, 2021, which reflects the decreases in the changes of
assumptions, contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, differences between expected and
actual experience, and net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments.
Deferred outflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits (OPEB) increased 26.1%, or
$0.6 million, from $2.3 million at June 30, 2020 to $2.9 million at June 30, 2021, which reflects the
increase in net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments, and the
increase in contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, partially offset by decrease in the
changes in assumptions. Detailed information about the Federated City Employees' Retirement System,
which is a single employer defined benefit retirement system that covers substantially all benefited non-
sworn City employees, except for certain unrepresented employees, can be found in Note 7 to the
financial statements.

The largest portion of the Airport's net position, 76.1% and 65.6% at June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, represents its investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, improvements, and
equipment), less the debt outstanding used to acquire those capital assets and related deferred inflows and
outflows associated with that debt. The Airport uses these capital assets to provide services to its
passengers and visitors to the Airport; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.

A portion of the Airport’s net position represents amounts that are subject to restrictions under the Airline
Lease Agreement, the Master Trust Agreement,  the rental car agreement, and PFC revenues and CFC
revenues that are restricted by federal regulations and California Government Code Sections 50474.1-
50474.3, respectively.

2020 versus 2019

Restricted assets declined 10.1%, or $17.6 million, from $173.6 million at  June 30, 2019 to $156.0
million at  June 30, 2020, due to the spending of commercial paper proceeds towards the interim facility
and economy lot parking garage, and the decline of PFC revenues and CFC revenues due to the COVID-
19 pandemic.

Deferred outflows of resources related to pension increased from $18.1 million at June 30, 2019 to $18.8
million at June 30, 2020, which reflects the increase in the changes of assumptions and contributions
made subsequent to the measurement date, partially offset by the decreases in differences between
expected and actual experience and net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments.  Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB decreased from $2.4 million at June 30,
2019 to $2.3 million at June 30, 2020, which reflects the decreases in contributions made subsequent to
the measurement date and differences between expected and actual experience, partially offset by
increases in the changes in assumptions and net difference between projected and actual earnings on
OPEB plan investments. 

Total liabilities declined 2.1%, or $30.3 million. Noncurrent liabilities decreased 2.2%, or $29.0 million,
due to decreases in the bonds payable balance, partially offset by an increase in net pension liability.
Unrestricted current liabilities declined 2.5%, or $2.1 million, due to reductions of unearned revenues and
accounts payable from unrestricted accounts. Restricted current liabilities increased $0.7 million due to an
increase in bond principal due, partially offset by accounts payable due from restricted accounts and
accrued interest payable.

The largest portion of the Airport's net position 65.6% and 58.1% at June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, represents its investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, improvements, and
equipment), less the debt outstanding used to acquire those capital assets and related deferred inflows and
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outflows associated with that debt. The Airport uses these capital assets to provide services to its
passengers and visitors to the Airport; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.

A portion of the Airport’s net position represents amounts that are subject to restrictions under the Airline
Lease Agreement, the Master Trust Agreement,  the rental car agreement, and PFC revenues and CFC
revenues that are restricted by federal regulations and California Government Code Sections 50474.1-
50474.3, respectively.

REVENUES

The following chart reflects the major sources and the percentage of operating revenues for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021: 

As illustrated in the above chart, airline terminal rental revenue, represents 47.3% of the total operating
revenues. 

The next largest category is parking and roadway revenue, which represents 19.2% of the total operating
revenues. Parking and roadway revenues include public parking, utility and concession fees from rental
cars, employee parking, Transportation Network Companies (TNCs), taxicab and other ground
transportation fees, and facility and ground rents from rental car companies for use of the Consolidated
Rental Car Facility (ConRAC) located at the Airport. Facility rent for the ConRAC will vary each year as
it is calculated under the terms of the rental car agreement: an amount equal to the sum of annual debt
service and coverage amounts and reserve fund requirements, less estimated CFC revenues, is allocated to
each rental car company based upon that company’s percentage occupancy of the ConRAC. In addition,
each rental car company’s share of operating costs for the transportation system is charged to each of the
rental car companies. In the event that CFC revenues exceed the sum of annual debt service plus coverage
amounts and reserve fund requirements, each rental car company’s share of any such CFC revenues will
be deducted from its share of operating costs for the transportation system.  In the event that CFC
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revenues remain after CFC revenues are deducted from each company’s share of operating costs for the
transportation system, the Airport may, in its sole discretion, deduct each rental car company’s share of
any such CFC revenues from its share of demolition costs, as calculated under the terms of the rental car
agreement. The Airport had previously determined that it should identify the specific rental car customers
who used the transportation system in order to apply the CFC revenues to cover transportation costs.
However, upon further consultation with the rental car companies, the Airport and the rental car
companies have agreed that the Airport may apply the CFC revenues to cover transportation costs, which
are a component of CFC eligible ConRAC expenses, without first identifying the specific rental car
customers who used the transportation system. In FY 21, the Airport did not recognize any CFC revenues
for transportation costs.

Landing fees from passenger and cargo carriers represent 12.9% of the total operating revenues.

Revenues from terminal buildings/concessions, which came in at 8.5% of total operating revenues,
include food and beverage, news and gift shops, advertising, and telephony fees. Fees for the use of the
Federal Inspection Service facility and rental of space, other than airline space, are also included in this
category. 

General aviation/other revenues are 8.2% of total operating revenues and are comprised of rents for
aircraft hangars, aircraft parking spaces, building and land rentals, fingerprinting fees, and fees for tenant
plan reviews, which are calculated on a cost recovery basis.

The remaining categories, airfield and fuel handling fees represent 2.6% and 1.3%, respectively, of the
total operating revenues. The airfield area category is comprised of air carrier parking fees, fees from the
in-flight kitchen services, and fees from ground service providers.  Fuel handling fees include sales of
diesel, unleaded, and propane, as well as jet flowage fees, a fee charged to operators for engaging in the
activity of retail sales of aviation fuel petroleum products.
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A summary of revenues (in thousands) for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 is as
follows:

2021 2020 2019
Operating revenues:

Landing fees $ 16,933 $ 21,682 $ 18,984

Terminal rental 62,005 62,690 42,815

Terminal buildings/concessions 11,120 20,623 23,717

Airfield 3,454 6,535 8,340

Parking and roadway 25,244 50,973 64,507

Fuel handling fees 1,722 2,289 2,930

General aviation/other 10,684 10,499 10,773

Customer facility charges for transportation costs - - 2,762

Total operating revenues 131,162 175,291 174,828

Nonoperating revenues:

Passenger facility charges 9,378 20,456 29,735

Customer facility charges for debt service 6,539 15,394 18,704

Investment income 1,236 11,266 9,893

Operating grants 619 486 720

CARES Act Airport Grants 53,538 - -

CRRSA Act Airport Grants 1,647 - -

Other, net 1,846 913 1,045

Total nonoperating revenues 74,803 48,515 60,097

Capital contributions 12,023 3,076 18,747

Total revenues $ 217,988 $ 226,882 $ 253,672

2021 versus 2020

Total operating revenues decreased by 25.2% from $175.3 million in 2020 to $131.2 million in 2021.

Landing fees decreased 21.9%, or $4.7 million, due to a decrease in air activity.  Although the landing fee
rate increased from $2.87 to $4.30 per thousand pounds for the first seven months of the year and
adjusted to $4.95 per thousand pounds in February 2021, the increase was not sufficient to offset the large
landed weights decrease year-over-year from 7.8 billion pounds to 3.9 billion pounds due to the decrease
in passenger activity resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Terminal rental revenues decreased 1.1%, or $0.7 million, due to a decrease in common use gates and
ticket counters, partially offset by an increase in the preferential ticket counter annual rate.  Common use
revenues are generated primarily by international carriers. The budgeted rate for preferential ticket
counters increased from $251,675 per counter in 2020 to an average rate of $301,614 per counter in 2021.

Terminal buildings/concessions posted a decrease of 46.1%, or $9.5 million, primarily due to the decrease
in passenger activity and the MAG waiver to non-airline tenants, including food and beverage
concessionaires and retail concessionaires. Instead of paying the monthly MAG, the concessionaires paid
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an activity-based percentage rent.

Airfield revenues decreased by 47.2%, or $3.1 million, mainly due to the decrease in passenger activity
and MAG waiver to non-airline tenants, including an in-flight kitchen tenant. Instead of paying the
monthly MAG, the in-flight kitchen company paid an activity-based percentage rent.

Parking and roadway revenues were down by 50.5%, or $25.7 million, mainly due to a decrease in public
parking revenues, rental car concessions, and ground transportation revenues, including TNC trip fee
revenues, resulting from the decrease in passenger activity and the MAG waiver to rental car companies.
Instead of paying the monthly MAG, the rental car concessionaires paid an activity-based percentage rent.

Fuel handling fees fell by 24.7%, or $0.6 million. The main contributors to the decrease were a decrease
in air activity and elimination of CNG fuel sales after June 2020.

PFC revenues are the charges to eligible passengers enplaning at the Airport. The Airport may use these
fees to fund certain FAA approved projects and associated debt service. PFC revenues declined by 54.2%,
or $11.1 million, reflective of the decline in passenger activity.

CFC revenues are the charges to customers of rental car companies at the Airport in accordance with
California Government Code Sections 50474.1-50474.3 to help pay for capital costs and related debt
service associated with the ConRAC and certain operating expenses related to the transportation of rental
car customers between the terminals and the ConRAC. Total CFC revenues declined 57.5%, or $8.9
million, from the 2020 level, reflective of the Airport's 62.7% passenger traffic decline due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.  The decline in CFC revenues was partially offset by an increase to the CFC rate,
effective April 1, 2021, from $7.50 to $9.00 per day, up to a maximum of five days per rental car
contract.

Investment income in 2021 decreased by 89.0%, or $10.0 million, to $1.2 million, mainly due to higher
unrealized losses, lower interest rates, and lower average cash and investment balances. 

In May 2020, the Airport was awarded $65.6 million in federal CARES Act funds.  The Airport received
reimbursements total $53.5 million in FY 21.

In March 2021, the Airport was awarded $13.4 million in CRRSA Act funds.  An additional $1.6 million
in CRRSA Act funds were awarded to provide relief from rent and MAG to on-airport car rental, on-
airport parking, and in-terminal airport concession.  The Airport received reimbursements totaling $1.6
million in FY 21.

Capital contributions earned during 2021 pertained to grant reimbursements from the FAA, mainly for the
ARFF Facility, which increased 290.9%, or $8.9 million, from $3.1 million in 2020 to $12.0 million in
2021.  

2020 versus 2019

Total operating revenues increased by 0.3% from $174.8 million in 2019 to $175.3 million in 2020.  

Landing fees increased 14.2%, or $2.7 million, due to an increase in the landing fee rate.  Although the
landing fee rate increased from $2.18 to $2.87 per thousand pounds, landed weights decreased year-over-
year from 9.2 billion pounds to 7.8 billion pounds due to the decrease in passenger activity.

Terminal rental revenues increased 46.4%, or $19.9 million, mainly due to an increase in the average
terminal rental rate.  The budgeted rate for terminal space increased from an average of $183.78 per
square foot in 2019 to $268.31 per square foot in 2020.  The terminal rate increase was partially due to
calculation methodology changes, where the Terminal true-up and Revenue Sharing no longer rolled into
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the subsequent years rates, starting in FY 20.

Terminal buildings/concessions posted a decrease of 13.1%, or $3.1 million, primarily due to the decrease
in passenger activity and the MAG waiver to non-airline tenants, including food and beverage
concessionaires and retail concessionaires.  Instead of paying the monthly MAG for April through June
2020, the concessionaires paid an activity-based percentage rent.

Airfield revenues decreased by 21.6%, or $1.8 million, mainly due to the decrease in passenger activity
and the MAG waiver to non-airline tenants, including an in-flight kitchen tenant.  Instead of paying the
monthly MAG for April through June 2020, the concessionaire paid an activity-based percentage rent.

Parking and roadway revenues were down by 21.0%, or $13.5 million, mainly due to a decrease in public
parking revenues and TNC trip fee revenues resulting from the decrease in passenger activity.

PFC revenues declined by 31.2%, or $9.3 million, reflective of the decline in passenger activity.

Investment income in 2020 increased by 13.9%, or $1.4 million, to $11.3 million, mainly due to higher
unrealized gains, interest rates and higher cash and investment balances.

Total CFC revenues declined 28.3% or $6.1 million, from the 2019 level, reflective of the Airport's 24.2%
passenger traffic  decline and presence of TNC levels before the COVID-19 pandemic.

Capital contributions earned during 2020 pertained to grant reimbursements from the FAA, mainly for the
ARFF Facility and airfield electrical circuit rehabilitation, which decreased 83.6%, or $15.7 million, from
$18.7 million in 2019 to $3.1 million in 2020. 
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EXPENSES

The following chart reflects the major cost centers as a percentage of operating expenses for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2021:

A summary of expenses (in thousands) for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 is as
follows:

2021 2020 2019
Operating expenses:

Terminal buildings/concessions $ 38,346 $ 41,025 $ 37,372
Airfield 22,096 21,912 20,062
Parking and roadway 12,321 16,761 15,837
Fuel handling costs 63 27 69
General aviation 962 1,717 2,383
General and administrative 21,231 24,159 25,042
Depreciation 53,134 55,383 49,026

Total operating expenses 148,153 160,984 149,791

Nonoperating expenses:
Participating airline net revenue sharing 1,325 11,910 13,944
Interest expense 53,649 59,108 60,381
Bond issuance costs 2,239 - -
Loss on capital assets disposal 13 - 271

Total nonoperating expenses 57,226 71,018 74,596

Special item - rate stabilization fund and ten-year
lookback distribution - - 16,266

Total expenses $ 205,379 $ 232,002 $ 240,653
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)
Management's Discussion and Analysis

(Unaudited)

2021 versus 2020

Operating expenses in 2021 decreased 8.0%, or $12.8 million, from $161.0 million in 2020 to $148.2
million in 2021, due to decreases in non-personnel costs, pension expense, OPEB expense, and
depreciation expense, partially offset by an increase in expenses related to noncapitalized projects and
increase in public safety expenses.

Depreciation expense decreased $2.3 million from $55.4 million in 2020 to $53.1 million in 2021 due to a
correction to the useful live of vehicles.

Nonoperating expenses in 2021 decreased by $13.8 million due to a decrease in the airline net revenue
sharing and interest expense, partially offset by an increase in bond issuance costs resulting from bond
refunding completed in April 2021.

2020 versus 2019

Operating expenses in 2020 increased 7.5%, or $11.2 million, from $149.8 million in 2019 to $161.0
million in 2020, due to increases in depreciation expense, OPEB expense, salaries and fringe benefits,
higher costs for public safety employees, and pension expense, partially offset by a decrease in expenses
related to noncapitalized projects. 

Depreciation expense increased $6.4 million from $49.0 million in  2019 to $55.4 million in 2020 due to
the $57.4 million Interim Facility placed in service in June 2019.

OPEB expense increased $4.4 million due to the actual impact of changes to benefit terms.

Salaries and fringe benefits increased $2.7 million from $31.3 million in 2019 to $34.0 million in 2020
due to additional staff and cost of living allowance adjustments.

Costs of public safety personnel increased $1.1 million from $16.1 million in  2019 to $17.2 million in
2020 due to the higher salaries and benefits.

Nonoperating expenses in  2020 decreased by $3.6 million due a decrease in the airline net revenue
sharing and interest expense. 

The Airport recorded $16.3 million in 2019 as a special item pertaining to the rate stabilization fund and
ten-year lookback distribution.

CAPITAL ACQUISITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

The Airport expended $41.8 million on both capitalized and noncapitalizable capital activities in FY 21
and $41.5 million in 2020. Major capital projects in 2021 included the economy lot parking garage and
the ARFF Facility. Major capital projects in 2020 included the economy lot parking garage, Interim
Facility, ARFF Facility, airfield electric circuit rehabilitation, network replacement, and  parking
accessibility upgrade. 

As of June 30, 2021, the Airport was obligated for purchase commitments relating to capital projects of
approximately $15.7 million primarily for the ARFF Facility and a planned upgrade to the Airport's
Parking Revenue Control System. Detailed information about capital assets can be found in Note 3 to the
financial statements.
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OUTSTANDING DEBT

Subordinated Commercial Paper (CP) Notes

The Subordinated CP Notes debt is a form of variable rate debt with a maturity between 1 to 270 days. As
of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the total amount of Subordinated CP Notes outstanding totaled $51.9 million.
$3.0 million of Subordinated CP Notes were issued to the Airport in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.
The Airport paid principal of $3.3 million during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. There were no new
CP issuances or principal payments in FY 21.

As of June 30, 2021, the Subordinated CP Notes were supported by the $81.7 million letter of credit
issued by Bank of America to cover the principal amount of $75.0 million and interest. 

Additional information about the Airport’s commercial paper program can be found in Note 4 and Note
11 to the financial statements.

Revenue Bonds

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Airport had total outstanding revenue bonds of $1,048.9 million and
$1,127.7 million, respectively. In April 2021,  the Airport Revenue Bonds Series 2011A-1, 2011A-2, and
2011B bonds and a portion of the ARBs Series  2014A, 2017A, and 2017B were refunded in the amount
of $428.1 million with the issuance of the 2021 ARBs. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and
2020, the Airport paid principal of $506.8 million and $31.0 million, respectively. 

Additional information about the Airport’s revenue bonds can be found in Note 5 to the financial
statements.

Credit Ratings

As of June 30, 2021, the underlying ratings of the outstanding ARBs were “A-”, “A2” and “A” by S&P
Global Ratings (S&P), Moody’s Investors Service (Moody's), and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch),
respectively. S&P and Moody's both had a stable outlook while Fitch had a negative outlook as of June
30, 2021. 

On August 3, 2021, Fitch upgraded the ARBs outlook from negative to stable, while the rating remained
at "A."

AIRLINE RATES AND CHARGES

The Airport entered into an Airline-Airport Lease and Operating Agreement (Airline Lease Agreement)
with the various passenger and cargo airlines serving the Airport, effective July 1, 2019. The Airline
Lease Agreement has an initial term of ten years and is set to expire on June 30, 2029. The term of this
Airline Lease Agreement may be extended for two consecutive five-year renewal periods by the mutual
written agreement of the Passenger Carriers and the Airport. 

The key provisions in the current Airline Lease Agreement include compensatory rate making for the
terminal cost center and residual rate making for the airfield cost center. The terminal rate per square foot
is calculated based on expenses allocable to the Terminal for each fiscal year divided by the total amount
of rentable terminal space. Should there be any remaining net revenues after all other obligations are
satisfied, the Passenger Carriers' (as defined in the Airline Lease Agreement) share of the remaining net
terminal revenues shall be distributed as a refund once a final accounting of the Airport's operations for
the last fiscal year has been completed. Final accounting must be provided by December 31st after the
close of each fiscal year, and the Airport shall remit payment within 30 days of the final accounting.
After the final accounting is completed, an invoice will be sent to the Passenger Carriers if the actual
expenses in the terminal were higher than the revenues. Invoices to Passenger Carriers are due within 30
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days of final accounting and shall be due and payable within 60 days of invoice date. The landing fee rate
is calculated by dividing the expenses allocable to the airfield, offset by airfield revenues, other than
landing fees, by the projected aggregated maximum gross landed weight (MGLW) for all aircraft at the
Airport during the fiscal year.  The aggregate credit or debit, if any, resulting from the final accounting
after each fiscal year shall be applied to the airfield revenue requirement for the following fiscal year. The
current Airline Lease Agreement includes a revenue sharing provision that is divided between the Airport
and the Signatory Passenger Carriers based on the terms of the Airline Lease Agreement, in the event
there are net remaining revenues generated at the Airport and all requirements of the Master Trust
Agreement and any Subordinated Financing Agreements have been satisfied, including the minimum rate
covenant requirement. The Signatory Passenger Carriers' portion of the revenue sharing shall be
distributed as a refund once the final accounting of the Airport's operations for the last fiscal year has
been completed.  For additional provisions included in the current Airline Lease Agreement, refer to Note
6 to the financial statements.

One of the provisions of the Airline Lease Agreement requires the airlines to make payments in addition
to the landing fees and terminal rents in any fiscal year where the airport is unable to satisfy the debt
service and debt service coverage requirements.

The budgeted rates and charges for the signatory (passenger and cargo) airlines for fiscal years 2021 and
2020 were as follows:

2021 2020

Landing fee (per 1,000 lbs MGLW) $ 4.30 $ 2.87
Terminal average rental rate (per square foot) 240.82 268.31
Adjusted Airline CPE (budgeted) 23.83 11.55

The FY 21 adjusted Airline cost per enplaned (CPE) passenger reflects the actual net terminal revenues
and Airlines portion of the net revenue sharing in accordance with the Airline Lease Agreement.

Terminal rental rates and airline landing fees for FY 22 have been developed as part of the annual budget
process. The rates and charges for signatory airlines for FY 22, which became effective July 1, 2021, are
as follows:

Landing fee (per 1,000 lbs MGLW) $ 4.00
Terminal average rental rates (per square foot) 208.98
Adjusted Airline CPE (budgeted) 21.98

The FY 22 adjusted Airline CPE reflects the forecasted net terminal revenues and Airlines portion of the
net revenue sharing in accordance with the Airline Lease Agreement.

After completion of the year-end closing and annual audit, the FY 21 actual net remaining revenues were
$8.6 million and will be allocated in accordance with the revenue sharing provisions of the Airline Lease
Agreement.  As noted in the financial statements, the Signatory Passenger Carriers net revenue sharing
portion was $1.3 million for FY 21.

OUTLOOK

The worldwide COVID-19 pandemic continues to significantly disrupt domestic and international air
travel. In FY 21, 4.2 million passengers traveled through the Airport compared to 11.3 million passengers
in FY 20.  The Airport is estimating 7.5 million passengers for FY 22.  (That is a 77.5% increase from FY
21 levels or a 33.8% decrease from FY 20 levels.)  In response to the projected declining revenues in FY
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22, Airport management is closely monitoring its operating budget costs and continues to look for ways to
increase non-airline revenues.  In addition, Airport management looked for opportunities to reduce the
near-term costs of its Capital Improvement Plan, defer projects where necessary or appropriate, and scale
ongoing and future projects appropriately in response to the rate of recovery of the air travel industry.  

The Airport included $12.1 million of CARES Act funding in its FY 22 budget after submitting $53.5
million in CARES Act reimbursement in FY 21. Included in the FY 22 budget are also the $13.4 million
in CRRSA Act funds awarded in March 2021 to the Airport.  Available for use are also funds from the
ARP Act. The Airport plans to use $24.7 million in ARP Act funds in FY 22, however the actual amount
may differ.  These funds are available to the Airport on a reimbursable basis for up to four years and will
be used to pay for operating expenses. In the event that actual enplanements are lower than projected or
operating expenses are higher than projected, under the Airline Lease Agreement the Airport is permitted
to make certain adjustments to airline landing fees and rents at mid-year or at such other time during the
fiscal year as the need for such an adjustment becomes apparent to the Airport. The Airport continues to
monitor the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the operations of the Airport, including factors such
as travel restrictions, passenger levels, liquidity, and other governmental financial aid.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

When used in this ACFR, the words or phrases “will likely result,” “are expected to,” “will continue,” “is
anticipated,” “estimate,” “project,” “forecast,” “expect,” “intend,” and similar expressions identify
“forward-looking statements,” but are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements
in the ACFR. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those contemplated in such forward-looking statements. Any forecast is subject to such
uncertainties. Inevitably, some assumptions used to develop the forecasts will not be realized and
unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. Therefore, there are likely to be differences between
forecasts and actual results, and those differences may be material.

Readers are urged not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as
of the date of this ACFR.  The Airport undertakes no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking
statements in order to reflect any event or circumstance that may arise after the date of the ACFR.

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide readers with a general overview of the Airport’s finances for
all those interested. All summaries of documents contained in this ACFR are made subject to the
provisions of such documents and do not purport to be complete statements of any or all such provisions.
Each reference in this ACFR to a document is qualified in its entirety by reference to such document,
which is on file with the Airport or with the City. 

Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or request for additional information
should be addressed in writing to the Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport, 1701 Airport
Blvd., Suite B1130, San José, CA 95110 or to the Director of Finance, 200 East Santa Clara Street, 13th

Floor, San José, CA, 95113.
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(Continued)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020

Assets
Current assets: 

Unrestricted assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments held in City Treasury (Note 2) $ 157,414,353 $ 155,829,484

Receivables:
Accounts, net of allowance for uncollectible accounts of $719,770

in 2021 and $551,299 in 2020 11,450,152 12,804,325
Accrued interest 560,082 885,527
Grants 4,619,775 1,561,139

Prepaid expenses, advances, and deposits 223,054 206,766

Total unrestricted assets 174,267,416 171,287,241

Restricted assets:
Equity in pooled cash and investments held in City Treasury (Note 2) 25,734,032 49,994,086
Cash and investments held by the fiscal agents (Note 2) 84,459,514 103,850,552
Receivables:

Accounts, net of allowance for uncollectible accounts of $745
in 2021 and $15,000 in 2020 2,897,386 1,596,346

Accrued interest 61,769 443,077
Prepaid expenses, advances, and deposits 11,385 1,619
Current portion of prepaid bond insurance 19,970 93,124

Total restricted assets 113,184,056 155,978,804

Total current assets 287,451,472 327,266,045

Noncurrent assets: 
Capital assets (Note 3):

Nondepreciable 113,312,473 126,419,022
Depreciable assets, net of accumulated depreciation 1,160,870,601 1,163,471,139

Total capital assets 1,274,183,074 1,289,890,161

Advances and deposits 1,179,927 1,390,575
Prepaid bond insurance, less current portion 328,798 1,848,179

Total noncurrent assets 1,275,691,799 1,293,128,915

Total assets 1,563,143,271 1,620,394,960

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows of resources:

Deferred outflows of resources related to pension (Note 7) 17,287,485 18,823,585
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB (Note 7) 2,908,054 2,305,823
Loss on refunding of debt 11,515,987 7,639,155

Total deferred outflows of resources $ 31,711,526 $ 28,768,563

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Statements of Net Position
 June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020

Liabilities
Current liabilities: 

Payable from unrestricted assets:
Accounts payable $ 6,614,117 $ 22,358,203
Accrued salaries, wages, and payroll taxes 1,650,643 1,532,867
Accrued vacation, sick leave, and compensatory time, current (Note 5) 1,846,999 1,975,000
Advances and deposits payable 1,746,090 1,897,881
Unearned revenues 6,335,516 2,290,885
Estimated liability for self-insurance, current (Notes 5 and 9) 633,500 633,500
Accrued interest payable 10,671 23,340
Commercial paper notes payable (Note 4) 51,930,000 51,930,000

Total payable from unrestricted assets 70,767,536 82,641,676

   Payable from restricted assets: 
Accounts payable 112,728 124,227
Unearned revenues 28,201 353,878
Accrued interest payable 14,039,501 20,123,927
Current portion of bonds payable, net of unamortized discount/premium (Note 5) 8,086,082 36,790,324

Total payable from restricted assets 22,266,512 57,392,356

Total current liabilities 93,034,048 140,034,032

Noncurrent liabilities:
Bonds payable, less current portion and net of unamortized discount/premium (Note 5) 1,138,786,123 1,157,993,309
Estimated liability for self-insurance, noncurrent (Notes 5 and 9) 1,841,267 2,046,853
Accrued vacation, sick leave, and compensatory time, noncurrent (Note 5) 589,704 581,722
Net pension liability (Note 7) 113,362,614 112,614,873
Net OPEB liability (Note 7) 18,650,020 20,341,520

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,273,229,728 1,293,578,277

Total liabilities 1,366,263,776 1,433,612,309

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows of resources:

Deferred inflows of resources related to pension (Note 7) 1,919,009 996,311
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB (Note 7) 1,642,133 2,133,536

Total deferred inflows of resources 3,561,142 3,129,847

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 171,356,369 139,387,928
Restricted:

Per Airline Lease Agreement for Airline revenue sharing 431,339 9,768,008
Per Master Trust Agreement for rolling debt service coverage 16,976,536 16,731,846
California Government Code Sections 50474.1-50474.3 for Customer Facility Charges 1,557,921 4,651,396
Future debt service (Note 1(j)) 8,572,329 13,644,028

Unrestricted 26,135,385 28,238,161

Total net position $ 225,029,879 $ 212,421,367

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Exhibit II
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020

Operating revenues: 
Airline rates and charges:

Landing fees $ 16,932,835 $ 21,682,500
Terminal rental 62,005,014 62,689,544

Total airline rates and charges 78,937,849 84,372,044

Terminal buildings/concessions 11,120,432 20,623,495
Airfield 3,453,548 6,534,655
Parking and roadway 25,244,049 50,972,941
Fuel handling fees 1,722,485 2,288,616
General aviation/other 10,683,863 10,499,275

Total operating revenues 131,162,226 175,291,026

Operating expenses: 
Terminal buildings/concessions 38,346,289 41,025,389
Airfield 22,095,802 21,912,191
Parking and roadway 12,321,022 16,760,739
Fuel handling costs 63,422 26,607
General aviation 962,139 1,716,754
General and administrative 21,230,961 24,159,104
Depreciation 53,133,886 55,382,980

Total operating expenses 148,153,521 160,983,764

Operating income (loss) (16,991,295) 14,307,262

Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 
Passenger facility charges 9,377,532 20,456,342
Customer facility charges for debt service 6,538,690 15,393,630
Participating airline net revenue sharing (Note 1(i)) (1,324,554) (11,909,916)
Investment income 1,235,940 11,265,332
Interest expense (53,649,337) (59,108,078)
Bond issuance costs (2,239,414) -
Operating grants 619,491 486,364
Loss on capital assets disposal (12,465) -
CARES Act Airport Grants (Note 10) 53,538,164 -
CRRSA Act Airport Grants (Note 10) 1,646,602 -
Other, net 1,845,883 913,280

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses), net 17,576,532 (22,503,046)

Income (loss) before capital contributions 585,237 (8,195,784)
Capital contributions 12,023,275 3,076,100

Change in net position 12,608,512 (5,119,684)

Net position - beginning 212,421,367 217,541,051

Net position - ending $ 225,029,879 $ 212,421,367

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Statements of Cash Flows
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers and users $ 133,127,920 $ 170,139,551
Payments to suppliers (34,895,465) (39,210,584)
Payments to employees (35,879,949) (34,988,219)
Payments for City services (24,123,734) (23,566,311)
Payments to airlines (11,909,916) (13,943,476)
Claims paid (156,507) (110,280)
Other receipts 1,921,968 1,006,399

Net cash provided by operating activities 28,084,317 59,327,080

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Nonoperating grants 53,538,164 -
Operating grants 690,891 414,964

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 54,229,055 414,964

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Purchases of capital assets (39,104,627) (38,140,109)
Principal payments on bonds payable (33,205,000) (31,040,000)
Interest paid (60,814,611) (62,875,686)
Capital grants 10,539,842 3,912,133
Passenger facility charges received 7,311,694 23,390,470
Customer facility charges received 6,977,811 15,911,639
Bond proceeds (excluding amount placed in escrow) 28,666,228 -
Payment for redemption of bonds (with prior bond reserves) (44,380,908) -
Bond issuance costs paid (2,239,414) -
Prepaid bond insurance (283,950) -
Proceeds from commercial paper - 3,000,000
Principal payments on commercial paper - (3,286,000)
Advances and deposits received 210,648 69,606

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (126,322,287) (89,057,947)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 150,240,544 33,593,517
Puchases of investments (145,662,936) (13,259,403)
Investment income received 2,337,354 10,824,608

Net cash provided by investing activities 6,914,962 31,158,722

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (37,093,953) 1,842,819

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning 289,082,749 287,239,930

Cash and cash equivalents - ending $ 251,988,796 $ 289,082,749

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Statements of Cash Flows
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss) $ (16,991,295) $ 14,307,262
Adjustment to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided by operating

activities:
Depreciation 53,133,886 55,382,980
Participating airline net revenue sharing (1,324,554) (11,909,916)
Other revenues 1,921,968 1,006,402
Decrease (increase) in:

Accounts receivable 1,354,173 (1,716,873)
Prepaid expenses, advances, and deposits (26,055) (103,548)

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (14,092,465) (3,089,308)
Advances and deposits payable (151,791) 51,036
Unearned revenues 4,044,631 (1,535,241)
Estimated liability for self-insurance (205,586) 146,010
Net pension liability, deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to pension 3,206,539 7,350,716
Net OPEB liability, deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to OPEB (2,785,134) (562,440)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 28,084,317 $ 59,327,080

Noncash noncapital financing activities:
Decrease (increase) in operating grants receivable $ 71,400 $ (71,400)
Increase in nonoperating grants receivable (1,646,602) -

Noncash capital and related financing activities:
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable related to acquisition of capital assets $ (1,665,360) $ 1,928,540
Decrease (increase) in capital grants receivables (1,483,433) 836,033
Decrease (increase) in fair value of investments held by the fiscal agents 394,661 (865,558)
Loss on capital assets disposal (12,465) -
Amortization of bond discount/premium/prepaid bond insurance 4,087,370 3,492,199
Amortization of deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to bond refunding (460,113) (488,422)
Bond refunding proceeds placed in escrow 434,548,063 -
Bond defeased from escrow (434,548,063) -

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the statements of net position
Equity in pooled cash and investments held in City Treasury

Unrestricted $ 157,414,353 $ 155,383,627
Restricted 25,734,032 49,994,086

Investments held by the fiscal agents classified as cash equivalents 68,840,411 83,259,179

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 251,988,796 $ 288,636,892

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

24



NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2021 and 2020

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Description of Reporting Entity

The Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport (Airport) had its beginning in 1945 with the lease
of approximately 16 acres of farmland to Mr. James Nissen. Mr. Nissen and his associates formed an
operating company, which undertook the construction of a 1,900-foot runway, a hangar, and an office
building. Flight operations were initiated in 1946. In the fall of 1948, the City of San José (City) assumed
responsibility for the operation of San José Municipal Airport, which was renamed San José International
Airport in 1984 with the addition of airline service to Canada. In 2001, the San José International Airport
was renamed the Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport.

The Airport is operated as a department of the City and is accounted for as a self-supporting enterprise
fund in the basic financial statements of the City. The eleven members of the City Council serve as the
governing body that oversees the operation of the Airport. The financial statements of the Airport are
intended to present the activity of the City that is attributable to the transactions of the Airport. They do
not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City as of June 30, 2021 and 2020,
the changes in its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the fiscal years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

A variety of federal, state and local laws, agreements, and regulations govern the operations at the
Airport. The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) has general jurisdiction over flying operations,
including personnel, aircraft, ground facilities, and other technical matters, as well as certain
environmental matters. Pursuant to the Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982 and other statutes,
the City is constrained from transferring Airport revenues to its General Fund. This restriction is
embodied in the federal grant agreements entered into by the City. Additionally, federal laws govern the
reasonableness of fees that may be charged for the use of Airport facilities, Airport noise limits, and
impose certain other restrictions on the City and Airport operations.

(b) Basis of Presentation - Fund Accounting

The accounts of the Airport are organized on the basis of a proprietary fund type, specifically an
enterprise fund. The activities of this fund are accounted for with a set of self-balancing accounts that
comprise the Airport’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net
position, revenues, and expenses. Enterprise funds account for activities (i) that are financed with debt
that is secured solely by a pledge of the net revenues from fees and charges of the activity; or (ii) that are
required by laws or regulations that the activity’s cost of providing services, including capital costs (such
as depreciation or debt service), be recovered with fees and charges, rather than with taxes or similar
revenues; or (iii) where the pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to recover
its costs, including capital costs (such as depreciation or debt service).

Document Summaries:  All summaries of documents contained in the notes to the financial statements are
made subject to the provisions of such documents and do not purport to be complete statements of any or
all such provisions. Each reference is qualified in its entirety by reference to such document, which is on
file with or may be obtained by contacting the City’s Finance Department, 200 East Santa Clara Street,
13th Floor, San José, CA, 95113.

(c) Basis of Accounting and Estimates

(i) The Airport prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP), which provide that revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded
when incurred. Grants are recorded as revenues when all eligibility requirements have been
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2021 and 2020

met. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(ii) Enterprise funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with an enterprise fund’s principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the Airport’s enterprise fund are charges to customers for use
of property and for services provided. Operating expenses include the cost of services,
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

(iii) Under the terms of grant agreements, the Airport funds certain programs with specific cost-
reimbursement grants.  Thus, when program expenses are incurred, there are both restricted
and unrestricted net position available to finance the program.

(d) Cash and Investments

Cash balances of the Airport, as well as other related entities, are pooled and invested by the City. The
Airport’s portion of this pool is displayed on the statement of net position as “Equity in pooled cash and
investments held in City Treasury.” Income earned or losses arising from pooled investments are
allocated on a monthly basis by the City Treasury to the Airport based on the average weekly cash
balances.

The Airport reports its investments in investment agreements at cost and all other investments are
reported at fair value in the accompanying financial statements and the corresponding change in fair value
of investments is reported in the year in which the change occurred.

Pooled cash and investments in the City Treasury are considered to be cash and cash equivalents for
purposes of the accompanying statements of cash flows. Pooled cash and investments represent deposits
and investments held in the City’s cash management pool. This cash management pool possesses the
characteristics of a demand deposit account, therefore, investments in this pool are considered to be cash
equivalents. The Airport also considers all highly liquid restricted investments with a maturity of three
months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

(e) Capital Assets

Capital assets are defined as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $5,000 for general capital
assets and $100,000 for major infrastructure assets, and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.
Capital assets are carried at cost, with the exception of donated capital assets, donated works of art and
similar items, and capital assets received in a service concession agreement, which are reported at
acquisition value. Certain property acquisition costs incurred in accordance with the California Noise
Reduction Act have been capitalized in the land account in prior years. The purchase of land included
movable structures that had to be removed for the land to be usable for the Airport’s purposes. 

Intangible assets, which are identifiable, are recorded as capital assets. The Airport has identified certain
habitational rights and aviation/relocation easements acquired in connection with the California Noise
Reduction Act as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. Intangible assets not having indefinite
useful lives will be amortized over the estimated service capacity of the asset.

Maintenance, repairs, and minor replacements are expended as incurred. Major replacements that extend
the useful life of the related assets are capitalized. No depreciation is provided on construction in progress
until construction is substantially complete and the asset is placed in service.
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Depreciation of capital assets is computed using the straight-line method at various rates considered
adequate to allocate costs over the estimated useful lives of such assets.  The estimated lives by general
classification are as follows:

Years

Buildings and improvements 5 - 40

Equipment 4 - 20

(f) Capitalization of Interest

Interest costs related to the acquisition of buildings and improvements acquired with debt are capitalized.
The amount of interest to be capitalized is calculated by offsetting interest expense incurred from the date
of the borrowing until completion of the project, with interest earned on invested debt proceeds over the
same period.  Capitalized interest cost is prorated to completed projects based on the completion date of
each project.  The Airport did not capitalize interest during fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

(g) Bond Issuance Costs, Bond Discounts/Premiums, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
on Refunding

Bond issuance costs related to prepaid insurance costs are capitalized and amortized using the straight-
line method. Other bond issuance costs are expensed when incurred.  Original issue bond discount or
premium are offset against the related debt and are also amortized using the straight-line method.
Deferred outflows/inflows of resources from refunding of debt are recognized as a component of interest
expense using the straight-line method over the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt,
whichever is shorter.

(h)Operating Grants and Capital Contributions

Certain expenditures for Airport capital improvements and Airport safety and security operations are
significantly funded through the Airport Improvement Program of the FAA, with certain matching funds
provided by the Airport. Funding provided under government grants is considered earned as the related
allowable expenditures are incurred.

Grants awarded by the Transportation Security Administration to reimburse the Airport for safety and
security costs are reported in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position as
nonoperating revenues. Grants for capital asset acquisition, facility development, and rehabilitation are
reported as capital contributions, after nonoperating revenues and expenses.

(i) Airline Rates and Charge

The City and the Passenger Carriers are operating under the Airline-Airport Lease and Operating
Agreement (Airline Lease Agreement) effective July 1, 2019.  The agreement includes provisions for a
true-up of the terminal and airfield cost centers based on the actual results, as well as a revenue sharing
provision. The amounts calculated for the airfield true-up are rolled into the following year's airline rates
and charges calculations. For the terminal true-up and revenue sharing the City will: (a) pay these
amounts to the Passenger Carriers if there is any overpayment; or (b) bill these amounts to the Passenger
Carriers if there is an underpayment. The Passenger Carrier portion of the terminal is cost-recovery;
therefore the true-up is an adjustment so that the actual terminal rentals paid by the Passenger Carriers
match the operating costs incurred by the City in that cost center. As a result, the City records the terminal
true-up as operating revenues. The revenue sharing provision relates to the Airport cost centers and
provides for a split of any net remaining revenues between the City and the Signatory Passenger Carriers
based on the terms provided for in the Airline Lease Agreement. Since the sharing of net revenues is not a
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cost of providing airport services, the City records the revenue sharing amount as nonoperating expenses.

(j) Passenger Facility Charges

Passenger Facility Charges (PFC) revenues are recorded as nonoperating revenue in the year they are
collected by the air carriers from the sale of air travel tickets and remitted to the Airport in accordance
with Airport regulations. At June 30, 2021 and 2020, accumulated PFC funds amounted to $8,572,329
and $13,644,028, respectively, and are reported as restricted for future debt service in the restricted net
position category of the Airport’s statements of net position.

Under the Airport’s Master Trust Agreement (MTA), the Airport may for any period elect to designate
any PFC funds as “Available PFC Revenues” by filing with the Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A. (Fiscal Agent) a written statement designating the amount of such Available PFC
Revenues and containing a statement that the Available PFC Revenues are legally available to be applied
to pay bond debt service during such period. Amounts of $14,338,705 and $27,479,274 from accumulated
PFC funds had been designated as Available PFC Revenues for payment of eligible bond debt service in
fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

(k) Customer Facility Charges

Customer Facility Charges (CFC) revenues are the charges to customers of rental car companies at the
Airport in accordance with California Government Code Sections 50474.1-50474.3 to help pay for capital
costs and related debt service associated with the Consolidated Rental Car Facility (ConRAC) and certain
operating expenses related to the transportation of rental car customers between terminals and the
ConRAC. CFC revenues are recorded as operating and nonoperating revenues. As of April 1, 2021, the
rate charged per rental car day was increased from $7.50 to $9.00 up to a maximum of five days per
rental. CFC revenues are recorded as nonoperating revenues to the extent of the annual debt service on
the Airport Revenue Bonds Series 2011B (Series 2011B Bonds), which were fully refunded by Airport
Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2021C (Series 2021C Bonds) in April 2021 as described in Long-Term
Obligations, Note 5, to the financial statements. Excess Facility Rent payments if available, (as defined in
the On-Airport Rental Car Operations Agreement) may be deposited in a Rent Stabilization Fund, up to
$1.0 million, and available to reduce Facility Rent in future years. Transportation costs due from the
rental car companies in FY 20 were partly covered by using the $1.0 million in the Rent Stabilization
Fund. The Airport did not expend CFC revenues on the transportation costs in the fiscal years ended June
30, 2021 and June 30, 2020. The Airport may make additional deposits into the Rate Stabilization Fund
once the balance falls below the $1.0 million limit. There were no deposits made to the Rate Stabilization
Fund in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020.

Under the MTA, the Airport may for any period elect to designate CFC revenues as “Other Available
Funds” by filing with the Fiscal Agent a written statement designating the amount of such “Other
Available Funds” and containing a statement that the “Other Available Funds” are legally available to be
applied to pay debt service on the Series 2011B Bonds, which were fully refunded by the Series 2021C
Bonds, during such period. CFC revenues of $11,141,860 and $19,057,245 had been designated as “Other
Available Funds” for payment of eligible bond debt service in fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and June
30,  2020, respectively. At June 30, 2021 and 2020, accumulated CFC funds amounted to $1,557,921 and
$4,651,396, respectively, and are reported as restricted for California Government Code Sections
50474.1-50474.3 for Customer Facility Charges in the restricted net position category of the Airport’s
statements of net position.
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(l) Accrued Vacation, Sick Leave, and Compensatory Time

Vested vacation, sick leave, compensatory time, and related benefits are accrued when incurred for all
Airport employees.

(m) Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pension, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Airport’s participation in the City Federated City Employees' Retirement System (FCERS) and additions
to/deductions from the FCERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the FCERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions)
are recognized when currently due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. FCERS' investments
are reported at fair value. While the City reports its pension plan managed by FCERS as a single
employer defined benefit pension plan, the Airport recognizes a proportionate share of its participation in
FCERS based on the Airport’s pension contributions relative to the total City pension contributions to
FCERS.  The methodology for the City’s pension allocation changed during the fiscal year ended June
30, 2020.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 and previous years, the Airport recognized a
proportionate share of its participation in the City’s pension plans based on the Airport’s contributions to
FCERS relative to the total City contributions to both FCERS and the Police and Fire Department
Retirement Plan (PFDRP). While the change in methodology for the City’s pension allocation had a
negligible impact to the Airport’s proportionate share reported in the financial statements, it was
determined by the City to be a better practice to isolate and allocate each pension plan separately given
there are certain City departments with no employees participating in PFDRP, such as the Airport. The
Airport does not contribute directly to the PFDRP and, instead, only covers pension costs of Airport
related police and fire personnel through the City’s interdepartmental charges.  For more information
regarding the Airport’s retirement benefits, please refer to Retirement Systems, Note 7.

(n) Other Postemployment Benefits

For purpose of measuring the net Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) liability, deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the Airport’s participation in the FCERS and additions to/deductions from the
FCERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the
FCERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized
when currently due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. FCERS' investments are reported at
fair value. While the City reports its OPEB plan managed by FCERS as a single employer defined benefit
OPEB plan, the Airport recognizes a proportionate share of its participation in the FCERS OPEB plan
based on the Airport’s OPEB contributions relative to the total City OPEB contributions to FCERS.  For
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the Airport was also allocated a pro rata share of the PFDRP OPEB
liability covering OPEB costs of Airport related police and fire personnel. During the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2020, it was determined that the Airport should not be allocated OPEB costs related to the
PFDRP, as those costs should only be recovered through the City’s interdepartmental charges. The impact
of the pro rata share of the PFDRP OPEB plan allocated to the Airport is insignificant to the financial
statements, and the removal of this allocation was reflected in the OPEB expense during the year ended
June 30, 2020. The Airport does not make OPEB contributions directly to the PFDRP and, instead, only
covers OPEB costs of Airport related police and fire personnel through the City’s interdepartmental
charges.  For more information regarding the Airport’s OPEB benefits, please refer to Retirement
Systems, Note 7.
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(o) Net Position

The financial statements utilize a net position presentation. Net position is categorized as net investment
in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted. 

Net Investment in Capital Assets - This category groups all capital assets, including

infrastructure, into one component of net position. Accumulated depreciation, deferred outflows

and inflows of resources associated with the debt, and the outstanding balances of debt that are

attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of these assets reduce the balance

in this category. 

Restricted Net Position – This category presents external restrictions imposed by creditors,

grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments and restrictions imposed by

law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the

Airport’s statements of net position report restricted net position of $27,538,125 and

$44,795,278, respectively, of which $10,130,250 and $18,295,424, respectively, is restricted by

enabling legislation.

Unrestricted Net Position – This category represents the net amount that do not meet the criteria

for “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.”  

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Airport's policy to use
restricted resources first, and then use unrestricted resources as needed.

(p) New Pronouncements

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the Airport implemented the following accounting standards:

 In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. This statement

establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments and

describes four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension (and other

employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust funds, and

(4) custodial funds. The statement also provides for recognition of a liability to the beneficiaries

in a fiduciary fund when an event has occurred that compels the government to disburse

fiduciary resources. Application of GASB Statement No. 84 did not have any impact on the

Airport's financial statements.

 In August 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests - an amendment

of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 61, to improve the consistency and comparability of

reporting a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and to

improve the relevance of financial statement information for certain component units. This

statement requires that a component unit in which a government has a 100 percent equity

interest account for its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of

resources at acquisition value at the date the government acquired a 100 percent equity interest

in the component unit. Application of GASB Statement No. 90 did not have any impact on the

Airport's financial statements.

 In June 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and

Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred

Compensation Plans - an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 84, and a
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supersession of GASB Statement No. 32. The requirements of this statement will result in more

consistent financial reporting of defined contribution pension plans, defined contribution OPEB

plans, and other employee benefit plans, while mitigating the costs associated with reporting

those plans. Application of GASB Statement No. 97 did not have any impact on the Airport's

financial statements.

 In October 2021, the GASB issued Statement No. 98, The Annual Comprehensive Financial

Report. This statement establishes the term annual comprehensive financial report and its

acronym ACFR. That new term and acronym replace instances of comprehensive annual

financial report and its acronym in generally accepted accounting principles for state and local

governments. GASB Statement No. 98 is effective for the Airport's fiscal year ending June 30,

2021. Early application of GASB Statement No. 98 did not have any financial impact for the

Airport.

The Airport is currently evaluating its accounting practices to determine the potential impact on the
financial statements for the following GASB Statements:

 In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases.  This statement will increase the

usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring reporting of certain lease liabilities

that currently are not reported. It will enhance comparability of financial statements among

governments by requiring lessees and lessors to report leases under a single model. This

statement also will enhance the decision-usefulness of the information provided to financial

statement users by requiring notes to financial statements related to the timing, significance, and

purpose of a government’s leasing arrangements.  GASB Statement No. 87 is effective for the

Airport's fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.

 In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before

the End of a Construction Period.  The requirements of this statement will improve financial

reporting by providing users of financial statements with more relevant information about

capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period. The resulting information also

will enhance the comparability of information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for

a reporting period for business-type activities and enterprise funds. GASB Statement No. 89 is

effective for the Airport's fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.

  In May 2019, the GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations. The requirements

of this statement will improve financial reporting by eliminating the existing option for issuers

to report conduit debt obligations as their own liabilities, thereby ending significant diversity in

practice. The clarified definition will resolve stakeholders' uncertainty as to whether a given

financing is, in fact, a conduit debt obligation. Requiring issuers to recognize liabilities

associated with additional commitments extended by issuers and to recognize assets and

deferred inflows of resources related to certain arrangements associated with conduit debt

obligations also will eliminate diversity, thereby improving comparability in reporting by

issuers. GASB Statement No. 91 is effective for the Airport's fiscal year ending June 30, 2023.

 In January 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020. This statement addresses a

variety of topics and includes specific provisions about the following: The effective date of

Statement No. 87, Leases, and Implementation Guide No. 2019-3, Leases, for interim financial

reports; Reporting of intra-entity transfers of assets between a primary government employer
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and a component unit defined benefit pension plan or defined benefit OPEB plan; The

applicability of Statements No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and

Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement No. 68, and Amendments to

Certain Provisions of GASB Statements No. 67 and No. 68, as amended, and No. 74, Financial

Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, as amended, to

reporting assets accumulated for postemployment benefits; The applicability of certain

requirements of Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, to postemployment benefit

arrangements; Measurement of liabilities (and assets, if any) related to asset retirement

obligations in a government acquisition; Reporting by public entity risk pools for amounts that

are recoverable from reinsurers or excess insurers; Reference to nonrecurring fair value

measurements of assets or liabilities in authoritative literature; Terminology used to refer to

derivative instruments. GASB Statement No. 92 is effective for the Airport's fiscal year ending

June 30, 2022.

 In March 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates.

This statement is to address those and other accounting and financial reporting implications that

result from the replacement of an interbank offered rate. GASB Statement No. 93 is effective

for the Airport's fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.

 In March 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public

Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements. The requirements of this statement will

improve financial reporting by establishing the definitions of Public-Private and Public-Public

Partnerships (PPP) and Availability Payment Arrangements and providing uniform guidance on

accounting and financial reporting for transactions that meet those definitions. That uniform

guidance will provide more relevant and reliable information for financial statement users and

create greater consistency in practice. This statement will enhance the decision usefulness of a

government's financial statements by requiring governments to report assets and liabilities

related to PPPs consistently and disclose important information about PPP transactions. The

required disclosures will allow users to understand the scale and important aspects of a

government's PPPs and evaluate a government's future obligations and assets resulting from

PPPs. GASB Statement No. 94 is effective for the Airport's fiscal year ending June 30, 2023.

 In May 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology

Arrangements. The requirements of this statement will improve financial reporting by

establishing a definition for Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements and

providing uniform guidance for accounting and financial reporting for transactions that meet

that definition. That definition and uniform guidance will result in greater consistency in

practice. Establishing the capitalization criteria for implementation costs also will reduce

diversity and improve comparability in financial reporting by governments. GASB Statement

No. 96 is effective for the Airport's fiscal year ending June 30, 2023.

(2) Cash and Investments

The City Council adopted an investment policy (Investment Policy) on April 2, 1985 related to the City’s
cash and investment pool, which is subject to annual review and was reviewed and amended on March 9,
2021. The Investment Policy specifically prohibits trading securities for the sole purpose of speculating or
taking an un-hedged position on the future direction of interest rates. Per the Investment Policy, the
investments conform to Sections 53600 et seq. of the California Government Code and the applicable
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limitations contained within the Investment Policy.

The Airport invests funds subject to the Investment Policy and provisions of the Airport’s MTA for its
various bond issues. According to the Investment Policy and the Airport’s MTA, the Airport is permitted
to invest in the City’s cash and investment pool, the State of California Local Agency Investment Fund
(LAIF), obligations of the U.S. Treasury or U.S. Government Agencies, time deposits, investment
agreements, money market mutual funds invested in U.S. Government securities, along with various other
permitted investments.

The Airport maintains a portion of its investments in the City’s cash and investment pool. As of June 30,
2021 and 2020, the Airport’s share of the City’s cash and investment pool totaled $183,148,385 and
$205,823,570, respectively. It is not possible to disclose relevant information about the Airport’s separate
portion of the cash and investment pool, as there are no specific investments belonging to the Airport
itself. Information regarding the characteristics of the entire investment pool can be found in the City’s
June 30, 2021 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR). A copy of that report may be obtained
by visiting the City's website at www.sanjoseca.gov or by contacting the City’s Finance Department, 200
East Santa Clara Street, 13th Floor, San José, CA, 95113.

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, restricted cash and investments held by the fiscal agents, comprised of the
U.S. Bank National Association (US Bank) and Fiscal Agent, totaled $84,459,514 and $103,850,552,
respectively. US Bank is the issuing and paying agent of the commercial paper notes (discussed in Note
4). The MTA authorizes long-term debt (discussed in Note 5) and requires certain funds held in trust by
the Fiscal Agent for the bondholders and to be used for repayment of principal and interest on outstanding
debt, or to be spent only on authorized capital projects.  The MTA investment provisions govern the
permitted investments of Airport funds including funds held by the Fiscal Agent. The investments are
subject to certain types of risk, including interest rate risk, credit quality risk, and concentration credit
risk. However, the MTA does not specifically address policies for each risk. Instead, it limits the
investments of Airport funds to particular types of investments.

Provisions of the Airport’s MTA limit the Airport’s investment of moneys in bond reserve funds to time
or demand deposits or permitted investments, which mature not more than five years from the date of
investment, except for permitted investments, which, by their terms, permit withdrawal of the entire
principal amount of such investment at par without penalty and at such times as required by the MTA.
The MTA also limits the investments of moneys held by the City to time or demand deposits in any bank
or trust authorized to accept public funds, and shall be secured at all times by such obligations, and to the
fullest extent, as is required by law, and may at the written direction of the City be invested in permitted
investments, maturing not later than the date on which such moneys are required for payment by the
Director of Finance or the Fiscal Agent.

The Airport is a voluntary participant in the LAIF that is governed by the California Government Code
under the oversight of the Local Investment Advisory Board (Board). The Board consists of five members
as designated by state statute. The fair value of the Airport's investment in the LAIF pool is reported in
the accompanying financial statements at amounts based upon the Airport's pro rata share of the fair value
provided by LAIF, for the entire LAIF portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The
balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by LAIF, which are
recorded on an amortized cost basis, which is different from the fair value of the Airport's position in the
LAIF pool. LAIF is part of the State’s Pooled Money Investment Account (PMIA).

As of June 30, 2021, the Airport's investments in LAIF held by the Fiscal Agent was $50,683,527. The
weighted average maturity of LAIF at June 30, 2021 was 291 days. The total amount recorded by all
public agencies in the LAIF pool at June 30, 2021 was approximately $37.1 billion. PMIA is not
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but is required to invest according to the
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California Government Code. The total amount recorded by all public agencies in PMIA at June 30, 2021
was approximately $193.3 billion and, of that amount, 83.38% was invested in U.S. Treasuries and
agencies, 10.45% in depository securities, 5.74% in commercial paper, 0.38% in loans, 0.06% in
corporate bonds, and 0.01% in mortgages. The percentages may not total 100% due to rounding.

As of June 30, 2020, the Airport's investments in LAIF held by the Fiscal Agent was $56,868,509. The
weighted average maturity of LAIF at June 30, 2020 was 191 days. The total amount recorded by all
public agencies in the LAIF pool at June 30, 2020 was approximately $32.1 billion. The total amount
recorded by all public agencies in PMIA at June 30, 2020 was approximately $101.0 billion and of that
amount, 73.16% was invested in U.S. Treasuries and agencies, 18.61% in depository securities, 7.64% in
commercial paper, 0.57% in loans, and 0.02% in mortgages.

Interest Rate Risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market rates will adversely affect the fair
value of an investment. Generally, debt investments with fixed coupons for longer periods are subject to
more variability in their value as a result of changing interest rates. The City manages its exposure to
interest rate risk by capping the average weighted maturity of the investment portfolio at two years. Also,
the City sets the maximum maturity for every investment at the time of purchase by asset class, with the
longest not to exceed five years.

In practice, the City purchases a combination of shorter-term and longer-term investments and times the
cash flows to meet liquidity needs for operations. The average maturity of the City’s pooled cash and
investments at June 30, 2021, and June 30, 2020, was approximately 565 days and 672 days, respectively.

Credit Risk – Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the
holder of the investment. When investing, the City applies the Prudent Investor Standard and acts with
care, prudence and diligence to safeguard the principal, maintain liquidity, and seek reasonable yields.
The Investment Policy has strict rating requirements.  The City manages credit risk by selecting high
quality securities, diversifying the portfolio, and establishing monitoring procedures. 

Concentration of Credit Risk – It is not possible to disclose relevant information about the Airport’s
separate portion of the cash and investment pool, as there are no specific investments in the City’s cash
and investment pool belonging to the Airport itself. The Investment Policy sets forth the policies
regarding concentration of credit risk.

The following schedule indicates the interest rate risk and credit risk of the investments held by the fiscal
agents, by category and maturity, as of June 30, 2021 and 2020. The credit ratings listed are for Moody’s
Investors Service (Moody's) and S&P Global Ratings (S&P), respectively.

As of June 30, 2021

Maturities

Type of Investments:
Credit
Rating

Under 30
Days

31-180
Days

181-365
Days 1-5 Years

Carrying
Value

Cash and investments held by the fiscal agents
Federated Treasury Obligations Fund Aaa-mf/AAAm $ 2,793,091 $ - $ - $ - $ 2,793,091
Federal Farm Credit Bank(1) Aaa/AA+ - - - 10,184,408 10,184,408
Federal Home Loan Mortgage(1) Aaa/AA+ - - - 5,434,695 5,434,695
California Local Agency Investment Fund(1) Not rated - - 50,683,527 - 50,683,527
Money Market Mutual Fund Aaa-mf/AAAm 120,814 - - - 120,814

Total investments held by the fiscal agents $ 2,913,905 $ - $ 50,683,527 $ 15,619,103 69,216,535

Cash 15,242,979

Total cash and investments held by the fiscal agents $ 84,459,514
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As of June 30, 2020

Maturities

Type of Investments:
Credit
Rating

Under 30
Days

31-180
Days

181-365
Days 1-5 Years

Carrying
Value

Investments held by the fiscal agents
   Federated Treasury Obligations Fund Aaa-mf/AAAm $ 415,102 $ - $ - $ - $ 415,102
   Federal National Mortgage Association(1) Aaa/AA+ - - 5,535,316 - 5,535,316

Federal Farm Credit Bank(1) Aaa/AA+ - 779,515 - 5,616,637 6,396,152
Federal Home Loan Bank(1) Aaa/AA+ - 9,207,632 10,241,855 7,505,619 26,955,106
US Treasury(1) Aaa/N/A - - - 7,469,117 7,469,117
California Local Agency Investment Fund(1) Not rated - - 56,868,509 - 56,868,509
Money Market Mutual Fund Aaa-mf/AAAm 211,250 - - - 211,250

$ 626,352 $ 9,987,147 $ 72,645,680 $ 20,591,373 $ 103,850,552

(1)  Investments with these issuers represent more than 5% of the Airport's investments held by the fiscal agents.

Fair Value Measurement Categorization

The Airport categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The Airport has the following recurring fair value
measurements as of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Investments by Fair Value Level

Carrying
Value at

June 30, 2021

Quoted
Prices in
Active

Markets for
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Investments held by the fiscal agents:
Investments by fair value level

Federated Treasury Obligations Fund $ 2,793,091 $ - $ 2,793,091 $ -
Federal Farm Credit Bank 10,184,408 - 10,184,408 -
Federal Home Loan Mortgage 5,434,695 - 5,434,695 -

Total investments by fair value level 18,412,194 - 18,412,194 -

Investments not subject to the fair value hierarchy:
California Local Agency Investment Fund 50,683,527 - - -
Money Market Mutual Fund 120,814 - - -

Total investments 50,804,341 - - -

Total investments held by the fiscal agents $ 69,216,535 $ - $ 18,412,195 $ -
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Fair Value Measurements Using

Investments by Fair Value Level

Carrying
Value at

June 30, 2020

Quoted
Prices in
Active

Markets for
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Investments held by the fiscal agents:
Investments by fair value level

Federated Treasury Obligations Fund $ 415,102 $ - $ 415,102 $ -
     Federal National Mortgage Association 5,535,316 - 5,535,316 -
     Federal Farm Credit Bank 6,396,152 - 6,396,152 -
     Federal Home Loan Bank 26,955,106 - 26,955,106 -
     US Treasury 7,469,117 7,469,117 - -

Total investments by fair value level 46,770,793 7,469,117 39,301,676 -

Investments not subject to the fair value hierarchy:
California Local Agency Investment Fund 56,868,509 - - -
Money Market Mutual Fund 211,250 - - -

Total investments 57,079,759 - - -

Total investments held by the fiscal agents $ 103,850,552 $ 7,469,117 $ 39,301,676 $ -

Treasury securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using quoted prices.
Government agency securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using techniques
such as matrix pricing, market corroborated pricing, and inputs such as yield curves and indices.

LAIF Withdrawal Policy – LAIF operating account allows a maximum of 15 transactions per account in a
calendar month.  The transaction amount shall be no less than $5,000 and in increments of a thousand
dollars. LAIF allocates interest earnings once every quarter. The interest earnings can be withdrawn in
exact amount at any time. LAIF bond accounts have no restrictions on the amounts allowed on deposit,
but are limited to one withdrawal per every 30 days.
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(3) Capital Assets

Capital asset activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, were as follows:

Balance at
July 1, 2020 Additions Retirements Transfers

Balance at
June 30, 2021

Capital assets, not depreciated:
Land $ 75,781,265 $ - $ - $ - $ 75,781,265

Intangible assets 12,881,547 - - - 12,881,547

Construction in progress 37,756,210 36,886,480 - (49,993,029) 24,649,661

Total capital assets, not depreciated 126,419,022 36,886,480 - (49,993,029) 113,312,473

Capital assets, depreciated:
Buildings 1,209,084,960 - - 43,012,129 1,252,097,089

Other improvements 644,871,679 - - 6,980,900 651,852,579

Equipment 74,715,947 552,784 (2,707,226) - 72,561,505

Total capital assets, depreciated 1,928,672,586 552,784 (2,707,226) 49,993,029 1,976,511,173

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings 390,591,064 31,124,068 - - 421,715,132

Other improvements 327,391,506 19,046,427 - - 346,437,933

Equipment 47,218,877 2,963,391 (2,694,761) - 47,487,507

Total accumulated depreciation 765,201,447 53,133,886 (2,694,761) - 815,640,572

Total capital assets, depreciated, net 1,163,471,139 (52,581,102) (12,465) 49,993,029 1,160,870,601

Total capital assets, net $ 1,289,890,161 $ (15,694,622) $ (12,465) $ - $ 1,274,183,074

Balance at
July 1, 2019 Additions Retirements Transfers

Balance at
June 30, 2020

Capital assets, not depreciated:
Land $ 75,781,265 $ - $ - $ - $ 75,781,265

Intangible assets 12,881,547 - - - 12,881,547

Construction in progress 7,739,890 30,656,950 - (640,630) 37,756,210

Total capital assets, not depreciated 96,402,702 30,656,950 - (640,630) 126,419,022

Capital assets, depreciated:
Buildings 1,208,508,414 - - 576,546 1,209,084,960

Other improvements 636,194,784 8,676,895 - - 644,871,679

Equipment 74,114,580 734,805 (197,522) 64,084 74,715,947

Total capital assets, depreciated 1,918,817,778 9,411,700 (197,522) 640,630 1,928,672,586

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings 359,225,828 31,365,236 - - 390,591,064

Other improvements 308,581,731 18,809,775 - - 327,391,506

Equipment 42,208,430 5,207,969 (197,522) - 47,218,877

Total accumulated depreciation 710,015,989 55,382,980 (197,522) - 765,201,447

Total capital assets, depreciated, net 1,208,801,789 (45,971,280) - 640,630 1,163,471,139

Total capital assets, net $ 1,305,204,491 $ (15,314,330) $ - $ - $ 1,289,890,161

The Airport’s depreciation expense on capital assets was $53,133,886 and $55,382,980 for fiscal years
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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(4) Commercial Paper Notes Payable

In November 1999, the City authorized the issuance from time to time of the Airport's Subordinated
Commercial Paper Notes, Series A-1, Series A-2, Series B, and Series C (Subordinated CP Notes) that are
secured by a lien on Surplus Revenues held in the Subordinated Debt Account of the Surplus Revenue
Fund, including the earnings on such Surplus Revenues. Surplus Revenues are General Airport Revenues
remaining after the payment of maintenance and operation costs of the Airport and the payment of debt
service on the Airport Revenue Bonds and the funding of any reserve funds established for the Airport
Revenue Bonds. The Subordinated CP Notes may be issued for periods of maturity not to exceed 270
days. The Series A-1, Series A-2, and Series B Notes may be sold at an interest rate not to exceed 12%
per annum. The Series C Notes may be issued and sold either as interest bearing notes or at a discount. If
sold as interest bearing notes, then interest will accrue at a rate to be determined upon their issuance
calculated on the basis of a 360-day year and actual number of days elapsed.

The Subordinated CP Notes are issued pursuant to a Third Amended and Restated Issuing and Paying
Agent Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2014, as subsequently amended, by and between the City and
US Bank. Credit support for the timely payment of the principal and interest on the Subordinated CP
Notes at maturity is provided through a letter of credit (LOC) as described below.  The City Council has
authorized the Subordinated CP Notes to be issued in an aggregate principal amount of up to $600 million
outstanding at any one time.  However, the City has determined to limit its issuance of Subordinated CP
Notes to the total credit support provided by a LOC as described below.

In February 2014, the City and Barclays Bank PLC (Barclays) entered into a LOC and Reimbursement
Agreement (Barclays Reimbursement Agreement) and a fee letter to specify the facility fee rate and other
charges payable by the Airport.  Pursuant to the Barclays Reimbursement Agreement, Barclays issued a
$65.0 million LOC supporting the Subordinated CP Notes, effective on February 11, 2014 with an initial
expiration date of February 10, 2017. On September 16, 2015, the City reduced the LOC stated amount
from $65.0 million to approximately $41.0 million. Subsequently, the expiration date of the LOC
provided by Barclays was extended to February 8, 2019.

On September 12, 2018, the City substituted the LOC supporting the Subordinated CP Notes issued by
Barclays with a LOC issued by Bank of America, N.A. (BofA) and the Barclays Reimbursement
Agreement and associated fee letter and LOC were terminated. Pursuant to a LOC and Reimbursement
Agreement between the City and BofA (BofA Reimbursement Agreement), BofA issued its irrevocable
transferrable LOC in the initial stated amount of $81.7 million (to cover principal of $75.0 million and
interest on the Subordinated CP Notes accruing calculated at a rate of 12% for 270 days based on a 365
day year) that was scheduled to expire on September 10, 2021 unless sooner terminated or extended
pursuant to its terms. The $75.0 million principal amount of the LOC was secured in order to provide
additional capacity for the issuance of the Subordinated CP Notes to finance proposed terminal area
projects. The Interim Facility project with the extension of the six new gates at Terminal B was completed
in November 2019. An extension to the LOC and Reimbursement Agreement was executed on August 19,
2021. Additional information can be found in Note 11 to the financial statements.

In connection with BofA’s issuance of its LOC, other agreements governing the Subordinated CP Notes
were executed, including the First Amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Issuing and Paying
Agent Agreement between the City and US Bank and the Fourth Amended and Restated Dealer
Agreement between the City and each of the dealers of the Subordinated CP Notes, a fee letter between
the City and BofA and a promissory note payable to BofA in the amount of $81.7 million under which the
City promises to pay principal and interest on the unpaid principal amount of all Unreimbursed Drawings
(as defined in the BofA Reimbursement Agreement) and Term Loans (as defined in the BofA
Reimbursement Agreement) evidenced by the note on the dates and at the rates provided for in the BofA
Reimbursement Agreement (Bank Note). The ratings of the outstanding Airport Subordinated CP Notes,
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are “A-1”, “P-1”, and “F1+” by S&P, Moody’s, and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch), respectively, based on the
credit support provided by BofA pursuant to its LOC. Additional information about the Airport's credit
ratings can be found in Reporting of Significant Events section of the Bond Disclosure Report. 

The terms of the BofA LOC are specified in the BofA Reimbursement Agreement. In general, BofA
agrees to advance funds to the issuing and paying agent for the Subordinated CP Notes to pay the
principal and interest on maturing Subordinated CP Notes in an amount not to exceed the stated amount
of the LOC. In the event that the Commercial Paper (CP) dealer is unable to find investors to purchase
Subordinated CP Notes to repay the advance from BofA, the City is obligated to pay interest to BofA
based on a formula specified in the BofA Reimbursement Agreement and repay principal in accordance
with the schedule and the terms also specified in the BofA Reimbursement Agreement.  All amounts
payable by the City to BofA under the BofA Reimbursement Agreement are secured by a lien on the
Surplus Revenues held in the Subordinated Debt Account of the Surplus Revenue Fund, including the
earnings on such Surplus Revenues, which lien is subordinate to the lien of the Airport Revenue Bonds.

Events of default under the BofA Reimbursement Agreement include, among others: (i) a default under
the MTA or the issuing and paying agent agreement for the Subordinated CP Notes; (ii) non-payment;
(iii) a breach of a various covenants; (iv) bankruptcy; (v) breach of representations and warranties; (vi)
default on a Secured Debt (as defined in the BofA Reimbursement Agreement); (vii) final judgment of
$10 million or more against the City payable from General Airport Revenues; (viii) the City contesting
validity of obligations related to payment of the Subordinated CP Notes or a determination by a court of
competent jurisdiction that the obligations of the City related to payment of the Subordinated CP Notes
are not valid or binding; (ix) Surplus Revenues are not subject to a security interest in favor of the City's
obligations under the BofA Reimbursement Agreement; (x) ratings events including a suspension or
withdrawal of the long-term, unenhanced debt rating assigned to the Airport Revenue Bonds (other than
where the Airport Revenue Bonds shall continue to be rated by any two of Moody's, Fitch, or S&P), or
downgrades by any of Moody’s, Fitch, or S&P of its ratings on the Airport Revenue Bonds below
“Baa2”, “BBB”, and “BBB”, respectively, for a period of 120 consecutive calendar days; and (xi) any
legislation is enacted, repealed, reenacted, amended or otherwise modified which has, in the sole
judgment of the BofA, a material adverse effect on the obligation of the City to make payments under the
BofA Reimbursement Agreement or the security granted to secure such payments. 

An event of default under the BofA Reimbursement Agreement would entitle BofA to demand that no
additional Subordinated CP Notes be issued, that the City reimburse BofA immediately for draws under
the LOC and that all other amounts owed by the City to BofA be accelerated and become due
immediately. The BofA Reimbursement Agreement includes a subjective acceleration provision in the
event that any legislation is enacted, repealed, reenacted, amended or otherwise modified which has, in
the sole judgment of the BofA, a material adverse effect on the obligation of the City to make payments
under the BofA Reimbursement Agreement or the security granted to secure such payments.

In connection with the LOC issued by Barclays and BofA, the City entered into a fee letter with each
bank to specify the facility fee rate and other charges payable by the Airport with respect to the respective
LOCs. The facility fee rate under each fee letter was established based on the underlying credit rating of
the Airport Revenue Bonds and is applied to the stated amount of the associated LOC. The facility fee
rate is subject to increase in the event that the underlying credit rating of the Airport Revenue Bonds is
withdrawn, suspended, or downgraded or upon an event of default under the respective Reimbursement
Agreements.  The facility fee rate in effect under the LOC issued by BofA was 0.35% as of June 30, 2021
and 2020. 
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The change in Subordinated CP Notes payable during FY 21 and FY 20 were as shown in the table
below. The principal amount available under the LOC issued by BofA as of June 30, 2021 is $23.07
million.

2021 2020

Beginning balance $ 51,930,000 $ 52,216,000

Additional issuance - 3,000,000

Paid - (3,286,000)

Ending balance $ 51,930,000 $ 51,930,000

Balances of Subordinated CP Notes payable as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

As of June 30, 2021

Series B Subordinated CP Notes that mature on August 10, 2021 were
issued with an interest rate of 0.35% $ 51,930,000

As of June 30, 2020

Series B Subordinated CP Notes that mature on August 12, 2020 were
issued with an interest rate of 0.35% $ 51,930,000

Although the Subordinated CP Notes have short-term maturities, the Airport's intent was to roll the
outstanding balance over a long-term basis. Prior to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Airport
had a goal of paying down the current outstanding Subordinated CP Notes over an 8-year amortization
period, with the first principal payment paid in FY 19. This may or may not be achievable given the
ongoing recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, and its impact on the Airport's financial results. 
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(5) Long-Term Obligations

Airport Revenue Bonds are issued primarily to finance the construction of capital improvements at the
Airport. Pursuant to the MTA, the City has irrevocably pledged the General Airport Revenues (as defined
in the MTA) and certain other funds held or made available under the MTA, first to the payment of
Maintenance and Operation Costs of the Enterprise (as defined in the MTA), and second to the payment
of principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the bonds. General Airport Revenues generally
include all revenues, income, receipts, and moneys derived by the City from the operation of the Airport
with the exception of certain expressly excluded revenues. 

The net revenues available to pay Debt Service (as defined in the MTA) in fiscal year ended June 30,
2021 totaled $142,540,952, which is composed of $101,441,274 of Net General Airport Revenues (as
defined in the MTA) and $41,099,678 of Other Available Funds (as defined in the MTA). Other
Available Funds include surplus carryover of $13,225,972, rolling debt service coverage of $16,731,846,
and CFC Revenues of $11,141,860. The bond Debt Service paid from the General Airport Revenues and
Other Available Funds amounted to $78,379,679, which is net of $14,338,705 of bond Debt Service paid
from the accumulated PFC funds.

The Airport reported net revenues available to pay Debt Service in fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 of
$137,166,959, which was composed of $86,078,870 of Net General Airport Revenues and $51,088,089 of
Other Available Funds. Other Available Funds include surplus carryover of $15,385,348, rolling debt
service coverage of $16,645,496, and CFC Revenues of $19,057,245. The bond Debt Service paid from
the General Airport Revenues and Other Available Funds amounted to $65,778,343, which is net of
$27,479,274 of bond Debt Service paid from the accumulated PFC funds.

The City has covenanted in the MTA that net revenues available to pay Debt Service for each fiscal year
plus certain Other Available Funds held or made available under the MTA will be at least 125% of annual
Debt Service for such fiscal year. Under the MTA, Debt Service means for any specified period, the sum
of (a) the interest falling due on any then outstanding current interest bonds, assuming that all principal
installments are paid when due, but excluding any interest funded from the proceeds of any series of
bonds and applied toward payment of interest on such bonds, and (b) the principal installments payable
on any then outstanding bonds. Under the MTA, annual Debt Service excludes Available PFC Revenues
for such fiscal year. Total principal and interest remaining on the bonds is $1,759,690,540, with the final
payment due on March 1, 2047.

Events of default under the MTA include: (a) non-payment of the principal; (b) non-payment of interest;
(c) a breach of a covenant if the default shall have continued for a period of sixty days after written notice
specifying such default and requiring the same to be remedied shall have been given to the City by the
Fiscal Agent or by a Municipal Bond Insurer (as defined in the MTA), or to the City and the Fiscal Agent
by the bond owners who held not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time
outstanding; and (d) reorganization or bankruptcy. There is no acceleration remedy in the event of default
for any current Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds (ARBs) that are outstanding.

On April 7, 2021, the City issued $428,080,000 of Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2021 ARBs) to
refund certain outstanding City of San José Airport Revenue Bonds and ARBs, to make a deposit into a
reserve account, and to pay the costs of issuing the 2021 ARBs.

The 2021 ARBs were issued under the MTA, as supplemented by a Twelfth Supplemental Trust
Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2021, between the City and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee, in three series of bonds: (i) $85,860,000 of the City of San José ARBs Series
2021A (AMT) (Series 2021A Bonds) with a premium of $21,546,141; (ii) $48,200,000 of the City of San
José ARBs Series 2021B (Non-AMT) (Series 2021B Bonds) with a premium of $13,588,150; and (iii)
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$294,020,000 of the City of San José ARBs, Series 2021C Bonds (Taxable).

The Series 2021A Bonds refunded all of the outstanding City of San José Airport Revenue Bonds, Series
2011A-1 Bonds; the Series 2021B Bonds refunded all of the outstanding City of San José Airport
Revenue Bonds, Series 2011A-2 Bonds; and the Series 2021C Bonds refunded all of the outstanding
Series 2011B Bonds, and a portion of the outstanding City of San José ARBs Series 2014A (AMT) (the
2014A Bonds), City of San José ARBs Series 2017A (AMT) (the 2017A Bonds) and Series 2017B (Non-
AMT) (the 2017B Bonds).  The City applied a portion of the proceeds of the 2021C Bonds to defease the
outstanding March 1, 2022 and March 1, 2023 maturities of each of the 2014A Bonds, 2017A Bonds, and
2017B Bonds. The refunding provided debt service savings to the City of approximately $48.3 million in
FY 22 and approximately $34.4 million in FY 23, with total net present value savings of approximately
$148.7 million or approximately 31.4% of the refunded bonds.

The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on certain maturities of the 2021 ARBs when due are
guaranteed under municipal bond insurance policies that were issued concurrently with the delivery of the
2021 ARBs by Build America Mutual Assurance Company, including the 2034 maturity of the 2021A
Bonds, the 2034 maturity of the 2021B Bonds and the 2038 maturity bearing interest at a rate of 3.04%
per annum, the 2039 maturity bearing interest at a rate of 3.14% per annum, and the 2040 maturity
bearing interest at a rate of 3.17% per annum of the 2021C Bonds (collectively, the Insured 2021 ARBs).

S&P assigned its municipal bond rating of “AA” to the Insured 2021 ARBs, and a rating on the 2021
ARBs (including an underlying rating on the Insured 2021 ARBs) of “A-“ (stable outlook).  The 2021
ARBs were rated “A2” (stable outlook) by Moody’s and “A” (negative outlook) by Fitch.
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Balances of Bonds payable as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 were as follows: 

2021 2020

2021C Series Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds of $294,020,000 with
interest rates of 0.2% to 3.3%; payable in annual installments ranging
from $1,900,000 to $28,990,000 with the final installment due in March
2041 $ 294,020,000 $ -

2021B Series Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds of $48,200,000 with
interest rates of 4.0% to 5.0%; payable in annual installments ranging
from $270,000 to $10,225,000 with the final installment due in March
2034 48,200,000 -

2021A Series Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds of $85,860,000 with
interest rates of 4.0% to 5.0%; payable in annual installments ranging
from $1,275,000 to $15,010,000 with the final installment due in March
2034 85,860,000 -

2017B Series Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds of $150,675,000 were
partially refunded in April 2021; the remaining balance of $128,960,000
with interest rate of 4.0% to 5.0% is due in March 2047 128,960,000 138,705,000

2017A Series Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds of $473,595,000 were
partially refunded in April 2021; the remaining balance of $405,350,000
with interest rate of 4.0% to 5.0% is due in March 2047 405,350,000 435,995,000

2014C Series Airport Revenue Bonds of $40,285,000 with interest rates
of 3.6% to 5.0%; payable in five annual installments ranging from
$7,295,000 to $8,860,000 with the first installment in March 2027 and
the final installment due in March 2031 40,285,000 40,285,000

2014B Series Airport Revenue Bonds of $28,010,000 with interest rates
of 3.1% to 5.0%; payable in three annual installments of $7,975,000,
$9,665,000, and $10,370,000 in March 2026, March 2027, and March
2028, respectively 28,010,000 28,010,000

2014A Series Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds of $57,350,000 were
partially refunded in April 2021; the remaining balance of $18,240,000
with interest rate of 3.2% to 5.0% is due in March 2026 18,240,000 42,135,000

2011B Series Airport Revenue Bonds of $271,820,000 were fully
refunded in April 2021 - 255,760,000

2011A-2 Series Airport Revenue Bonds of $86,380,000 were fully
refunded in April 2021 - 68,225,000

2011A-1 Series Airport Revenue Bonds of $150,405,000 were fully
refunded in April 2021 - 118,575,000

Total bonds payable $ 1,048,925,000 $ 1,127,690,000
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Bonds outstanding and related activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, were as
follows:

Revenue Bonds
Balance at
July 1, 2020 Additions Retirements

Balance at
June 30, 2021

Amounts Due
Within

One Year
2021C Series $ - $ 294,020,000 $ - $ 294,020,000 $ 1,900,000
2021B Series - 48,200,000 - 48,200,000 -
2021A Series - 85,860,000 - 85,860,000 -
2017B Series 138,705,000 - 9,745,000 128,960,000 -
2017A Series 435,995,000 - 30,645,000 405,350,000 -
2014C Series 40,285,000 - - 40,285,000 -
2014B Series 28,010,000 - - 28,010,000 -
2014A Series 42,135,000 - 23,895,000 18,240,000 -
2011B Series 255,760,000 - 255,760,000 - -
2011A-2 Series 68,225,000 - 68,225,000 - -
2011A-1 Series 118,575,000 - 118,575,000 - -
Total long-term debt 1,127,690,000 428,080,000 506,845,000 1,048,925,000 1,900,000
Add unamortized:
   Premium 71,910,945 35,134,291 9,098,031 97,947,205 6,186,082
Less unamortized:
   Discount 4,817,312 - 4,817,312 - -

Total long-term debt, net $ 1,194,783,633 $ 463,214,291 $ 511,125,719 $ 1,146,872,205 $ 8,086,082

Revenue Bonds
Balance at

July 1, 2019 Additions Retirements
Balance at

June 30, 2020

Amounts Due
Within

One Year
2017B Series $ 142,595,000 $ - $ 3,890,000 $ 138,705,000 $ 4,070,000
2017A Series 448,205,000 - 12,210,000 435,995,000 12,795,000
2014C Series 40,285,000 - - 40,285,000 -
2014B Series 28,010,000 - - 28,010,000 -
2014A Series 49,155,000 - 7,020,000 42,135,000 7,655,000
2011B Series 258,150,000 - 2,390,000 255,760,000 2,865,000
2011A-2 Series 70,230,000 - 2,005,000 68,225,000 2,110,000
2011A-1 Series 122,100,000 - 3,525,000 118,575,000 3,710,000
Total long-term debt 1,158,730,000 - 31,040,000 1,127,690,000 33,205,000
Add unamortized:
   Premium 75,729,365 - 3,818,420 71,910,945 3,818,420
Less unamortized:
   Discount 5,050,408 - 233,096 4,817,312 233,096

Total long-term debt, net $ 1,229,408,957 $ - $ 34,625,324 $ 1,194,783,633 $ 36,790,324
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Scheduled maturities of outstanding Bonds are as follows:

Fiscal Year
Ending
June 30, Principal Interest

2022 $ 1,900,000 $ 43,805,303
2023 2,225,000 45,257,368
2024 24,155,000 45,249,781
2025 27,225,000 44,184,236
2026 29,965,000 43,022,203
2027-2031 176,795,000 194,719,665
2032-2036 244,620,000 151,777,767
2037-2041 294,830,000 98,104,217
2042-2046 200,885,000 42,328,750
2047 46,325,000 2,316,250

$ 1,048,925,000 $ 710,765,540

A number of limitations and restrictions are imposed upon the Airport by covenants relating to certain
outstanding Bonds. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Airport believes it is in compliance with all such
limitations and restrictions, for which non-compliance would adversely affect its ability to pay debt
service.

Other long-term liability activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Balance at
July 1, 2020

Adjustments/
Additions

Adjustments/
Retirements

Balance at
June 30, 2021

Amounts Due
Within

One Year
Self-insurance $ 2,680,353 $ (49,079) $ (156,507) $ 2,474,767 $ 633,500
Accrued vacation, sick leave

and compensatory time 2,556,722 1,655,882 (1,775,900) 2,436,704 1,846,999

Total $ 5,237,075 $ 1,606,803 $ (1,932,407) $ 4,911,471 $ 2,480,499

Balance at
July 1, 2019

Adjustments/
Additions

Adjustments/
Retirements

Balance at
June 30, 2020

Amounts Due
Within

One Year
Self-insurance $ 2,534,343 $ 256,164 $ (110,154) $ 2,680,353 $ 633,500
Accrued vacation, sick leave

and compensatory time 2,239,425 1,620,154 (1,302,857) 2,556,722 1,975,000

Total $ 4,773,768 $ 1,876,318 $ (1,413,011) $ 5,237,075 $ 2,608,500
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(6) Airline Lease and Other Agreements

The City entered into an Airline Lease Agreement with the various passenger and cargo airlines serving
the Airport, effective July 1, 2019. The Airline Lease Agreement has an initial term of ten years and is set
to expire on June 30, 2029. The term of this Airline Lease Agreement may be extended for two
consecutive five-year renewal periods by the mutual written agreement of the Signatory Passenger
Carriers and the City. 

The key provisions in the Airline Lease Agreement include compensatory rate making for the terminal
cost center and residual rate making for the airfield cost center. The terminal rate per square foot is
calculated based on expenses allocable to the Terminal for each fiscal year divided by the total amount of
rentable terminal space. Should there be any remaining net revenues generated at the Airport and all
requirements of the MTA and any Subordinated Financing Agreements have been satisfied, including the
minimum rate covenant requirement, the Passenger Carriers' share of the remaining net terminal revenues
shall be distributed as a refund once a final accounting of the Airport's operations for the last fiscal year
has been completed. After the final accounting is completed, an invoice will be sent to the Passenger
Carriers if the actual expenses in the terminal were higher than the revenues. The landing fee rate is
calculated by dividing the expenses allocable to the airfield, offset by airfield revenues, other than landing
fees, by the projected aggregated maximum gross landed weight for all aircraft at the Airport during the
fiscal year.  The aggregate credit or debit, if any, resulting from the final accounting after each fiscal year
shall be applied to the airfield revenue requirement for the following fiscal year.

The Airline Lease Agreement defines a Signatory Airline as either a 1) Passenger Carrier that executes
the Airline Lease Agreement, or an agreement with substantially similar terms, and pays at least $500,000
per year in Terminal Rents and other charges due for its use of the Terminal, excluding PFC payments, or
2) a Cargo Carrier that has executed an Airline-Airport Cargo Operating Agreement.  A Passenger Carrier
cannot become a Signatory Airline within three years of the expiration of the Airline Lease Agreement,
except for new entrants to the Airport that have not operated at the Airport at any other time during the
term of the Airline Lease Agreement. 

The Airline Lease Agreement includes other provisions to: 1) allocate the cost of the office and
administrative space used by the City and the City’s contractors at the Airport to all terminal tenants; 2)
pre-approves the Terminal Area Improvement Program (TAIP) for the Phase II of Terminal B, which can
include New Federal Inspection Station (FIS) Facilities when the Airport reaches an annual rate of
550,000 international deplaning passengers for 18 consecutive months; 3) increases current spending
limits for terminal and airfield projects from $5.0 million to $10.0 million without consultation or
approval from the Signatory Airlines to fund a capital project; 4) requires Non-Signatory Airlines to
provide a security deposit in addition to payment of a 25% premium over the rates and charges applicable
to Signatory Airlines; 5) establishes revenue sharing in any year when there is remaining revenue
generated at the Airport for Signatory Airlines as follows: a) the Airport will receive the first $4.0 million
until the Phase II of Terminal B terminal project is completed and occupied and $2.0 million thereafter,
and b) the rest of the net remaining revenue will be split 40%/60% (Airport/Signatory Airlines)
throughout the term; 6) Airlines continue to make extraordinary coverage protection for covering annual
debt service and coverage requirements should revenues less operating expenses be insufficient to meet
the Airport's debt service obligations; and 7) provides continuation of the City's indirect overhead
brackets to no less than 15% and not more than 25% of the Airport’s operating budget.

Any passenger or air cargo carrier that does not meet the minimum requirements to be a Signatory Airline
is given the opportunity to become a “Non-Signatory Airline” by executing a non-signatory agreement in
a form similar to that of the Airline Lease Agreement. Non-Signatory Airlines are charged a premium of
25% over the rates and charges applicable to Signatory Airlines, do not participate in revenue sharing and
do not participate in the review by a “Majority of Interest” of capital projects proposed for the Airport.
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Non-signatory agreements may be terminated by either party on a 30-day notice.

Any passenger or air cargo carrier operating at the Airport that is neither a Signatory Airline nor a Non-
Signatory Airline will be subject to the Airline Rates and Charges Ordinance, which requires such air
carriers to comply with all applicable rules and regulations as established by the Director of Aviation
regarding the proper use and occupancy of the Airport or any portion thereof. In addition, the Airline
Rates and Charges Ordinance establishes all rates and charges applicable to such airline’s operations at
and use of the Airport or any portion thereof, including airfield and terminal rates and charges, at a 30%
premium over the rates and charges as determined pursuant to the terms of the City’s then current Airline
Lease Agreement.

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Airport’s net remaining revenues as defined in its
lease agreements were $8.6 million and $25.1 million, respectively. For the fiscal years ended June 30,
2021 and 2020, the Airport’s revenues as defined in its lease agreements exceeded its expenditures and
reserve requirements by $7.7 million and $23.0 million, respectively. The net remaining revenues for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2021 were divided by allocating the first $4.0 million to the Airport
and then splitting the balance 40%/60% between the Airport and the Signatory Passenger Carriers,
respectively, in accordance with the revenue sharing provisions of the Airline Lease Agreement.

In December 2013, the City entered into a ground lease and operating agreement with Signature, which
constructed a full-service, fixed-based facility on approximately 29 acres of the Airport’s west side
(Original Master Leasehold Parcel). The term of the agreement is for 50 years from December 12, 2013 to
December 11, 2063.  On July 2, 2018, the City entered into the First Amendment to the ground lease and
operating agreement by adding a new parcel of land containing approximately 4 acres (Additional
Premises) bringing the total lease to approximately 33 acres. The base ground rental is subject to a
consumer price index adjustment annually and by appraisal every five years. The interim rent on the
Additional Premises ended effective January 2, 2020 per the First Amendment. The annual base ground
rental rate from May 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021 is $2.49135 per square foot for the entire site. Rental
revenues from the ground lease with Signature were $3,618,726 and $3,301,439 for the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

The Airport also enters into leases with concessionaires, cargo carriers, and other business entities for
building space and/or the privilege of operating a concession at the Airport. As of June 30, 2021, the
remaining terms of these operating leases range from one month to 17 years. The leases with
concessionaires are generally based on the greater of a percentage of their sales or a minimum annual
guaranteed amount (MAG).  The City provided temporary financial relief to some concessionaires from
April 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021 by suspending the MAG and charging only the applicable percentage fee
of gross revenue.

Rental revenues from the aforementioned operating leases were $91,647,279 and $107,321,824 for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.  Revenue from these operating leases is spread
among the various cost centers depending on the location of the leased space.
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The future minimum rentals to be received from the existing operating leases are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

2022 $ 77,087,990

2023 82,690,320

2024 81,587,928

2025 78,627,950

2026 78,530,330

2027-2031 249,544,651

2032-2036 61,332,654

2037-2041 34,856,725

2042-2046 28,430,714

2047-2051 31,390,251

2052-2056 34,657,865

2057-2061 38,265,627

2062-2066 20,425,815

Total minimum lease rentals $ 897,428,820

These future minimum rentals are based upon annual rates and charges currently agreed to by the airlines
and other tenants. 

As of June 30, 2021, and 2020, assets leased to tenants had total historical costs of $1,095,136,142 and
$1,095,136,142 and accumulated depreciation of $336,968,224 and $307,234,919, respectively. 

Pursuant to the terms of individual agreements entered into with the City, every Non-Signatory Airline,
operator, tenant or any other entity or person, which is party to an agreement with the City authorizing
them to conduct business at the Airport, is required to maintain a security deposit on file with the City.
The deposit shall be in a form and amount acceptable to the Director of Aviation, often in the form of
irrevocable LOC, surety bond, cashier’s check or other form acceptable to the Director of Aviation.  The
Director of Aviation has the authority to revise the amount of security deposit at any time to protect the
interests of the City.  Each deposit must be maintained in full force and effect during the entire term of the
agreement to ensure faithful performance by the other party of all the covenants, terms and conditions of
the agreement.  Security deposits in the form of cashier’s checks are recorded as advances and deposits
payable on the accompanying statements of net position. The Airport maintains on file copies of all
security deposits, in the form of LOC or surety bond, which are not recorded in the financial statements.
The amount on file as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $20,182,099 and $22,074,567, respectively. 
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(7) Retirement Systems

(a) General Information

The City sponsors and administers two single employer defined benefit retirement systems, PFDRP and
FCERS, and collectively, the Retirement Systems, which with the exception of certain unrepresented
employees together cover all full-time and certain part-time employees of the City.  The Retirement
Systems provide general retirement benefits under a single employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan, as
well as the Postemployment Healthcare Plan. The Airport does not contribute directly to the PFDRP and,
instead, only covers pension costs of Airport related police and fire personnel through the City’s
interdepartmental charges. All full-time and certain part-time employees of the Airport participate in the
FCERS.

The Retirement Systems are administered by the Chief Executive Officer of the Office of Retirement
Services, an employee of the City, who serves at the pleasure of the Boards of Administration for the
Retirement Systems. The separately issued annual reports of FCERS and PDFRP, together with various
chapters in Title 3 of the City’s Municipal Code, provide more detailed information about the Retirement
Systems, and may be obtained from the City of San José Office of Retirement Services at
http://www.sjretirement.com. The Airport presents the related defined benefit disclosures of FCERS as a
participant in a cost-sharing arrangement with the City. 

(b) Benefits Provided

FCERS benefits are based on average final compensation, years of service, and cost of living increases as
specified by the City’s Municipal Code. The contribution and benefit provisions and all other
requirements are established by the City Charter and the City’s Municipal Code. Information regarding
disability and death benefits can be found in the annual reports of the Retirement Plans and on the Office
of Retirement Services website.

The payroll for Airport employees covered by the FCERS for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and
2020 was $17,857,080 and $17,270,097, respectively. The Airport’s total payroll for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $22,232,245 and $22,288,349, respectively.
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The FCERS has several Tiers as follows:

Tier Hire Date Pension

Defined Benefit
Retiree Healthcare
(Medical/Dental)

Tier 1 - On or before September 29, 2012
- Former Tier 1 rehired on or after June 18, 2017 who
  did not take a return of contributions(1)

Tier 1 Medical/Dental(2)(4)

Tier 1 Rehire - Former Tier 1 rehired on or after September 30, 2012
  through June 17, 2017

Tier 1(1) Medical/Dental(2)(4)(5)

Tier 1 Classic - "Classic" membership with CalPERS/reciprocal
  agency hired on or after September 30, 2012, but 
  before September 27, 2013
- "Classic" membership with CalPERS/reciprocal 
  agency hired on or after September 27, 2013

Tier 1(6) Medical/Dental(3)(4)

Not eligible(3)(4)

Tier 2 (or Tier 2A) - Hired/rehired/reinstated on or after September 30, 2012
  but before September 27, 2013

Tier 2 Medical/Dental(2)(4)

Tier 2B - Hired/rehired/reinstated after September 27, 2013 and
  have not met City's eligibility for retiree healthcare

Tier 2 Not eligible(3)(4)

(1) Employees in these Tiers are responsible for 50% of the amortization costs for having any prior years of service in Tier 2 changed to
Tier 1. 
(2) Employees in these Tiers were provided a one-time irrevocable election to remain in the Postemployment Healthcare Plan or opt-in to
 the defined contribution VEBA.  Please note that those who opted in to the VEBA are no longer eligible for the Postemployment

Healthcare Plan.  The VEBA was implemented on March 25, 2018.
(3) Employees in these Tiers were mandatorily placed into the VEBA.
(4) Unrepresented employees were eligible to opt in to the VEBA, but are not eligible to make ongoing contributions to the VEBA.
(5) All Tier 1 rehires formerly in Tier 2B and Tier 2C who opted to remain in the Postemployment Healthcare Plan began contributing
to retiree healthcare on March 25, 2018. 
(6) Employees in these Tiers are responsible for 50% of the amortization costs for any prior years of service in Tier 2 changed to Tier 1 for
all employees in the "Classic" Tier regardless of start date.
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The FCERS’ pension benefits are summarized in the table below. For additional information regarding
the FCERS’ benefits, please contact the City of San José Office of Retirement Services.

       Tier 1(1)                                    Tier 1 Classic(2) Tier 2A(3)                   Tier 2B(4)

Pension
Service Required to Leave
Contributions in System

5 years 5 years Federated City Service
Years of Service (Year of Service  = 2,080
hours worked in the applicable 12 month
period)

Service Retirement:

Age/Years of Service 55 with 5 years service
30 years service at any age

62 years with 5 years Federated City
Service. May retire on or after 55 years
with 5 years Federated City Service.  A
reduction factor of 5% per year for each
year between age 55 and the Tier 2
member's age at retirement before 62,
prorated to the closest month.

Deferred Vested 55 with 5 years service
(This applies to members who separate from City service before
retirement and leave their contributions in the retirement system.)

May commence on or after 55 years with 5
years Federated City Service with actuarial
equivalent reduction

(This applies to members who separate
from City service before retirement and
leave their contributions in the retirement
system.)  Can begin at age 55 with
reduction factor of 5% per year for each
year between age 55 and the Tier 2
member's age at retirement before age 62,
prorated to the closest month. 

Allowance 2.5% x Years of Service x Final Compensation (75% max) 2.0% x Years of Federated City Service x
Final Compensation (70% max)

Final Compensation is the highest average monthly earnable
pensionable salary during 12 consecutive months, capped at
108% of the second highest 12 consecutive months.

"Final Compensation" is the average
monthly (or biweekly) base pay for the
highest 3 consecutive Years of Federated
City Service.                                           

If separation takes place prior to July 1, 2001, Final
Compensation is highest average monthly salary during 36
consecutive months. 

Excludes premium pay or any other forms
of additional compensation

Disability Retirement (Service Connected)

Minimum Service None None

Allowance 40% of Final Compensation plus 2.5% x Years of Service in
excess of 16 years x Final Compensation.
(Maximum 75% of Final Compensation)

2.0% x Years of Federated City Service x
Final Compensation.
(Minimum of 40% and maximum of 70%
of Final Compensation)
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Tier 1(1)                                 Tier 1 Classic(2) Tier 2A(3)                   Tier 2B(4)

Disability Retirement (Non-Service Connected)

Minimum Service 5 years 5 Years

Allowance 20% of Final Compensation for up to 6 years of service. Add 2%
for each year of service in excess of 6 years but less than 16
years. Add 2.5% for each year of service in excess of 16 years of
service.
(Maximum 75% of Final Compensation.)

2.0% x Years of Federated City Service x
Final Compensation.

For those entering the System 8/31/98 or before, the calculation
is as follows: 40% of Final Compensation plus 2.5% x Years of
Service in excess of 16 years x Final Compensation.
(Maximum 75% of Final Compensation)
If under 55 years old, subtract 0.5% for every year under age 55.

(Minimum of 20% and maximum of 70%
of Final Compensation)

Cost of Living Adjustments
Cost of Living Adjustments Retirees are eligible for a 3% annual cost of living adjustment

(COLA).  Regular COLAs are compounded and paid each April. 
There is no prorating of COLA.

Retirees are eligible for annual COLA
limited to the lesser of the increase in the
Consumer Price Index (San José - San
Francisco - Oakland, U.S. Bureau of Labor
Statistics index, CPIU, December to
December), or a back loaded 2% COLA per
fiscal year.  The back loaded COLA shall
be calculated as follows:

i. Service at retirement of 1-10 years:
1.25% per year
ii. Service at retirement of 1-10 years and
hired before June 16, 2017: 1.5%
iii. Service at retirement of 11-20 years:
1.5% per year
iv. Service at retirement of 21-25 years:
1.75% per year
v. Service at retirement of 26 years and
above: 2.0% per year
The first COLA will be prorated based on
the number of months retired.   

(1) Tier 1 applies to employees hired on or before September 29, 2012. 
(2) Employees with "Classic" membership from a CalPERS or reciprocal agency hired by the City of San José on or after June 18, 2017. A
CalPERS "Classic" member is a member who previously worked for a CalPERS or other reciprocal agency and meets the following criteria: 1.
First established CalPERS membership or membership in a CalPERS reciprocal agency prior to January 1, 2013, 2. AND is hired by the City of
San José after a break in service of less than six months 3. AND did not have concurrent (overlapping) service with the other agency. City of San
José Reciprocity Election Form must be submitted within thirty (30) days of the first day of employment with the City. Employees in Tier 1
"Classic" are not eligible for the defined benefit retiree healthcare plan.
(3) Tier 2A applies to employees hired between September 30, 2012 and September 27, 2013.
(4) Tier 2B are employees who were newly hired after September 27, 2013.
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(c) Contributions

This subsection provides information related to contributions paid by the Airport for pension benefits
provided by FCERS. 

Under GASB Statement No. 68, the City’s and the participating employees’ contributions to the Defined
Benefit Pension Plan are based upon an actuarially determined percentage of each employee’s
pensionable and earnable  salary to arrive at an actuarially determined contribution (ADC) sufficient to
provide adequate assets to pay benefits when due. The contribution requirements are established by City
Charter Articles XV and XV-A, and Title 3 of the San José  Municipal Code.

FCERS contribution rates for the Airport and the participating employees for the periods July 1, 2019
through June 30, 2020 and July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021 were established in accordance with
actuarially determined requirements computed through actuarial valuations performed as of June 30,
2018, and June 30, 2019, respectively, for the Defined Benefit Pension Plan. 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Airport's Contribution(1) Employees' Contribution(2)

Pay Period Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 1 Tier 2

July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2020 19.34% 8.33% 7.06% 8.33%
July 1, 2020 - June 26, 2021 19.82% 7.92% 7.22% 7.92%
June 27, 2021 - June 30, 2021 20.25% 8.17% 7.39% 8.17%

(1) For Tier 1 members, the actual contribution rates paid by the City for fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 differed due to
the City funding the ADC amount based on the greater of the dollar amount reported in the actuarial valuation or the dollar amount
determined by applying the percentage of payroll reported in the valuation to the actual payroll, if actual payroll exceeds the actuarial
payroll, for the fiscal year.

(2) Under Measure F, certain FCERS Tier 2 members who had previous Tier 1 service or prior service with a reciprocal employer were
reclassified to Tier 1.  Ordinance No. 30183, which became effective January 4, 2019, amended the Municipal Code to reflect these
changes. Effective 3/24/19, reclassified Tier 1 members paid an additional 3.00% in contributions.  Classic Tier 1 members paid an
additional 1.46% effective 8/12/18.

* Contributions are structured as a normal cost, plus a payment on the UAL. City contributions are administered as a contribution rate plus
a minimum dollar amount based on actuarial payroll. 

The Airport's contributions paid during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 were $10,595,810. 

The Airport's contributions paid during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 were $10,634,355. 

(d) Net Pension Liability, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related
to Pension

As of June 30, 2021, the Airport reported $113,362,614 of net pension liability (NPL) for its
proportionate share of the City’s NPL. The Airport’s portion of the NPL was based on the Airport’s share
of its contributions to the FCERS relative to the total City's contributions to FCERS. The NPL of the
FCERS was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability (TPL) for the FCERS used to
calculate the NPL was determined by the actuarial valuation for FCERS as of June 30, 2019 and rolled
forward to June 30, 2020 using standard update procedures. The Airport's percentage of the City's NPL
for the FCERS NPL was 5.9% as of June 30, 2020, the measurement date. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the Airport recognized pension expense of $13,802,528 for
FCERS. As of June 30, 2021, the Airport reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to
pension from the following sources:
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Deferred

Outflows of

Resources

Deferred

Inflows of

Resources

Contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 10,595,810 $ -

Differences between expected and actual experience 255,993 1,561,367

Changes in assumptions 1,595,133 357,642

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan

investments 4,840,549 -

$ 17,287,485 $ 1,919,009

As of June 30, 2021, $10,595,810 was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions
for FCERS subsequent to the June 30, 2020 measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net
pension liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as
pension expense as follows:

Deferred

Outflows (Inflows) 

of Resources

2022 $ 1,530,029

2023 1,728,847

2024 897,847

2025 615,943

$ 4,772,666

As of June 30, 2020, the Airport reported $112,614,873 of NPL for its proportionate share of the City’s
NPL for the FCERS. The Airport’s portion of the NPL was based on the Airport’s share of its
contributions to the FCERS relative to the total City's contributions to FCERS.

The NPL of the FCERS was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the TPL for the FCERS used to calculate
the NPL was determined by actuarial valuation for FCERS as of June 30, 2018 and rolled forward to June
30, 2019 using standard update procedures. The Airport’s percentage of the City's NPL of the FCERS
NPL was 5.4% as of June 30, 2019, the measurement date.  In FY 20, the Airport adjusted its net pension
liability to remove its proportionate share of the City's net pension liability for PFDRP as explained in
Note 1(m).

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the Airport recognized pension expense of $17,985,072 for the
FCERS. As of June 30, 2020, the Airport reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to
pension from the following sources: 
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Deferred

Outflows of

Resources

Deferred

Inflows of

Resources

Contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 10,634,355 $ -

Differences between expected and actual experience 525,939 526,942

Changes in assumptions 2,457,908 469,369

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan

investments 5,205,383 -

$ 18,823,585 $ 996,311

As of June 30, 2020, $10,634,355 was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions
for the FCERS subsequent to the June 30, 2019 measurement date was recognized as a reduction of the
NPL in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.

(e) Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

This subsection provides information related to the actuarial methods and assumptions specific to the
FCERS Defined Benefit Pension Plan. 

The significant actuarial methods and assumptions used to compute TPL as of June 30, 2021 and June 30,
2020 are from the FCERS actuarial valuation reports with valuation dates of June 30, 2019 and June 30,
2018, respectively. The valuation reports were rolled forward to June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019,
respectively, using standard update procedures:

Method/Assumption

(June 30, 2021)

Method/Assumption

(June 30, 2020)
Measurement date June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019
Valuation date June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Entry Age
Inflation rate 2.50% 2.50%
Discount rate 6.75% per annum 6.75% per annum
Mortality
(a) Service: Healthy annuitants: 0.995 for males Healthy annuitants: 0.952 for males 

and 0.960 for females, times the 2010 Public
General Mortality Table (PubG-2010). Healthy
non-annuitant: 0.992 for males and 1.084 for
females, times the 2010 Public General
Mortality Table (PubG-2010).

and 0.921 for females, times the CalPERS 2009
Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table.  Healthy
non-annuitants: 0.919 for males and 0.918 for
females, times the CalPERS 2009 Employee
Mortality Table.  

(b) Disability: Disabled annuitants: 1.051 for males and Disabled annuitants: 1.051 for males and 
0.991 for females, times the CalPERS 2009
Ordinary Disabled Mortality table.  Mortality is
projected from 2010 on a generational basis
using the MP-2019 scale.

1.002 for females, times the CalPERS 2009
Ordinary Disabled Mortality table.  Mortality is
projected from 2009 on a generational basis
using the MP-2018 scale. 

Active, withdrawal, Tables based on current experience. Tables based on current experience.
death, disability, 
service retirements

Salary increases
  Wage Inflation The base wage inflation assumption of 3.00%

plus a merit / longevity increase based on years
of service ranging from 3.75% at hire to 0.10%
for members with 15 or more years of service.

The base wage inflation assumption of 3.25%
plus a merit / longevity increase based on years
of service ranging from 4.50% at hire to 0.25%
for members with 14 or more years of service.

  Merit increase For the amortization schedule, payroll is For the amortization schedule, payroll is
assumed to grow 3.00% per year. assumed to grow 3.25% per year.

  Cost of living adjustment Tier 1 - 3% per year; Tier 1 - 3% per year;
Tier 2 - 1.25-2% per year depending on years of
service.

Tier 2 - 1.25-2% per year depending on years of
service.
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Long-term Expected Rate of Return on Plan Investments - The assumption for the long-term expected
rate of return on investments was selected by estimating the median nominal rate of return based on long-
term capital market assumptions adopted by the Board, including nominal expected rates of return for
each of the asset classes, and reducing the estimated median by a margin so that there is estimated to be a
greater than 50 percent probability of achieving the returns. Best estimates of geometric real rates of
return for each major asset class included in the FCERS target asset allocation are summarized in the
following tables.

As of June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 measurement dates, using a long-term expected rate of return on
investments of 6.750% and 6.750% with a valuation date of June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018:

Asset Class

2020

Target Asset

Allocation

2020

Long-Term

Expected Real

Rate of Return

2019

Target Asset

Allocation

2019

Long-Term

Expected Real

Rate of Return

Public equity 49% 5.4% 30% 6.2%

Short-term investment grade bonds - - 20.0 0.8%

Private equity 8% 6.8% 10% 7.3%

Market neutral strategies 3% 2.1% 7% 2.7%

Bonds (immunized cash flows) 5% (0.9)% 5% 0.8%

Core real estate 5% 3.5% 5% 3.1%

Venture / Growth capital 4% 6.6% 5% 7.2%

Private debt 3% 4.4% 4% 4.6%

Commodities - - 3% 2.3%

Emerging market bonds 3% 2.0% 3% 2.6%

Growth real estate 3% 6.1% 3% 5.3%

Private real assets 3% 5.0% 3% 6.7%

Treasury inflation protected

securities 2% (0.1)% 2% 1.0%

Investment grade bonds 8% (0.1)% - -

High yield bonds 2% 2.6% - -

Long-term government bonds 2% 0.2% - -

Real estate - - - -

Cash - - - -

Total 100% 100%

Discount Rate - The discount rates used to measure the total pension liability as of June 30, 2020 and
June 30, 2019 were 6.750% and 6.750%, respectively, for the FCERS plan for valuations dated June 30,
2019 and June 30, 2018. It is assumed that members’ contributions and City’s contributions will be made
based on the actuarially determined rates based on the FCERS' Board funding policies. Based on those
assumptions, the FCERS' fiduciary net position is expected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension
plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension
liabilities.
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Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in Discount Rates - The following presents the
Airport’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for FCERS, as well as what the Airport’s
proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the measurement date rate.

The allocation was based on 5.9% of the City's net pension liability at the measurement date June 30,
2020, and on 5.4% of the City's net pension liability at the measurement date June 30, 2019.

As of June 30, 2021:
1% Decrease

5.75%

Measurement Date
Discount Rate      

6.75%
1% Increase

7.75%

Net pension liability $ 156,996,855 $ 113,362,614 $ 77,785,474

As of June 30, 2020:
1% Decrease

5.75%

Measurement Date
Discount Rate       

6.75%
1% Increase

7.75%

Net pension liability $ 155,684,492 $ 112,614,873 $ 77,500,252

As of June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, the actuarial valuation dates, the FCERS' Board was utilizing a
discount rate of 6.750% and 6.750%, respectively. For more details on the current discount rate, please
refer to the stand-alone reports issued by the FCERS.

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the FCERS fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued FCERS financial report.

Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Inflows or Resources for FCERS

Gains and losses related to changes in total pension liability and fiduciary net position are recognized in
pension expense systematically over time.

One fifth of the net earnings is recognized in the first year when the gain or loss occurred for the
difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments. The other deferred
amounts are amortized over the expected average remaining service lifetime. The remaining amounts are
categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pension and are to be
recognized in future pension expense.

The recognition period differs depending on the source of the gain or loss:

Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments

5 Years

All other amounts Expected average remaining service lifetime
(EARSL) (5 Years)

(f) Payable to the Pension Plan

At June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, the Airport had no outstanding contribution payable to the pension
plan.
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(g) Other Postemployment Benefits Under GASB Statement No. 75

In addition to the FCERS Defined Benefit Pension Plan, the City also sponsors and administers a single
employer FCERS (Postemployment Healthcare Plan), which includes an Internal Revenue Code (IRC)
115 Trust. The Postemployment Healthcare Plan covers eligible full-time and certain part-time employees
of the City, and are accounted for in the Pension Trust Funds of the City.  

Generally, the defined benefit Postemployment Healthcare Plan provides medical and dental benefits to
eligible retirees and their beneficiaries. Benefits are 100% of the premium cost for the lowest priced
medical insurance plan available to an active City employee, and 100% of the premium cost for a dental
insurance plan available to an active City employee.

Per the terms of the Frameworks discussed in Note IV A.1 of the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
in the City's June 30, 2021 ACFR, the City established VEBA for retiree healthcare for the members of
the FCERS in FY 18.  The City does not make contributions into the VEBAs and the VEBAs are not
subject to the jurisdiction of the Retirement Board.

In November 2017, the IRS and City entered into a Closing Agreement whereby  FCERS Tier 1 and some
FCERS Tier 2 members were eligible for an irrevocable opt-out of the applicable Postemployment
Healthcare Plan into a VEBA. The transfer of their retiree healthcare contributions (medical and dental)
from the applicable Postemployment Healthcare Plan to their individual VEBA accounts remained subject
to IRS approval. The VEBA opt-in election period was October 18, 2017 through December 15, 2017. In
February 2018, the IRS issued favorable private letter rulings with respect to the transfer of retiree
healthcare contributions from the Postemployment Healthcare Plan for those employees opting into a
VEBA and in March 2018, the retiree healthcare contributions of members who opted in to a VEBA were
transferred from the applicable Postemployment Healthcare Plan into their individual VEBA accounts.
The IRS also approved allowing eligible employees who are rehired by the City during calendar years
2018 through 2022 to opt into the applicable VEBA and transfer the retiree healthcare contributions from
the applicable Postemployment Healthcare Plan to their individual VEBA accounts. Additional
information can be found in Section IV.A.4 of the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements in the City's
June 30, 2021 ACFR.

Contribution amounts to the Postemployment Healthcare Plan for both the City and the participating
members are based upon agreements between the City and the bargaining units. With the implementation
of Measure F, ADC was calculated beginning with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.

On June 24, 2008, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 28332 amending Title 3 of the San José
Municipal Code to provide the City with the option to make lump sum prepayments of City required
contributions for postemployment healthcare benefits to FCERS.

Subsequently, in October 2014, the Board of Administration of FCERS approved implementing an
incremental reduction approach to determining the “actuarial equivalence” for the City’s prefunding of its
contribution when the economic expansion has exceeded 58 months in duration and/or the S&P 500 has
returns in excess of 130%. This approach was undertaken to ensure that as business expansions and/or
market valuations mature and exceed historic norms, FCERS reduces the City’s incentive to prefund its
contributions when market valuations and/or economic expansions are beyond historic norms. The
incremental reduction is 15% per year, up to a maximum of 45%, which was the reduction to the discount
rate that was applied to calculate the actuarially determined prepayment amount for the participating
members to be paid by the City at the beginning of fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. However, the City
elected to not prefund its actuarially determined contribution for Tier 1 members for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2020.

The FCERS Board on February 15, 2018 approved a contribution policy for the respective
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Postemployment Healthcare Plan that sets the City's contribution as a flat dollar amount.

Historically, member and City contributions to the Postemployment Healthcare Plan were negotiated
through collective bargaining and was not actuarially determined.  Until the City entered into agreements
with various bargaining groups in 2009 and prior to implementation of Measure F, contributions for the
health and dental benefits for both the City and the participating employees of the Postemployment
Healthcare Plan were based upon an actuarially determined percentage of employees’ base salary
sufficient to provide adequate assets to pay benefits when due over the next 15 years for  FCERS. From
2009 until the implementation of Measure F, the City had been in the process of phasing in payment of
the annual required contribution (ARC) for the retiree health and dental benefits provided by
Postemployment Healthcare Plan as calculated pursuant to GASB Statement No.  43 and GASB
Statement No. 45 then in effect. However, the contribution rates for the City and members of the
Postemployment Healthcare Plan were capped before the full ARC was reached.

The annual contribution costs for the Postemployment Healthcare Plan benefits are allocated to both the
City and the active employee members.  Contributions to the Postemployment Healthcare Plan for both
the City and the participating members are based upon agreements between the City and the bargaining
units.  With the implementation of Measure F, member contributions are fixed as a percentage of pay and
the City's contribution toward the explicit subsidy (premium subsidy) is an ADC determined by the
Postemployment Healthcare Plan. The ADC for the Postemployment Healthcare Plan is the normal cost
plus the amortization payment on the unfunded actuarial liability, less expected member contributions.
The City has an option to limit its ADC for the Postemployment Healthcare Plan to a fixed percentage of
the payroll of all active members of the pension plan. The ADC for the Postemployment Healthcare Plan
is calculated beginning with FY 19.

The City will pay the implicit subsidy on a pay-as-you go basis as part of active health premiums.  An
implicit subsidy for retiree health benefits exists because the medical experience for retirees under age 65
are pooled with the experience for active employees thereby resulting in a lowering of the premium paid
for retirees under age 65. The implicit subsidy is included in the actuarial valuation of the
Postemployment Healthcare Plan.  The implicit subsidy is shown as both a contribution and payment
from the Postemployment Healthcare Plan. However, the implicit subsidy is not actually contributed to or
paid from the Postemployment Healthcare Plan. Rather, it is paid directly by the City on a pay-as-you-go
basis as a part of active member health plan premiums. The actuary for the Postemployment Healthcare
Plan separately calculates the total unfunded actuarial liability being the aggregate unfunded actuarial
liability for both implicit and explicit subsidies, and the unfunded actuarial liability for only the explicit
subsidy. The unfunded actuarial liability for the explicit subsidy is used to calculate the City’s ADC to the
Postemployment Healthcare Plan.

As of March 25, 2018, members remaining in the FCERS Postemployment Healthcare Plan contribute
7.5% of pay. The City continued to pay the phased-in contribution rate until the beginning of FY 19 when
it commenced paying the ADC as determined by the FCERS Board subject to a cap of 14% of payroll of
all active members of FCERS.

The contributions to the FCERS Postemployment Healthcare Plan for the Airport and the participating
employees for the periods July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020 and July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021 are
shown below.
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Postemployment Healthcare Plan Airport's Contribution Employee's Contribution
Pay period Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 1 Tier 2

July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2020 ** ** 7.50% 7.50%

July 1, 2020 - June 30, 2021 * * 7.50% 7.50%

In February 2018, the Board approved the contribution policy that sets the City healthcare contributions as a flat dollar

amount, beginning with FY 19. 

* The City's contribution amount determined as a flat dollar amount of $20,948,983 for all tiers and not a rate of pay.

** The City's contribution amount determined as a flat dollar amount of $21,790,130 for all tiers and not a rate of pay.

The Airport's contributions paid during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 were $1,424,615 and

$1,183,200, respectively. 

As of June 30, 2021, the Airport reported $18,650,020 of net OPEB liability for its proportionate share of
the City’s net OPEB liability. The Airport's portion of net OPEB liability was based on the Airport's share
of its OPEB contributions in Airport Funds to FCERS relative to the total City's OPEB contributions to
FCERS. The net OPEB liability of FCERS was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total OPEB
liability for FCERS used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation for
the FCERS Postemployment Healthcare Plan as of June 30, 2019 and rolled forward to June 30, 2020
using standard update procedures. The Airport’s percentage of the City's net OPEB liability of the
FCERS' net OPEB liability was 5.4% as of June 30, 2020, the measurement date.

As of June 30, 2020, the Airport reported $20,341,520 of net OPEB liability for its proportionate share of
the City’s net OPEB liability. The Airport's portion of net OPEB liability was based on the Airport's share
of its OPEB contributions in Airport Funds to FCERS relative to the total City's OPEB contributions to
FCERS. The net OPEB liability of FCERS was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total OPEB
liability for FCERS used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation for
the FCERS Postemployment Healthcare Plan as of June 30, 2018 and rolled forward to June 30, 2019
using standard update procedures. The Airport’s proportionate share of the City's net OPEB liability of
FCERS was 5.4%, as of June 30, 2019 the measurement date. In FY 20, the Airport adjusted its net OPEB
liability to remove its proportionate share of the City's net OPEB liability for PFDRP as explained in Note
1(n). PFDRP amounts were immaterial to the FY 19 financial statements.

The net OPEB liability of FCERS as of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 was measured as of June 30,
2020 and June 30, 2019, respectively, and the total OPEB liability for FCERS used to calculate the net
OPEB liability was determined by actuarial valuations as of June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 based on
the following actuarial methods and assumptions and rolled forward to June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019,
respectively, using standard update procedures.
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Method/Assumption

(June 30, 2021)

Method/Assumption

(June 30, 2020)

Measurement date June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019

Valuation date June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal, level of percentage of pay Entry Age Normal, level of percentage of pay

Actuarial assumptions:

Inflation Rate 2.50% 2.50%

Discount Rate (net) 6.75% 6.75%
Merit Increase Merit component added based on an

individual's years of service ranging 

from 3.75% at hire to 0.10%.

Merit component added based on an

individual's years of service ranging 

from 4.50% at hire to 0.25%.

Wage Inflation Rate 3.00% 3.25%

Investment Rate of Return 6.75% 6.75%

Mortality Rate* Mortality is projected from 2010 on a

generational basis using the MP-2019 scale.

Mortality is projected from 2009 on a

generational basis using the MP-2018 scale

Pre-Retirement Turnover** Please see below table. Please see below table.

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate

The valuation assumes that future medical

inflation will be at a rate of 7.66% to 3.94%

per annum graded down over a 55 year period

for medical-pre age 65 and 4.11% to 3.94%

per annum fluctuate over a 55 year period for

medical-post age of 65.

The valuation assumes that future medical

inflation will be at a rate of 8.00% to 4.25%

per annum graded down over a 15 year period

for medical-pre age 65 and 6.00% to 4.25%

per annum graded down over a 15 year period

for medical-post age of 65.

Dental inflation is assumed to be 3.50% Dental inflation is assumed to be 3.50%

* FCERS Mortality Rates

Category Male Female
Healthy Annuitant 0.995 times the 2010 Public General Mortality

Table (PubG-2010) for Heathly Retirees.

0.960 times the 2010 Public General Mortality

Table (PubG-2010) for Heathly Retirees.

Healthy Non-Annuitant 0.992 times the 2010 Public General Mortality

Table (PubG-2010) for Heathly Retirees.

1.084 times the 2010 Public General Mortality

Table (PubG-2010) for Heathly Retirees.

Disabled Annuitant 1.051 times the CalPERS 2009 Ordinary Disability

Mortality Table.

0.991 times the CalPERS 2009 Ordinary Disability

Mortality Table.

**Rates of Pre-Retirement Turnover.  Sample rates of termination are shown in the following table:

Rates of Termination
Years of Service Termination Rate Years of Service Termination Rate

0 15.00% 8 5.50%
1 12.75% 9 4.75%
2 11.75% 10 4.25%
3 10.75% 11 4.00%
4 9.75% 12 3.75%
5 8.75% 13 3.50%
6 7.75% 14 3.25%
7 6.50% 15+ 3.25%

Note: Termination rates do not apply once a member is eligible for retirement.
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Long-term Expected Rate of Return on Plan Investments - The assumption for the long-term expected
rate of return on investments was selected by estimating the median nominal rate of return based on long-
term capital market assumptions adopted by FCERS Board, including nominal expected rates of return for
each of the asset classes, and reducing the estimated median by a margin so that there is estimated to be a
greater than 50 percent probability of achieving the returns.

For FCERS Postemployment Healthcare Plan, the assets were invested both in a 401(h) account within
FCERS pension plan and in a 115 trust account. The table below refers only to the 115 trust account. The
401(h) account was depleted during FY 19. Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major
asset class included in the FCERS target asset allocation are summarized in the following table.

As of June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 measurement dates, using a long-term expected rate of return on
investments of 6.750% and 6.750% with a valuation date of June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018:

Asset Class

2020

Target Asset

Allocation

2020

Long-Term

Expected Real

Rate of Return

2019

Target Asset

Allocation

2019

Long-Term

Expected Real

Rate of Return

Public Equity 56% 5.4% 56.0% 6.1%

Short-term investment grade bonds 29% (0.5)% 29.0% 0.8%

Core real estate 10% 4.7% 10.0% 4.3%

Commodities 5% 1.7% 5.0% 2.3%

Cash - (0.9)% - 0.3%

Total 100% 100%

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2020 and June
30, 2019 were 6.750% and 6.750%, respectively, based on the long-term expected rate of return on
investments, for FCERS plan valuations dated June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018. It is assumed that
FCERS members' contributions and City contributions will continue at the current contribution rates and
that the City will contribute the actuarially determined contribution toward the explicit subsidy up to a
maximum of 14% of total payroll for FCERS. In addition, the City will pay the implicit subsidy on a pay-
as-you-go basis. Based on those assumptions, the FCERS fiduciary net positions are expected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term
expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total OPEB liabilities.

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in Discount Rates - The following presents the
Airport’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability for FCERS, as well as what the Airport’s
proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the measurement date rate.

As of June 30, 2021, the Airport's share of the City's net OPEB liability was based on 5.4% of the
Airport’s proportion of the City's net OPEB liability for FCERS at the measurement date, June 30, 2020.

As of June 30, 2021:

1% Decrease
(5.750%)

Measurement Date
Discount Rate

(6.750%)
1% Increase

(7.750%)

Net OPEB liability $ 23,635,798 $ 18,650,020 $ 14,595,331

As of June 30, 2020, the Airport’s share of the City’s net OPEB liability was based on 5.4% of the
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Airport's proportion of the City's net OPEB liability for FCERS at the June 30, 2019 measurement date.

As of June 30, 2020:
1% Decrease

(5.75%)

Measurement Date
Discount Rate

(6.75%)
1% Increase

(7.75%)
Net OPEB liability $ 25,564,903 $ 20,341,520 $ 16,092,576

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in Healthcare Cost Trend Rates - The following
presents the Airport’s proportionate share of the City's net OPEB liability for FCERS if it were calculated
using health care cost trend rates that are one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than
the measurement date rate.

As of June 30, 2021, the Airport's share of the City's net OPEB liability was based on 5.4% of the
Airport’s proportion of the City's net OPEB liability for FCERS at the measurement date, June 30, 2020.

As of June 30, 2021: 1% Decrease

Measurement Date
Healthcare Trend

Rate 1% Increase

Net OPEB liability $ 14,132,628 $ 18,650,020 $ 24,225,518

As of June 30, 2020, the Airport’s share of the City’s net OPEB liability was based on 5.4% of the
Airport's proportion of the City's net OPEB liability for FCERS at the June 30, 2019 measurement date.

As of June 30, 2020: 1% Decrease

Measurement Date
Healthcare Trend

Rate 1% Increase
Net OPEB liability $ 15,648,223 $ 20,341,520 $ 26,129,087

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about FCERS' fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued FCERS' financial report.

Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources for FCERS

Gains and losses related to changes in total OPEB liability and fiduciary net position for FCERS are
recognized in OPEB expense systematically over time.

One fifth of the net earnings is recognized in the first year when the gain or loss occurred for the
difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments. The other deferred amounts
are amortized over the expected average remaining service lifetime. The remaining amounts are
categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB and are to be
recognized in future OPEB expense.

The recognition period differs depending on the source of the gain or loss:

Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on OPEB plan investments

5 Years

All other amounts Expected average remaining service lifetime
(EARSL) (5 Years)
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For fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the Airport recognized OPEB negative expense of $1,360,520 for
FCERS. As of June 30, 2021, the Airport reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to
OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred

Outflows of

Resources

Deferred

Inflows of

Resources

OPEB contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 1,424,615 $ -

Differences between expected and actual experience - 1,116,228

Changes in assumptions 319,064 535,898

Differences between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments 1,164,375 (9,993)

Total
$ 2,908,054 $ 1,642,133

As of June 30, 2021, $1,424,615 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions for
FCERS subsequent to the June 30, 2020 measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net
OPEB liability during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022. 

Deferred

Outflows (Inflows)

of Resources

2022 $ (255,402)

2023 (375,479)

2024 287,664

2025 184,523

$ (158,694)

For fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the Airport recognized OPEB expense of $620,764 for  FCERS. As
of June 30, 2020, the Airport reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB from
the following sources:

Deferred

Outflows of

Resources

Deferred

Inflows of

Resources

OPEB contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 1,183,200 $ -
Differences between expected and actual experience - 398,910
Changes in Assumption 487,591 1,703,731
Differences between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments 635,032 30,895

Total $ 2,305,823 $ 2,133,536

As of June 30, 2020, $1,183,200 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions for
FCERS, subsequent to the June 30, 2019 measurement date was recognized as a reduction of the net
OPEB liability during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. 
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The City issues a publicly available ACFR that includes the complete note disclosures and required
supplementary information related to the City's pension and other postemployment benefit obligations.  A
copy of that report may be obtained by visiting the City's website at www.sanjoseca.gov or by contacting
the City’s Finance Department, 200 East Santa Clara Street, 13th Floor, San José, CA, 95113.

(8) Related Party Transactions

The City provides certain general support services to the Airport and charges a pro rata fee. The fees
charged to the Airport for these services for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, were
$5,395,977 and $5,434,741, respectively. The City also charged the Airport fees of $18,156,591 and
$17,221,192 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, for airport rescue and
firefighting and police services coverage. Additionally, various City departments charge the Airport for
services they rendered on its behalf. These fees and service charges, which totaled $1,281,258 and
$1,435,346 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. All fees charged by the City
are included in the operating expenses in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses, and
changes in net position.

(9) Risk Management

(a) Insurance Policies

The Airport is covered under the City’s all-risk property insurance policy with coverage for City property,
including coverage for boiler and machinery exposures. The policy also provides coverage for loss due to
business interruption and flood coverage. The City does not carry earthquake insurance as it is not
available at reasonable rates. A summary of the City's all-risk property insurance policy coverages
applicable to the Airport is provided below for the policy periods of October 1, 2020 to October 1, 2021
and October 1, 2019  to October 1, 2020. 

October 1, 2020 to October 1, 2021

Coverage Limit Per Occurrence(1)

Deductible Per
Occurrence(2)

Property(3) $1,000,000,000 $100,000
Business Interruption $300,000,000 $100,000
Flood Locations - Other Than Low
Hazard(4)

$10,000,000
Annual Aggregate

$10,000,000
per Location

(1) Other sub-limits apply.
(2) Other deductibles apply.
(3) Covers "Certified Acts of Terrorism" under the Termination Risk Insurance Act of 2002, as amended.
(4) Refers to flood locations as defined in the City's insurance policy.
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October 1, 2019 to October 1, 2020

Coverage Limit Per Occurrence(1)

Deductible Per
Occurrence(2)

Property and Business Interruption(3) $1,000,000,000 $100,000
Flood Locations - Moderate and High
Hazard Flood Exposed(4)

$10,000,000
 Annual Aggregate

$10,000,000
per Location

(1) Other sub-limits apply.
(2) Other deductibles apply.
(3) Covers "Certified Acts of Terrorism" under the Termination Risk Insurance Act of 2002, as amended.
(4) Refers to flood locations as defined in the City's insurance policy.

To mitigate the impact of reduction to the base flood coverage from $25,000,000 to $10,000,000 as of
October 1, 2019, the City has obtained an excess policy for locations in high and moderate low hazard
flood zones. The excess policy provides $15,000,000 in limits excess of the primary property policy on a
50/50 quota share basis, where the City and excess insurers share the financing of losses on a 50/50 basis.

The City has airport liability policies covering the Airport for the policy periods of October 1, 2020 to
October 1, 2021 and October 1, 2019 to October 1, 2020 including Control Tower Operators, which
provides a $200 million combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage subject to a
deductible of $0 each occurrence and annual aggregate, with a sublimit of $50 million each occurrence
and in the annual aggregate for personal injury, and a limit of $200 million each occurrence and in the
annual aggregate for war liability. During the past five fiscal years, there have not been any instances that
the amount of claim settlements exceeded the insurance coverage. 

In addition, the airport liability policy also provides excess automobile liability coverage with a limit of
$5 million in excess of the underlying limit of $1 million, which is provided by a separate automobile
liability policy issued to provide coverage for the off-premises operation of Airport vehicles including
shuttle bus fleets with a limit of $1 million per occurrence, combined single limit for bodily injury and
property damage, and a $250,000 deductible. Physical damage coverage is obtained for the Airport
Shuttle Bus Fleets; the Proterra electric buses are subject to a $10,000 comprehensive and collision
deductible, while the Penske Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) buses are subject to a $5,000
comprehensive and collision deductible.  Settled claims have not exceeded the City's commercial
insurance coverage in any of the past five fiscal years. 

For the policy periods of October 1, 2020 to October 1, 2021 and October 1, 2019 to October 1, 2020, the
City purchased government fidelity/crime coverage for City losses arising from employee bad acts.
Coverage is for financial or property losses and provides a $5,000,000 per occurrence limit for losses
resulting from employee theft, forgery or alteration, and inside the premises – theft of money and
securities, and provides for a $1,000,000 per occurrence limit for computer fraud, funds transfer fraud,
money orders, and counterfeit money.  All claims have a $100,000 deductible per occurrence. For the
policy period of October 22, 2020 to October 22, 2021, the City purchased liability insurance covering
cyber risks to complement the City's cybersecurity efforts.

As part of general support services, the City charges the Airport for the cost of general liability,
automobile liability, and property insurance coverage including the Airport’s pro rata share of broker fees
and taxes. The charges are expensed in the year incurred.
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(b) Workers' Compensation

The Airport participates in the City’s self-insurance program for workers’ compensation. Workers’
compensation liabilities are accounted for on a separate contribution basis under which workers’
compensation liabilities are recorded in the respective funds (enterprise or governmental) to which they
relate. Estimated workers’ compensation liabilities at year-end are determined using actuarial methods or
other estimating techniques. The claims payments and liability include an estimate of allocated loss
adjustment expenses and claims that have been incurred but not yet reported.

The Airport recorded the following with respect to its self-insured workers’ compensation liability:

2021 2020 2019
Accrued liability, beginning of fiscal year $ 2,680,353 $ 2,534,343 $ 3,021,230
Claims payments and adjustments (156,507) (110,154) (140,975)
Provision for current year claims and changes

in prior year estimates (49,079) 256,164 (345,912)
Accrued liability, end of fiscal year $ 2,474,767 $ 2,680,353 $ 2,534,343

(c) Airport Owner Controlled Insurance Program

On March 15, 2007, the City obtained liability insurance through American International Group (AIG) for
major components of  the Airport's Terminal Area Improvement Project (TAIP), through an Owner
Controlled Insurance Program (OCIP).  The coverage for this program is as follows:

Coverage Limits
Deductible per

Occurrence
General liability $2 million per occurrence/ $250,000

$4 million aggregate
Workers' compensation Statutory $250,000
Employers' liability $1 million per accident $250,000
Excess liability $200,000,000 None

The liability under the TAIP OCIP is based upon an estimated payroll of $92.5 million for the covered
projects and a construction period of 45 months, commencing on March 15, 2007 through December 31,
2010.  The terms of the TAIP OCIP require the City to fund a claims loss reserve fund with AIG in the
amount of $8.9 million. The claims loss reserve fund is available to AIG to pay claims within the City’s
deductible subject to an aggregate maximum loss exposure within coverage limits to the City of $8.9
million.  The City was able to negotiate to fund 74% of the claims loss reserve and interest generated
remains in the fund.  The full amount of $6.5 million was deposited with AIG in FY 09 and was recorded
as advances and deposits in the accompanying statements of net position.  Since August 2013, as part of
the annual loss reserve analysis by AIG, a total amount of $2.9 million has been returned to the Airport.
The balance of the TAIP reserve fund as of June 30, 2021 is $1.2 million.
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Activities relating to the TAIP OCIP claims reserve fund for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020,
and 2019 were as follows:

2021 2020 2019
Beginning balance $ 1,390,575 $1,460,181 $ 1,980,719
Interest earned 497 24,651 36,924
Reserve returned (652,764) (57,222) (543,033)
Losses paid (1,464) (37,035) (14,429)
Adverse Loss Development(1) 443,083 - -
Ending balance $ 1,179,927 $1,390,575 $ 1,460,181

            

  (1) Adverse Loss Development is a return of collateral resulting from a reduction of estimated losses.
  AIG holds a collateral based on estimated losses, where estimated losses are the incurred losses times
  a loss development factor.

The City was obligated to maintain the TAIP OCIP through final acceptance of the TAIP, pursuant to the
terms of its design-build contract with Hensel Phelps. The TAIP Project has been completed and the
policies expired on June 30, 2011. AIG will continue to hold the remaining funds in the claims loss
reserve fund until such time as the exposure to risk of claims ceases or the City opts to cash out the
remaining funds in exchange for accepting responsibility for potential future claims.

(10) Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Lease Commitments

In September 2009, the Airport entered into a restated operating lease and maintenance agreement for ten
CNG powered buses from December 2007 to May 2017.  In May 2017, the restated agreement was
amended to extend through May 2019, with a one year option to extend. In May 2020, the third
amendment to the restated agreement was executed, extending the term for up to three additional one-year
option terms. The second option, as amended and restated, reduced the number of CNG buses from ten to
six as of August 2020 and to four as of November 2020. The third option was exercised in April 2021,
extending the term through May 2022. Rental and maintenance expenses were $358,945 and $1,035,401
for fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

The future minimum lease and maintenance payments required under the existing agreement for the four
CNG powered buses are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, Amount

2022 $ 251,592

Total minimum lease payments $ 251,592

(b) Purchase Commitments and Capital Outlay Projections

As of June 30, 2021, the Airport was obligated for purchase commitments of approximately $23.5 million
primarily for the parking revenue control system upgrade, Aircraft Rescue and Fire Fighting (ARFF)
Facility, and various operating and maintenance agreements. The Airport has projected that it will expend
or encumber approximately $221.3 million on construction related capital projects during the next five
fiscal years. It is anticipated that funding for such capital projects will be provided primarily by proceeds
from federal grants, CP proceeds, and other Airport revenues.
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(c) Master Plan

In 1997, after extensive planning and environmental studies, the San José City Council approved a
comprehensive update to the previous 1980 Master Plan. In turn, the FAA in 1999 conditionally approved
a new Airport Layout Plan (ALP) displaying the proposed Master Plan projects and unconditionally
approved all the near-term projects. Both the Master Plan and the ALP, which identify facility
improvements needed to accommodate forecast demand for commercial passenger service, air cargo, and
general aviation, have been kept up to date through periodic amendments. Implementation of the Master
Plan has been ongoing, and since 1997 has included major runway extensions, new taxiways, new
terminal buildings, parking garages, roadways, and environmental mitigation programs.

The most recent amendment to the Master Plan was approved by the City Council in April 2020.  This
amendment extended the planning horizon year out to 2037, incorporated the airfield reconfiguration
improvements recommended in an FAA-funded Runway Incursion Mitigation/Design Standards Analysis
Study, modified the passenger, cargo, and general aviation facility improvement program to serve
projected 2037 demand, and added a proposed business hotel to the passenger terminal complex. The
Master Plan is currently intended to serve a projected 2037 demand of 22.5 million annual passengers and
a total of 184,000 annual aircraft operations, and includes up to 42 airline terminal gates in 1.8 million
square feet of passenger terminal facilities. The FAA conditionally approved a new ALP in June 2020
displaying the amended Master Plan development program.

Phase I of the Master Plan’s Terminal Area Improvement Program (TAIP) was substantially completed in
2010. The Phase I improvements included nine new airline gates and approximately 366,000 square feet
of terminal space in a new Terminal B; improvements to existing Terminal A, including new ticketing
facilities, in-line baggage system, security checkpoint, and concession space; the demolition of the
original Terminal C; design and construction of a Consolidated Rental Car Facility (ConRAC); and
realignment and improvement of existing terminal roadways and parking facilities. The Phase I program
also included preliminary design of certain TAIP Phase II projects. On the airfield, the build-out of the
Airport’s two commercial runways (12R/30L and 12L/30R) to 11,000 x 150 feet was completed in 2004,
allowing the Airport to regularly serve takeoffs and landings by all domestic and most international
commercial airline aircraft. Airfield project construction since 2004 has consisted of improvements to
taxiways, aircraft parking aprons, and navigational aids to increase efficiency and compliance with
current FAA airfield design standards. 

TAIP Phase II projects (also referred to as the “New Terminal Project”) will consist primarily of the
design and construction of a Terminal C extending from the south end of existing Terminal B, including a
total of fourteen (14) additional airline gates plus a new parking garage. Eight of those 14 future gates
will replace existing interim gates bolted on to the south end of Terminal B in 2018 and 2019 to
accommodate increases in airline flights and passenger volume. Pursuant to the terms of the current
signatory Airline-Airport Lease and Operating Agreement and subject only to prior consultation with the
Signatory Airlines, the City retains sole discretion to proceed to construct the New Terminal Project upon
its determination that an increase in terminal capacity to be achieved by the New Terminal Project is
needed. After completing its consultation with the Signatory Airlines, and having given due consideration
to the information provided by the Signatory Airlines, the City may proceed with the New Terminal
Project if the City determines, in its sole discretion, that the New Terminal Project continues to be needed
and can be financed on reasonable terms. 

The only Master Plan construction project underway at the time of this report is a new larger ARFF
Facility, partially funded by the FAA, on an existing vacant site on the southwest side of the Airport (to
replace the smaller, 1960s-era ARFF Facility located on the southeast side of the Airport). A landside fire
station component was added to the project to meet the needs of the local community. In November of
2018, the City received a voter authorization of up to $650 million of general obligation bonds for various
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public improvements (“Measure T”), intended to address some of the City’s most critical infrastructure
needs. This portion of the project is funded by Measure T.  

(d) FAA Audit of Use of Airport Revenue

Federal law requires all airport owners that receive federal assistance, such as the City, to use airport
revenues for the capital or operating costs of the Airport. Generally, any use of airport revenues by an
airport owner for costs that cannot properly be considered airport capital or operating costs is deemed to
be improper revenue diversion. On June 2, 2010, auditors from the FAA provided the City with a draft of
its audit findings alleging improper use of Airport revenues by the City in three areas of expenditure. On
August 14, 2015, as the result of discussions and correspondence with City staff, the FAA notified the
City that it has closed two of the three audit issues.  The remaining audit issue is described below.

Cost Allocations - The City uses both direct and indirect methodologies to allocate costs to the Airport. 
The FAA auditors found the direct cost allocations to be acceptable.  The FAA contends that the City’s
indirect methodology does not correlate to the cost of services actually provided by the City to the
Airport. Consequently, the auditors have recommended that the City re-allocate its costs charged to the
Airport for FY 05-10 using an allocation methodology that reflects services actually provided to the
Airport and repay any overcharges to the Airport, with interest. The City believes the allocation
methodology used to allocate costs to the Airport is in compliance with federal cost allocation guidance.
In an effort to resolve the issue, the City proposed and implemented a cap on the indirect cost allocations
for certain City departments at 10%, which was the approximate rate charged to the Airport in pre-capital
intensive years. This resulted in a total credit of $5.6 million that would be applied equally to the Airport
cost allocation plan over a seven year period beginning in FY 13 and ending in FY 19. The City has
adjusted its indirect cost allocation methodology in an effort to address FAA concerns, including removal
of debt expenditures from the relative expenditures base started in FY 16, continuing with the 10% cap,
and monitoring a rolling five-year average of the relative expenditure base to smooth out expenditure
fluctuations.

On August 14, 2015, the FAA accepted the corrective actions that the City has already taken, however,
the FAA disagrees with the City’s inclusion of capital expenditures in the allocation of indirect costs.

On May 3, 2018, the City received a letter from the FAA in which the FAA requested a copy of the City's
FY 17 indirect cost allocation plan to substantiate indirect charges to the Airport in order to finalize the
FAA's financial compliance review.  The City responded to the FAA on July 20, 2018 with copies of the
requested information and clarified actions taken by the City to date to implement the FAA's
recommendations.  The City cannot predict the final outcome of the audit.

(e) Potential Claim from FAA Regarding Reuse of Guadalupe Gardens

In early 2002, the City Council approved a Master Plan for Guadalupe Gardens, consisting of
approximately 120 acres of mostly vacant, City-owned property located south of the Airport, much of
which falls within an FAA-established safety zone. The City acquired the Guadalupe Gardens properties
using FAA grants for airport approach protection and noise compatibility, and the FAA grant agreements
consequently required FAA approval of any planned City-use of the properties acquired with grant
proceeds. By letter dated August 9, 2002, addressed to the City’s Director of Aviation, the FAA San
Francisco Airport District Office (ADO) approved the City’s Master Plan for reuse of Guadalupe Gardens
for runway and approach protection, and the City finalized the Master Plan in reliance upon the FAA
approval.

During discussions regarding proposals to develop certain portions of the Guadalupe Gardens, the FAA
has taken the position that the City must dispose of any portion of the Guadalupe Gardens that is no
longer needed for noise compatibility purposes. Citing provisions of federal law that require recipients of

70



NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2021 and 2020

FAA grants for acquisition of land for noise compatibility purposes to dispose of any such acquired land
when no longer needed by the airport owner for noise compatibility purposes, the FAA contends that the
FAA ADO erred in its 2002 approval of the Guadalupe Gardens Master Plan and that the City is obligated
to prepare an inventory of the Guadalupe Gardens to identify those parcels that were acquired by the City
with noise compatibility grant proceeds. This inventory would then be used to prepare for FAA review
and approval of a disposition plan for those parcels no longer needed by the City for noise compatibility.
Proceeds of the sale of the parcels proportionate to the FAA grant share of the original purchase price
would be required to be used for other approved noise compatibility projects at the Airport or returned to
the FAA.

The City believes that it has viable defenses to any potential claim by the FAA with regard to Guadalupe
Gardens. The FAA ADO’s 2002 approval of the Guadalupe Gardens Master Plan constituted an official
FAA approval of the City’s reuse of the parcels acquired with proceeds from FAA noise compatibility
grants, and the approval expressly provides that the entire Guadalupe Gardens is necessary for the
continuing aeronautical purpose of runway and approach protection. Having received official FAA
approval of its reuse of the parcels, the City believes it is under no obligation to take any further action to
secure further FAA approval of its continuing use of the Guadalupe Gardens. However, the City cannot
predict the final outcome of any such potential claim by the FAA.

(f) FAA Inquiry Regarding Encampments in Guadalupe Gardens

On February 1, 2021, the Director of Aviation received a letter from the FAA Western-Pacific Region
Office of Airports regarding encampments of homeless persons in the Guadalupe Gardens.  Guadalupe
Gardens is approximately 120 acres of mostly vacant, City-owned property located south of the Airport,
much of which falls within an FAA-established safety zone.  The City acquired the Guadalupe Gardens
properties using FAA grants for airport approach protection and noise compatibility, and these FAA
grants include certain restrictions ("Grant Assurances") on the City’s use of the Guadalupe Gardens
properties.

In its letter, the FAA asserts that the presence of encampments of homeless persons in the Guadalupe
Gardens is: (a) inconsistent with the Grant Assurances that were a condition of the FAA grants that the
City received to acquire the Guadalupe Gardens properties; and (b) contrary to the City’s Airport Noise
Compatibility Plan (ANCP), both of which prohibit transient and permanent residential uses in the
Guadalupe Gardens. 

The City does not dispute that encampments of homeless persons in the Guadalupe Gardens is a use of the
Guadalupe Gardens properties that is incompatible with the FAA Grant Assurances and with the City’s
ANCP.  The FAA requested and the City provided a Corrective Action Plan to remove and relocate the
encampments of homeless persons from the Guadalupe Gardens on March 11, 2021. Additional
information can be found in Note 11 to the financial statements. 

(g) Federal Aviation Administration Inquiry Regarding Chick-fil-A

The City Council approved a Chick-fil-A subconcession at the Airport on March 6, 2018, as part of its
approval of the Fourth Amendment to the Host Food and Beverage Agreement.  Chick-fil-A does not
have a direct contractual relationship with the City.  Rather, Host operates the Chick-fil-A concept at the
Airport as a licensee.  On April 9, 2019, the City Council approved an amendment to the Host Food and
Beverage Agreement that extended the termination date from June 30, 2026 to June 30, 2028.  However,
the City Council limited the additional two-year extension term only to those Airport concession locations
operated by Host that are open 7-days each week.  All owned and licensed Chick-fil-A locations,
including the Airport location, are closed on Sundays.  The City Council approved this limitation after
hearing concerns from community members that the owners of Chick-fil-A have made donations to and
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supported certain organizations that oppose equal rights and protections for the LGBTQ+ communities.
The City Council also directed Airport staff to display the Rainbow and Transgender flags at the Airport
terminals to show the City’s support for those communities.

On January 22, 2020, the Director of Aviation received a Notice of Investigation from the FAA Office of
Civil Rights.  The FAA is investigating a complaint received by the FAA that alleges discrimination
against Chick-fil-A, “because of the expression of religious beliefs by the owner of the company.”  The
complainant, whose identity has been withheld by the FAA, contends that the City has discriminated
against Chick-fil-A for its “perceived religious and ideological convictions” and that this “discrimination”
is in violation of federal law.  The complainant is requesting that the FAA withhold further grant funding
to the City pending its investigation.

The City responded to the FAA Notice of Investigation by letter dated May 21, 2020.  In addition to
responding to specific questions from the FAA regarding this matter, the City requested the FAA to find
that there is no basis for the complaint and to close its investigation.  The City believes that it has viable
defenses to any potential enforcement action by the FAA regarding this complaint. Additional
information can be found in Note 11 to the financial statements.

(h)Workers' Compensation Program

The City is self-insured for workers’ compensation, with all claims administered by third party
administrator Intercare Holdings Services, Inc. (Intercare).  Every year, the City reviews a five-year
forecast for worker’s compensation expenditures based on the prior year payout.  Based on this review,
the City’s budget for FY 21 is $21.0 million and the budget for FY 22 is $21.2 million. 

The City entered a three-year agreement with Intercare beginning July 1, 2019, to provide comprehensive
workers’ compensation services including claims administration services, bill review, utilization review,
medical case management, and other ancillary services at a total compensation not to exceed $16.0
million based on an estimated caseload of 2,330 to 2,850 claims.  As of June 30, 2021, the open claims
inventory handled by Intercare was 2,489. 

As of June 30, 2021, open claims data for Intercare were at 2,489.  The total number of open claims has
been reduced (by approximately 1%) since June 30, 2020 when the open claim inventory was 2,508. 

The City is required to submit to the State a Public Annual Report.  The Public Annual Report completed 
jointly with Intercare describes: (1) claims paid in indemnity and medical, (2) future liability on open
claims, and (3) a list of all open indemnity claims.  The annual report for FY 21 was submitted by the
September 30, 2021 deadline.

(i) Litigation

There are several pending lawsuits in which the Airport is involved in the normal course of its operation.
The Airport’s and the City’s management believe that any potential exposure will not have a material
effect on the Airport’s financial position or changes in financial position.

(j) Uncertainties Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant disruptions to domestic and international air travel,
including passenger, cargo, and general aviation operations. The COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing, and its
dynamic nature leads to uncertainties, including (i) the geographic spread of the virus; (ii) the severity of
the disease; (iii) the duration of the outbreak; (iv) actions that may be taken by governmental authorities
to contain or mitigate the outbreak; (v) the development of medical therapeutics and/or vaccinations; (vi)
travel restrictions and the demand for air travel, including at the Airport; (vii) the  impact of the outbreak
on the local and global economies, on the airlines and concessionaires serving the Airport, or on the
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airline or travel industry generally; (viii) whether and to what extent the City may provide further
deferrals, forbearances, adjustments, or other changes to the City’s arrangements with airlines, tenants,
and concessionaires; and (ix) the impact of the outbreak and actions taken in response to the outbreak on
Airport revenues, expenses, and financial condition. 

In March 2020, the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was
signed into law to provide relief to eligible airports in the United States that were affected by the COVID-
19 pandemic.  The Airport was awarded $65.6 million in CARES Act funds in May 2020. The funds are
available to the Airport on a reimbursable basis for up to four years and will be used to pay for operating
expenses that may no longer be covered by revenues. In addition, the CARES Act provided $1.2 million
in matching funds to increase the federal share of federal FY 20 Airport Improvement Program (AIP)
grants to 100%, eliminating the requirement for the Airport to provide a percentage of funds. The Airport
did not request reimbursement for any CARES Act funding during FY 20, however, $53.5 million was
reimbursed in FY 21.  

As part of the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriation Act (CRRSA Act) signed
into law on December 27, 2020, the FAA established the Airport Coronavirus Response Grant Program
(ACRGP) to distribute funds to be awarded as economic relief to eligible U.S. airports and eligible
concessions at those airports to prevent, prepare for, and respond to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
Airport was awarded $13.4 million in CRRSA Act funds in March 2021, available to the Airport on a
reimbursable basis for up to four years and will be used to pay for operating expenses. An additional $1.6
million in CRRSA Act funding was awarded to provide relief from rent and minimum annual guarantees
to on-airport car rental and in-terminal airport concessions. The Airport received reimbursement for the
full $1.6 million in concession relief in FY 21 and has budgeted to use the remaining CRRSA Act funds
in FY 22.

As part of the American Rescue Plan Act (ARP Act) signed into law on March 11, 2021, the FAA
established the Airport Rescue Grants to distribute funds to be awarded as economic assistance to eligible
U.S. airports and eligible concessions at those airports to prevent, prepare for, and respond to the COVID-
19 pandemic. It was announced that the Airport will be awarded $48.9 million in ARP Act funds,
available to the Airport on a reimbursable basis for up to four years and will be used to pay for operating
expenses. An additional $6.6 million in ARP Act funds will be awarded to provide relief from rent and
minimum annual guarantees to in-terminal airport concessions. In addition, the ARP Act provided $1.6
million in matching funds to increase the federal share of federal FY 21 AIP grants to 100%, eliminating
the requirement for the Airport to provide a percentage of funds. The Airport plans to use $24.7 million in
ARP Act funding in FY 22, however the actual amount may differ. 

The Airport continues to monitor the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the operations of the
Airport, including factors such as travel restrictions, passenger levels, liquidity, and governmental
financial aid.

(11) Subsequent Events

On July 1, 2021, the Airport opened the Economy Lot 1 parking garage. It added 2,524 available parking
spaces, which nearly doubled the spaces available to the public.

On July 28, 2021, the FAA requested and the City provided a revised Corrective Action Plan to remove
and relocate encampments of homeless persons from the Guadalupe Gardens, with a schedule for
incremental relocation of the encampment inhabitants to alternative sites.  The FAA accepted the revised
Corrective Action Plan.  However, the City cannot predict the actual timing of the encampment’s
relocation or the final resolution of this matter with the FAA.

On July 28, 2021, the Director of Aviation met with the FAA to further discuss the issues related to the
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FAA’s investigation of a complaint that alleges discrimination against Chick-fil-A. The City cannot
predict the outcome of any potential enforcement action by the FAA.

On August 3, 2021, Fitch upgraded the ARBs outlook from negative to stable while the rating remained at
"A".

On August 19, 2021, the City extended the BofA Reimbursement Agreement through September 10,
2024. BofA extended the issuance of its irrevocable transferable LOC in the stated amount of $81.7
million (to cover principal of $75 million and interest on the Subordinated CP Notes accruing calculated
at a rate of 12% for 270 days based on a 365 day year) that was scheduled to expire on September 10,
2021, unless sooner terminated or extended pursuant to its terms. The facility fee rate in effect changed
from 0.35% to 0.40%.

On August 31, 2021, the City conducted a Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act (TEFRA) hearing
with respect to the proposed issuance by the City of one or more issues of tax-exempt Series B
subordinated CP notes (Series B Notes) in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $600,000,000
pursuant to a plan of finance in order to provide proceeds to pay or reimburse all or a portion of the costs
of acquisition, construction, equipping, financing, reconstruction, development, and modification of
airport terminal and ancillary facilities that are included in or are consistent with the Airport Master Plan
for the Airport. The City Council adopted Resolution No. 80201 approving, for purposes of Section
147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, the issuance of Series B Notes, in an aggregate principal
amount together with certain other commercial paper notes not to exceed $600,000,000 to be issued from
time to time, to finance and refinance the facilities at the Airport.

The City received an Information Document Request from the IRS dated September 3, 2021 regarding the
Airport Subordinated CP Notes, Series A-2 (Non-AMT/Private Activity). The outstanding notes were
defeased in October 2018, and the City submitted documentation on October 21, 2021 requesting the IRS
close out the inquiry.

On September 14, 2021, the City approved an amendment for All Nippon Airways Co., LTD. (ANA) to
terminate their Signatory Airline-Airport Lease and Operating Agreement, effective March 31, 2021.
ANA will pay the Airport $458,197, which represents all rents, fees and charges owed by ANA,
calculated as though ANA had been operating as a Non-Signatory carrier with the 25% premium from
July 1, 2019 through March 31, 2021. A new Airline-Airport Non-Signatory Operating Agreement with
ANA will be executed retroactive to April 1, 2021. If ANA resumes service at the Airport under the new
Airline-Airport Non-Signatory Operating Agreement prior to July 1, 2022, the City will refund to ANA
$241,131 of the settlement amount paid to the City. 

On September 30, 2021, Frontier Airlines discontinued service from the Airport. The passengers that took
flights on Frontier Airlines represented 0.7% of the total passengers that traveled through the Airport
during FY 21. The Airport does not believe that the departure of this carrier will have a material impact
on the operations or financial results of the Airport.

Effective October 1, 2021, the Airport obtained a new airport liability policy that enhanced coverage to
increase the excess auto liability limits from $5 million to $25 million. 
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Last 10 Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

      Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

          Proportion of the collective net pension liability %5.9 %5.4 %5.3 %3.4 %3.4
          Proportionate share of the collective net pension liability $ 113,363 $ 112,615 $ 105,487 $ 108,167 $ 102,069
          Covered payroll $ 17,270 $ 16,190 $ 15,335 $ 13,694 $ 13,163
          Proportionate share of the collective net pension liability as percentage of covered payroll %656.4 %695.6 %687.9 %789.9 %775.4
          Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability %64.2 %63.9 %65.0 %63.3 %63.4

Schedule of Contributions

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

          Actuarially determined contribution $ 10,596 $ 10,634 $ 9,989 $ 8,814 $ 8,134
          Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contributions $ 10,596 $ 10,634 $ 9,989 $ 8,814 $ 8,134

          Covered payroll $ 17,857 $ 17,270 $ 16,190 $ 15,335 $ 13,694

          Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll %59.3 %61.6 %61.7 %57.5 %59.4

Note to Schedules

The Norman Y. Mineta San Josè Airport (Airport) as a cost-sharing department of the City of San Josè (City) is required to recognize a liability for its proportionate share of the City's
collective net pension liability. The Airport recognizes pension expense and reports deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions for its
proportionate shares of collective pension expense and collective deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.

The schedules present information to illustrate changes in the Airport's proportionate share of the net pension liability and contributions over a 10-year period when the information is
available.  However, until a 10-year trend is compiled, governments should present information for those years for which information is available.
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(Concluded)
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

Last 10 Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

      Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 

2016 2015 2014

          Proportion of the collective net pension liability %3.6 %3.8 %3.7
          Proportionate share of the collective net pension liability $ 81,313 $ 64,650 $ 74,527
          Covered payroll $ 12,903 $ 12,532 $ 12,932
          Proportionate share of the collective net pension liability as percentage of covered payroll %630.2 %515.9 %576.3
          Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability %68.9 %74.0 %69.0

Schedule of Contributions

2016 2015 2014

          Actuarially determined contribution $ 7,374 $ 7,103 $ 6,654
          Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contributions $ 7,374 $ 7,103 $ 6,654

          Covered payroll $ 13,163 $ 12,903 $ 12,532

          Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll %56.0 %55.0 %53.1

Note to Schedules

The Norman Y. Mineta San Josè Airport (Airport) as a cost-sharing department of the City of San Josè (City) is required to recognize a liability for its proportionate share of the City's
collective net pension liability. The Airport recognizes pension expense and reports deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions for its
proportionate shares of collective pension expense and collective deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.

The schedules present information to illustrate changes in the Airport's proportionate share of the net pension liability and contributions over a 10-year period when the information is
available.  However, until a 10-year trend is compiled, governments should present information for those years for which information is available.
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

Last 10 Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)

Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability

2021 2020 2019 2018

          Proportion of the collective net OPEB liability %5.4 %5.4 %5.4 %5.5
          Proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability $ 18,650 $ 20,342 $ 19,983 $ 28,086
          Covered payroll $ 17,270 $ 16,190 $ 15,335 $ 13,694
          Proportionate share of the collective net OPEB liability as percentage of covered payroll %108.0 %125.6 %130.3 %205.1
          Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability %47.5 %44.6 %43.8 %34.0

Schedule of Contributions

2021 2020 2019 2018

          Actuarially determined contribution $ 1,425 $ 1,183 $ 1,872 $ 1,754
          Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contributions $ 1,425 $ 1,183 $ 1,872 $ 1,754

          Covered payroll $ 17,857 $ 17,270 $ 16,190 $ 15,335

          Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll %8.0 %6.9 %11.6 %11.4

Note to Schedules

The Airport as a cost-sharing department of the City is required to recognize a liability for its proportionate share of the City's collective net Other Postemployment Benefits
(OPEB) liability. The Airport recognizes OPEB expense and reports deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB for its proportionate shares of
collective OPEB expense and collective deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB.

The schedules present information to illustrate changes in the Airport's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability and contributions over a 10-year period when the information is
available.  However, until a 10-year trend is compiled, governments should present information for those years for which information is available.
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Statistical





NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Statistical Section
June 30, 2021

This part of the annual comprehensive financial report for the Airport presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required
supplementary information says about the Airport’s overall financial health.

Contents Schedule

Financial Trends

This schedule presents trend information to help the reader understand the Airport's
financial performance and condition.

Annual Revenues, Expenses, Changes in Net Position, and Net Position A

Revenue Capacity

These schedules contain information regarding the Airport's cost per enplaned
passenger, gross concession revenue, and airline rates and charges.

Airline Cost Per Enplaned Passenger B
Gross Concession Revenue Per Enplaned Passenger C
Scheduled Airline Rates and Charges D

Debt Capacity

These schedules present information regarding the Airport's current levels of outstanding
debt.

Outstanding Debt and Debt Service E
Debt Service Coverage F

Demographic and Economic Information

These schedules illustrate demographic and economic indicators to provide a
context for understanding and assessing the Airport's financial activities.

Service Area Population in the Air Trade Area G
Service Area Personal Income in the Air Trade Area H
Service Area Per Capita Personal Income in the Air Trade Area I
Principal Employers in the City of San José J
Service Area Annual Average Unemployment Rate in the Air Trade Area K
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Statistical Section
June 30, 2021

Contents Schedule

Operating Information

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data related to services the
Airport provides and the activities it performs.

Airport Employees L
Airport Information M
Enplaned Commercial Passengers by Airline N
Airline Landed Weights O
Airline Flight Operations by Airline and Cargo Carrier P
Scheduled/All-Cargo Airline Service Q
Passengers, Mail, Freight, and Cargo Statistics R
Historical Aircraft Operations S
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Schedule A
(Continued)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

ANNUAL REVENUES, EXPENSES, CHANGES IN NET POSITION, AND NET POSITION
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(in $ 000's)

2012 2013 2014 2015(2) 2016

Operating revenues:
Airline rates and charges:

Landing fees $ 11,414 $ 12,888 $ 11,973 $ 11,856 $ 13,095
Terminal rental 39,864 38,256 38,130 34,372 40,800

Total airline rates and charges 51,278 51,144 50,103 46,228 53,895

Terminal buildings/concessions 15,770 15,102 15,423 16,271 17,576
Airfield 2,783 3,038 3,553 3,993 4,891
Parking and roadway 51,023 46,700 47,268 49,049 53,704
Fuel handling fees 1,690 2,361 3,170 3,257 3,226
General aviation/other 4,431 4,770 6,193 7,183 8,661

Customer facility charges(1) - - - - -

Total operating revenues 126,975 123,115 125,710 125,981 141,953

Operating expenses:
Terminal buildings/concessions 23,659 23,303 24,233 23,833 27,724
Airfield 9,069 8,707 9,570 9,891 12,767
Parking and roadway 25,514 16,631 16,343 17,170 16,684
Fuel handling costs 556 1,065 11 28 (565)
General aviation 1,676 1,605 1,609 2,006 1,963
General and administrative 18,328 18,763 19,877 18,208 19,334
Depreciation 51,520 54,353 54,027 53,437 51,864

Total operating expenses 130,322 124,427 125,670 124,573 129,771

Operating income (loss) (3,347) (1,312) 40 1,408 12,182

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Passenger facility charges 16,787 17,294 18,161 19,291 20,603
Customer facility charges for debt service(1) 10,137 13,385 15,493 18,690 19,888
Participating airline net revenue sharing - - - - -
Investment income 2,217 (257) 1,571 1,222 2,444
Interest expense (70,009) (75,058) (73,836) (72,237) (71,245)
Bond issuance costs (4,141) (196) - (976) -
Operating grants 670 565 605 610 497
Loss on capital assets disposal (9) - (481) - -
CARES Act Airport Grants - - - - -
CRRSA Act Airport Grants - - - - -
Other, net 698 451 614 806 1,902

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses), net (43,650) (43,816) (37,873) (32,594) (25,911)

Income (loss) before capital contributions (46,997) (45,127) (37,833) (31,186) (13,729)

Capital contributions 7,399 6,954 4,843 937 5,760

Special item - rate stabilization fund and ten-year
lookback distribution - - - - -

Change in net position $ (39,598) $ (38,173) $ (32,990) $ (30,249) $ (7,969)

Net position at year-end
Net investment in capital assets $ 242,916 $ 209,381 $ 169,870 $ 126,350 $ 95,800
Restricted 69,350 65,408 67,848 56,752 61,308
Unrestricted 58,811 58,114 62,195 18,689 36,714

Net position at year-end(2)(3) $ 371,077 $ 332,903 $ 299,913 $ 201,791 $ 193,822

(1)  Customer facility charges (CFC) revenues are used to pay for capital costs and related debt service associated with the consolidated rental car facility
     (ConRAC) and certain operating expenses related to the transportation of rental car customers. CFC revenues used to pay debt service associated with the
     ConRAC are classified as nonoperating revenues. If CFC revenues exceed debt service for the fiscal year, then the excess may be used to pay for transportation
     costs and classified as operating income.  

Source: Finance and Administration, Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport, City of San José
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Schedule A
(Concluded)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

ANNUAL REVENUES, EXPENSES, CHANGES IN NET POSITION, AND NET POSITION
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(in $ 000's)

2017 2018(3) 2019 2020 2021

Operating revenues:
Airline rates and charges:

Landing fees $ 18,370 $ 19,297 $ 18,984 $ 21,682 $ 16,933
Terminal rental 39,778 43,476 42,815 62,690 62,005

Total airline rates and charges 58,148 62,773 61,799 84,372 78,938

Terminal buildings/concessions 20,207 22,375 23,717 20,623 11,120
Airfield 7,307 8,027 8,340 6,535 3,454
Parking and roadway 52,514 59,715 64,507 50,973 25,244
Fuel handling fees 3,080 3,078 2,930 2,289 1,722
General aviation/other 9,748 10,096 10,773 10,499 10,684

Customer facility charges(1) 1,931 2,518 2,762 - -

Total operating revenues 152,935 168,582 174,828 175,291 131,162

Operating expenses:
Terminal buildings/concessions 31,115 34,922 37,372 41,025 38,346
Airfield 16,776 20,116 20,062 21,912 22,096
Parking and roadway 16,046 16,283 15,837 16,761 12,321
Fuel handling costs 16 59 69 27 63
General aviation 1,383 2,438 2,383 1,717 962
General and administrative 23,057 25,118 25,042 24,159 21,231
Depreciation 46,449 47,486 49,026 55,383 53,134

Total operating expenses 134,842 146,422 149,791 160,984 148,153

Operating income (loss) 18,093 22,160 25,037 14,307 (16,991)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Passenger facility charges 23,097 27,048 29,735 20,456 9,378
Customer facility charges for debt service(1) 18,026 18,364 18,704 15,394 6,539
Participating airline net revenue sharing - - (13,944) (11,910) (1,325)
Investment income 1,591 2,842 9,893 11,265 1,236
Interest expense (67,440) (61,305) (60,381) (59,107) (53,649)
Bond issuance costs (2,492) 50 - - (2,239)
Operating grants 1,169 809 720 486 619
Loss on capital assets disposal - - (271) - (13)
CARES Act Airport Grants - - - - 53,538
CRRSA Act Airport Grants - - - - 1,647
Other, net 603 1,214 1,045 913 1,846

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses), net (25,446) (10,978) (14,499) (22,503) 17,577

Income (loss) before capital contributions (7,353) 11,182 10,538 (8,196) 586

Capital contributions 10,120 9,287 18,747 3,076 12,023

Special item - rate stabilization fund and ten-year
lookback distribution - - (16,266) - -

Change in net position $ 2,767 $ 20,469 $ 13,019 $ (5,120) $ 12,609

Net position at year-end
Net investment in capital assets $ 82,801 $ 100,587 $ 126,419 $ 139,388 $ 171,356
Restricted 64,907 62,014 61,897 44,795 27,539
Unrestricted 48,881 41,921 29,225 28,238 26,135

Net position at year-end(2)(3) $ 196,589 $ 204,522 $ 217,541 $ 212,421 $ 225,030

(2)   As of July 1, 2014, the Airport restated the beginning net position in the amount of $67,874 due to the implementation of Government Accounting Standards
      Board (GASB) Statements Nos. 68 and 71.  The Airport did not restate beginning net position for fiscal years (FY) prior to FY 14-15, because amounts were 
      not available.
(3)   As of July 1, 2017, the Airport restated the beginning net position in the amount of $12,537 due to the implementation of GASB Statement  No. 75. The
      Airport did not restate beginning net position for fiscal years prior to FY 17-18 because amounts were not available.

Source: Finance and Administration, Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport, City of San José
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Schedule B
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
AIRLINE COST PER ENPLANED PASSENGER

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
($ and Passengers in 000's)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Airline revenues:

Terminal rental $ 39,864 $ 38,256 $ 38,130 $ 34,372 $ 40,800 $ 39,778 $ 43,477 $ 42,815 $ 62,690 $ 62,005

Landing fees (passenger carriers) 10,838 12,298 11,451 11,361 12,528 17,697 18,690 18,453 21,012 15,977
Total 50,702 50,554 49,581 45,733 53,328 57,475 62,167 61,268 83,702 77,982

Enplaned passengers 4,125 4,235 4,517 4,765 5,088 5,740 6,725 7,462 5,660 2,126

Unadjusted cost per enplaned
passenger (not in 000's) $ 12.29 $ 11.94 $ 10.98 $ 9.60 $ 10.48 $ 10.01 $ 9.24 $ 8.21 $ 14.79 $ 36.68

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport audited financial statements and activity reports

82



Schedule C
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
GROSS CONCESSION REVENUE PER ENPLANED PASSENGER

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
($ and Passengers in 000's)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Gross concession revenue(1)

Public parking(2) $ 22,943 $ 24,814 $ 26,759 $ 27,845 $ 29,392 $ 28,635 $ 31,053 $ 32,330 $ 24,141 $ 9,590
Rental cars 126,333 129,643 142,439 149,384 157,857 162,142 166,291 173,631 129,609 69,030
Food and beverage 22,280 24,216 27,350 30,078 32,870 39,060 45,024 50,588 35,529 9,534
Advertising 1,873 2,355 2,506 2,245 2,368 3,550 4,525 5,022 6,591 7,222
Gift shop & retail 11,983 12,668 13,475 14,130 15,742 17,636 19,739 21,243 16,526 7,736
In-flight kitchen(3) 8,920 10,680 13,114 15,904 22,893 40,790 39,559 29,203 17,578 4,529

Total gross concession revenue $ 194,332 $ 204,376 $ 225,643 $ 239,586 $ 261,122 $ 291,813 $ 306,191 $ 312,017 $ 229,974 $ 107,641

Enplaned passengers 4,125 4,235 4,517 4,765 5,088 5,740 6,725 7,462 5,660 2,126

Gross concession revenue per enplaned
passenger (not in 000's) $ 47.11 $ 48.26 $ 49.95 $ 50.28 $ 51.32 $ 50.84 $ 45.53 $ 41.81 $ 40.63 $ 50.63

(1) Gross revenues of major concessionaires only.
(2) Public parking revenues is net of credit card fees and refunds.
(3) Includes on-field and off-field sales.

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport activity reports and concession records
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Schedule D
(Continued)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

SCHEDULED AIRLINE RATES AND CHARGES
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Unit
Landing fees: $ 2.14 $ 2.38 $ 2.22 $ 2.09 $ 2.13 per 1,000 lbs. MGLW (3)

Terminal rental rates:
Group A
Ticket counter and queuing,

skycap/curbside check-in
Preferential 319,205 296,954 293,680 235,177 287,230 per counter
Common 97 90 98 94 88 per hour

Airline ticket office, Club/VIP 184.19 186.55 192.73 178.08 195.75 per sq. ft.

Holdroom (gate)
Preferential 872,527 886,424 915,350 775,820 883,722 per gate
Common 598 607 591 470 552 per turn

Group B
Baggage claim(1) 147.35 149.24 154.19 142.47 156.60 per sq. ft.
Group C
Baggage make-up(2)/Operations space 92.09 93.28 96.37 89.04 97.87 per sq. ft.

(1) The baggage claim requirement is allocated among the airlines using the 20/80 formula. 20% of the revenue requirement is divided equally among the domestic airlines. The remaining 80% of
the revenue requirement is distributed among the airlines based on the number of domestic deplaned passengers.
(2) The baggage make-up requirement is allocated among the airlines using the 20/80 formula. 20% of the revenue requirement is divided equally among all airlines. The remaining 80% of the
revenue requirement is distributed among the airlines based on the number of all enplaned passengers.
(3) MGLW - Maximum Gross Landing Weight

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport annual rates and charges analysis.
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Schedule D
(Concluded)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

SCHEDULED AIRLINE RATES AND CHARGES
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021(4) Unit
Landing fees: $ 2.70 $ 2.45 $ 2.18 $ 2.87 $ 4.30 per 1,000 lbs. MGLW (3)

Terminal rental rates:
Group A
Ticket counter and queuing,

skycap/curbside check-in
Preferential 273,042 255,345 233,439 251,675 283,872 per counter
Common 54 73 78 131 149 per hour

Airline ticket office, Club/VIP 186.08 206.25 218.88 316.71 283.68 per sq. ft.

Holdroom (gate)
Preferential 763,701 632,610 720,993 963,503 967,624 per gate
Common 521 633 492 660 663 per turn

Group B
Baggage claim(1) 148.86 165.00 175.11 253.37 226.95 per sq. ft.
Group C
Baggage make-up(2)/Operations space 93.04 103.12 109.44 158.36 141.84 per sq. ft.

(1) The baggage claim requirement is allocated among the airlines using the 20/80 formula. 20% of the revenue requirement is divided equally among the domestic airlines. The remaining 80% of
the revenue requirement is distributed among the airlines based on the number of domestic deplaned passengers.
(2) The baggage make-up requirement is allocated among the airlines using the 20/80 formula. 20% of the revenue requirement is divided equally among all airlines. The remaining 80% of the
revenue requirement is distributed among the airlines based on the number of all enplaned passengers.
(3) MGLW - Maximum Gross Landing Weight
(4) The landing fees and airline terminal rates were increased by 15% effective February 1, 2021

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport annual rates and charges analysis.
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Schedule E
(Continued)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

OUTSTANDING DEBT AND DEBT SERVICE(1)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
($ and Passengers in 000's)

2012 2013 2014 2015(6) 2016(6)

Outstanding debt per enplaned passenger
Outstanding debt by type:

Revenue bonds $ 1,415,552 $ 1,398,332 $ 1,376,038 $ 1,349,265 $ 1,325,579
Commercial paper notes 47,937 45,380 41,159 37,912 34,672

Total outstanding debt 1,463,489 1,443,712 1,417,197 1,387,177 1,360,251

Enplaned passengers 4,125 4,235 4,517 4,765 5,088
Total outstanding debt per

enplaned passenger
(not in 000's) $ 355 $ 341 $ 314 $ 291 $ 267

Debt service
Revenue bonds(2) $ 80,725 $ 86,325 $ 95,068 $ 96,083 $ 95,452
Commercial paper notes(3) (4) 6,818 4,043 2,859 2,213 2,116
Total debt service 87,543 90,368 97,927 98,296 97,568
Less: Funds available for debt service

Passenger facility charges 21,336 22,100 25,747 25,202 24,829
Customer facility charges(5) (6) 10,137 13,385 15,494 17,412 17,701
Unspent bond proceeds(5) (8) 1,713 5,802 11,082 11,082 11,083
Series 2007 Bond Reserve Fund(7) - - - - -

Net debt service $ 54,357 $ 49,081 $ 45,604 $ 44,600 $ 43,955

Net debt service per enplaned
passenger (not in 000's) $ 13.18 $ 11.59 $ 10.10 $ 9.36 $ 8.64

(1) Debt Limit information is not shown because the City does not establish or impose a debt limit.

(2) Under the Master Trust Agreement (MTA) dated July 1, 2001, and as amended and supplemented to date (Master Trust), "Bond Debt Service”
means for any specified period the sum of (a) the interest falling due on any then outstanding current interest bonds, assuming that all principal 
installments are paid when due, but excluding any interest funded from the proceeds of any series of bonds and applied toward payment of interest
on such bonds, and (b) the principal installments payable on any then outstanding bonds. Also, under the MTA, the City may designate Passenger
Facility Charges (PFC) as "Available PFC" for payment of eligible debt service. The amount of Debt Service is reduced by the amount of Available
PFC designated by the City and deposited with the Trustee to pay Bond Debt Service.

(3) As required by the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements related to the Airport's Commercial Paper (CP) Program, the principal 
amount of the CP is assumed to be amortized on a substantially level debt service for a period of 25 years commencing on the estimated completion 
date of the respective project to which such obligations relate or the date of issuance if the CP proceeds were not used for a project. As also required,
the interest rate on the CP is assumed to be equal to an interest rate calculated by multiplying the average interest rate during the 90-day period prior 
to the end of the fiscal year by 1.15, as certified by a certificate of a financial advisor. 

Source: Finance and Administration, Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport, City of San José
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Schedule E
(Concluded)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

OUTSTANDING DEBT AND DEBT SERVICE(1)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
($ and Passengers in 000's)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Outstanding debt per enplaned passenger
Outstanding debt by type:

Revenue bonds $ 1,310,333 $ 1,261,909 $ 1,229,409 $ 1,194,784 $ 1,146,872
Commercial paper notes 25,461 7,509 52,216 51,930 51,930

Total outstanding debt 1,335,794 1,269,418 1,281,625 1,246,714 1,198,802

Enplaned passengers 5,740 6,725 7,462 5,660 2,126
Total outstanding debt per

enplaned passenger
(not in 000's) $ 233 $ 189 $ 172 $ 220 $ 564

Debt service
Revenue bonds(2) $ 95,660 $ 103,766 $ 92,501 $ 93,258 $ 93,907
Commercial paper notes(3) (4) 1,728 686 317 593 586
Total debt service 97,388 104,452 92,818 93,851 94,493
Less: Funds available for debt service

Passenger facility charges 24,789 24,792 27,026 27,479 14,339
Customer facility charges(5) (6) 18,026 18,364 18,704 19,057 11,142
Unspent bond proceeds(5) (8) 4,295 - - - 23
Series 2007 Bond Reserve Fund(7) - 7,411 - - -

Net debt service $ 50,278 $ 53,885 $ 47,088 $ 47,315 $ 68,989

Net debt service per enplaned
passenger (not in 000's) $ 8.76 $ 8.01 $ 6.31 $ 8.36 $ 32.45

(4) Includes letter of credit fees associated with subordinated commercial paper.

(5) Fiscal year 2012 was revised to reflect "Other Available Funds for Debt Service." Under the MTA, the Airport may for any period elect to
designate Customer Facility Charges and Unspent Bond Proceeds as “Other Available Funds” eligible for payment of debt service.

(6) CFC revenues available for debt service were restated in fiscal years 2015 and 2016 to be limited to the amount of CFC eligible debt service.

(7) In April 2017, the City refunded all of the outstanding bonds in the Series 2007A, except for $7,025,000, which was to mature in March 2018.
The principal amount of $7,025,000 together with the interest amount of $386,375 was paid from the amount remaining in the Series 2007 Reserve
Account.

(8) In April 2021, the City issued Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds 2021A, 2021B, and 2021C to refund all of the City's outstanding bonds Series
2011A-1, 2011A-2, and 2011B and a portion of the City's outstanding bonds Series 2014A, 2017A, and 2017B. The unspent bond proceeds in the
amount of $22,729 from the cost of issuance accounts will be used toward FY 22 debt service payment.  

Source: Finance and Administration, Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport, City of San José
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Schedule F
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE
 LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(in $ 000's)

Years

Adjusted
General
Airport

Revenues(1)

Operating
Expenses(2) (3)

Net
Revenues

Other
Available
Funds(8)

Net
Revenues
Available
for Debt
Service

Total
Bond Debt
Service(4)

Available
PFC

Revenues(4)

Net Bond
Debt

Service
Payable

from
Revenues

Coverage
Ratio -
Bonds

Estimated
CP Debt

Service(5) (6)

Coverage
Ratio -
Bonds
& CP

2012 $ 129,573 $ 67,875 $ 61,698 $ 58,917 $ 120,615 $ 80,725 $ 21,336 $ 59,389 2.03 $ 6,818 1.82

2013 124,851 64,974 59,877 66,006 125,883 86,325 22,100 64,225 1.96 4,043 1.84

2014 127,717 66,319 61,398 75,157 136,555 95,068 25,747 69,321 1.97 2,859 1.89

2015 128,038 70,054(7) 57,984 78,026(9) 136,010 96,083 25,202 70,881 1.92 2,213 1.86

2016 145,809 73,118 72,691 71,466(9) 144,157 95,452 24,829 70,623 2.04 2,116 1.98

2017 156,278 77,577 78,701 77,876 156,577 95,660 24,789 70,871 2.21 1,728 2.16

2018 173,862 85,584 88,278 78,157 166,435 103,766 24,792 78,974 2.11 686 2.09

2019 181,195 92,572 88,623 62,746 151,369 92,501 27,026 65,475 2.31 317 2.30

2020 183,201 97,122 86,079 51,088 137,167 93,258 27,479 65,779 2.09 593 2.07

2021 191,368 89,927 101,441 41,100 142,541 92,718 14,339 78,379 1.82 586 1.81

(1) Does not include Passenger Facility Charges (PFC) revenues, Airport Improvement Program (AIP) grant proceeds, or Customer Facility Charges (CFC) revenues classified as

nonoperating revenues. PFC revenues and AIP grant proceeds are included in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position as nonoperating revenues. CFC

revenues are recorded as operating and nonoperating revenues. Between July 1, 2016 and June 30, 2019, the Airport used a portion of CFC revenues to pay for the transportation

costs, which is recorded as operating revenue. CFC revenues are recorded as nonoperating revenues to the extent of the annual debt service on the Airport Revenue Bond Series

2011B.  The Airport did not expend CFC revenues on the transportation costs in the fiscal years (FY) ended June 30, 2021 and  June 30, 2020. The Airport was awarded $65.6

million of funding from the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES), which became law on March 27, 2020, to assist with the economic crisis caused

by the COVID-19 pandemic. The Airport was also awarded $13.4 million in the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriation Act (CRRSA) funds on March 22,

2021, which will be used to pay for operating expenses.  In August 2021, the Airport was notified that the CRSSA agreement would be amended to increase the award by $11,095.

An additional $1.6 million in CRRSA funding was awarded to provide relief from rent and minimum annual guarantees to on-airport car rental and in-terminal airport concessions.

In FY 21, the Airport used $53.5 million of CARES funding toward debt service payments and payroll expenses and received reimbursement for the full $1.6 million in concession

relief. Both CARES and CRRSA funding are classified as non-operating revenue in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position in accordance with

Government Accounting Standard Board (GASB) Technical Bulletin 2020-1. Grants funding is available for any purpose for which the Airport revenues may lawfully be used per

the Master Trust Agreement (MTA). Therefore, they are classified as General Airport Revenue and included in operating revenue for the purpose of debt service coverage.

(2) Includes operating expenses less depreciation and expenses paid from sources other than General Airport Revenues.

(3) Excludes letter of credit (LOC) fees associated with Subordinated Commercial Paper Notes (Subordinated CP Notes). LOC fees, net of capitalized fees, are reflected as part of

operating expenses for accounting purposes. However, fees imposed pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreements relating to such letters of credit are Subordinate Obligations and

are not incorporated in operating expenses for purposes of calculating debt service coverage.

(4) Under the MTA dated July 1, 2001, and as amended and supplemented to date (Master Trust), "Bond Debt Service” means for any specified period the sum of (a) the interest falling

due on any then outstanding current interest bonds, assuming that all principal installments are paid when due, but excluding any interest funded from the proceeds of any series of

bonds and applied toward payment of interest on such bonds, and (b) the principal installments payable on any then outstanding bonds. Also, under the Master Trust, the City may

designate PFC as "Available PFC" for payment of eligible debt service. The amount of Debt Service is reduced by the amount of Available PFC designated by the City and

deposited with the Trustee to pay Bond Debt Service.

(5) As required by the LOC and Reimbursement Agreements related to the Airport's Subordinated CP Notes, the principal amount of the Subordinated CP Notes is assumed to be

amortized on a substantially level debt service for a period of 25 years commencing on the estimated completion date of the respective project to which such obligations relate or the

date of issuance if the Subordinated CP Notes proceeds were not used for a project. As also required, the interest rate on the Subordinated CP Notes is assumed to be equal to an

interest rate calculated by multiplying the average interest rate during the 90-day period prior to the end of the FY by 1.15, as certified by a certificate of a financial advisor. 

(6) Includes LOC fees associated with Subordinated CP Notes.

(7) FY 2015 operating expenses were revised to exclude expenses related to GASB Statement No. 68.

(8) Other Available Funds include the Rolling Coverage Amount, uncommitted monies in the General Revenue Fund from the prior FY, unspent bond proceeds in FY 12 through FY

17, and CFC Revenues, in an amount not to exceed the amount of eligible debt service and transportation costs. 

(9) Other Available Funds was restated to include CFC revenues available for debt services not to exceed the amount of CFC eligible debt service and transportation costs.

Source: Finance and Administration, Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport, City of San José
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Schedule G
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
SERVICE AREA POPULATION IN THE AIR TRADE AREA

LAST TEN CALENDAR YEARS AS OF JANUARY 1

Primary Service Area Secondary Service Area

Years Alameda Monterey San Benito San Mateo Santa Clara Santa Cruz Merced San Joaquin Stanislaus Total

2012 1,550,119 422,754 57,079 736,647 1,840,895 268,189 262,390 701,745 523,038 6,362,856

2013 1,573,254 425,756 57,517 745,193 1,868,558 271,595 264,922 710,731 526,042 6,443,568

2014 1,574,497 424,774 57,909 745,635 1,868,038 269,322 264,567 708,678 528,157 6,441,577

2015 1,610,765 432,637 56,445 759,155 1,903,974 273,594 269,280 723,761 534,902 6,564,513

2016 1,629,233 438,171 56,621 765,895 1,922,619 275,557 271,547 735,677 541,466 6,636,786

2017 1,646,405 442,149 56,879 770,256 1,937,473 276,504 275,104 747,263 549,976 6,702,009

2018 1,656,884 442,940 60,841 772,372 1,947,798 276,071 279,424 757,279 554,108 6,747,717

2019 1,664,783 441,304 61,513 774,231 1,954,833 272,501 280,735 765,556 554,018 6,769,474

2020(1)
1,663,114 440,393 62,486 771,061 1,945,166 270,373 283,352 773,505 554,931 6,764,381

2021 1,656,591 437,318 63,526 765,245 1,934,171 261,115 284,836 783,534 555,968 6,742,304

(1) Some data reported previously were revised to reflect the most recent information.

Source: California Department of Finance, Demographic Research Unit
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Schedule H
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
SERVICE AREA PERSONAL INCOME IN THE AIR TRADE AREA

LAST TEN AVAILABLE CALENDAR YEARS(1)

(in $ 000's)

Primary Service Area Secondary Service Area

Years Alameda Monterey San Benito San Mateo Santa Clara Santa Cruz Merced San Joaquin Stanislaus Total

2010 $ 72,870,527 $ 16,958,117 $ 1,920,847 $ 47,787,433 $ 102,432,990 $12,361,716 $ 7,117,031 $21,214,529 $16,232,916 $ 298,896,106

2011 78,550,471 17,668,188 2,037,248 51,931,876 113,461,610 13,284,573 7,797,651 22,369,055 17,095,084 324,195,756

2012 84,503,175 18,496,346 2,153,480 58,665,994 124,801,907 14,251,103 8,038,978 23,682,855 17,957,396 352,551,234

2013 85,173,987 19,184,636 2,279,346 64,281,690 133,654,835 13,456,565 8,635,380 24,470,917 18,399,577 369,536,933

2014 93,290,149 20,028,430 2,364,002 69,717,150 147,251,454 14,814,476 9,197,957 26,089,638 19,869,327 402,622,583

2015 102,742,614 22,142,878 2,622,190 77,283,538 163,034,586 15,911,723 9,683,705 28,279,556 21,578,734 443,279,524

2016 111,354,955 22,828,552 2,870,816 82,046,470 178,029,092 16,766,106 9,913,086 30,102,917 22,360,836 476,272,830

2017 118,655,307 23,511,124 3,067,422 90,249,278 193,680,090 17,854,678 10,320,877 31,475,861 23,094,445 511,909,082

2018(2) 128,728,021 24,576,499 3,235,448 98,568,258 213,221,976 18,697,119 10,696,798 33,634,157 23,915,119 555,273,395

2019 135,663,560 25,973,189 3,470,822 102,803,127 223,624,580 19,559,977 11,406,396 35,926,949 25,188,224 583,616,824

(1) Information for calendar years 2020 and 2021 is not available.
(2) Some data reported previously were revised to reflect the most recent information.

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis
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Schedule I
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
SERVICE AREA PER CAPITA PERSONAL INCOME IN THE AIR TRADE AREA

LAST TEN AVAILABLE CALENDAR YEARS(1)

Primary Service Area Secondary Service Area

Years Alameda Monterey San Benito San Mateo Santa Clara Santa Cruz Merced San Joaquin Stanislaus
Average
PCPI(3)

2010 $ 48,144 $ 40,732 $ 34,558 $ 66,362 $ 57,336 $ 46,925 $ 27,706 $ 30,857 $ 31,500 $ 47,951

2011 51,286 41,906 36,273 71,232 62,623 50,138 29,995 32,157 33,005 51,581

2012 54,379 43,411 37,867 79,420 67,974 53,473 30,726 33,777 34,437 55,408

2013 53,798 44,707 39,576 85,653 71,431 49,942 32,774 34,709 34,961 57,350

2014 57,842 46,438 40,543 91,935 77,663 54,585 34,567 36,483 37,352 62,504

2015 62,926 51,256 44,844 101,264 85,354 58,151 36,255 39,087 40,305 67,527

2016 67,356 52,316 48,383 106,615 92,168 60,924 36,868 40,996 41,305 71,763

2017 71,560 53,989 50,955 117,389 100,177 64,901 38,037 42,391 42,354 76,381

2018(2) 77,233 56,634 52,637 128,230 110,344 68,277 39,018 44,697 43,631 82,291

2019 81,171 59,838 55,261 134,107 115,997 71,592 41,077 47,139 45,742 86,213

(1) Information for calendar years 2020 and 2021 is not available.
(2) Some data reported previously were revised to reflect the most recent information.
(3) Some data reported previously were revised to reflect a change in methodology for calculating the Average PCPI.

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis
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Schedule J
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS IN THE CITY OF SAN JOSE

CURRENT AND NINE YEARS AGO

2021 2012

Company or Organization
Number of
Employees Rank

Percentage of
Total

Employment(3)

-
Number of
Employees Rank

Percentage of
Total

Employment(3)

County of Santa Clara 18,873 1 1.9% 14,950 1 1.7%
Cisco Systems 9,393 2 0.9% 13,600 2 1.5%
City of San José  (1) 6,592 3 0.7% 5,400 3 0.6%
IBM 3,872 4 0.4% 4,100 6 0.5%
San José State University 3,607 5 0.4% 4,780 4 0.5%
Paypal, Inc. 3,600 6 0.4% n/a(2) n/a(2) -
eBay 3,500 7 0.4% 4,700 5 0.5%
Adobe Systems Inc. 3,400 8 0.3% 2,020 10 0.2%
Kaiser Permanente 3,035 9 0.3% 1,940 11 0.2%
Western Digital 2,712 10 0.3% n/a(2) n/a(2) -
Good Samaritan Health System 2,241 11 0.2% 1,924 12 0.2%
Super Micro Computer 2,219 12 0.2% n/a(2) n/a(2) -
Cadence Design Systems 1,900 13 0.2% 1,810 13 0.2%
Intel 1,800 14 0.2% n/a(2) n/a(2) -
Regional Medical Center 1,625 15 0.2% n/a(2) n/a(2) -

(1) Full-time employees
(2)   Companies or organizations not included in top 15 principal employers in 2012
(3)   Percentage of total employment is calculated based on San José -Sunnyvale-Santa Clara MSA employment data.

Source: California Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division 
             City of San José, Office of Economic Development
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Schedule K
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
SERVICE AREA ANNUAL AVERAGE UNEMPLOYMENT RATE IN THE AIR TRADE AREA

LAST TEN CALENDAR YEARS

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020(1) 2021(2)

Merced %16.9 %14.7 %12.8 %11.4 %10.5 %9.3 %8.3 %8.1 %12.2 %11.0
Monterey %11.5 %10.1 %9.1 %8.1 %7.6 %7.2 %6.3 %6.2 %10.8 %9.3
Stanislaus %15.1 %13.0 %11.2 %9.5 %8.5 %7.5 %6.4 %6.0 %10.7 %8.8
San Joaquin %15.0 %12.8 %10.6 %8.9 %8.1 %7.0 %6.0 %5.9 %11.3 %9.1
San Benito %13.9 %11.1 %9.3 %7.6 %6.8 %5.8 %5.1 %5.1 %9.9 %8.0
Santa Cruz %11.2 %9.5 %8.7 %7.5 %6.9 %5.7 %4.9 %4.8 %9.5 %7.8
Alameda %9.0 %7.4 %5.9 %4.7 %4.2 %3.6 %3.0 %2.9 %8.8 %6.5
Santa Clara %8.4 %6.8 %5.2 %4.2 %3.8 %3.2 %2.6 %2.5 %7.0 %5.1
San Mateo %6.7 %5.4 %4.2 %3.4 %3.0 %2.7 %2.2 %2.0 %6.9 %5.0

(1) Some data reported previously were revised to reflect the most recent information.
(2) Information for 2021 is the average of January through June 2021.

Source: California Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division
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Schedule L
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
AIRPORT EMPLOYEES

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Budgeted Full-time-Equivalent(1)

Employees as of Fiscal Year-End
Functional Area 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Administration 27 27 27 28 28 30 30 31 32 30
Air service development 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Airport technology services 13 13 13 13 11 11 11 11 11 11
Airside operations 40 42 43 43 43 51 51 50 52 53
Customer service and outreach 6 7 7 6 8 10 10 11 13 11
Capital and airport development 14 15 15 15 18 19 19 20 21 20
Environmental 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2
Facilities (building services, trades, and maintenance) 66 64 64 64 61 68 68 70 73 66
Landside operations and services 29 9 8 8 8 9 9 10 10 10
Property management 8 8 8 8 8 10 10 10 11 10

205 187 187 187 187 211 211 216 226 214

(1) A full-time employee is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including vacation and sick leave).
Full-time equivalent employment is calculated by dividing total labor hours by 2,080.
Totals may not add due to rounding.

Source: Finance and Administration, Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport
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Schedule M
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
AIRPORT INFORMATION

June 30, 2021

Location: Four miles north of downtown San José, "Capital of Silicon Valley"

Area: 1,000 acres

Elevation: 62.2 ft.

Airport code: SJC

Runways: 12R/30L North/South 11,000 x 150 ft. ILS/VOR/GPS
12L/30R North/South 11,000 x 150 ft. GPS (VOR 30R only) 

Terminal: Airlines 278,226 sq. ft.
Concessions and other rentables 83,081 sq. ft.
Public/common 535,496 sq. ft.
Vacant 22,853 sq. ft.
Other 99,153 sq. ft.

Total 1,018,809 sq. ft.

Number of passenger gates - Terminal A and FIS 17
Number of passenger gates - Terminal B 20
Number of loading bridges 36
Number of open concessionaires in terminal 31

10 food & beverage concessions
21 retail concessions

Number of rental car brands 11

Apron: Commercial airlines 1,330,140 sq. ft.
Cargo airlines 596,482 sq. ft.
Fixed based operators (FBOs) and
   Specialized aviation service operator (SASO) $ 1,362,771 sq. ft.
General aviation west 308,218 sq. ft.
Total 3,597,611 sq. ft.

Public parking spaces: Lot 1 (Economy Lot 1)(1) 2,524
Lot 2 (Terminal A Garage) 1,370
Lot 3 (Terminal B Garage & Surface) 308
Lot 4 740
Lot 5 887

Total 5,829

Cargo: Air freight building 18,977 sq. ft.

International: Customs / Federal Inspection Service Facility

Tower: Operational hours 0600 - 0000, after hours CTAF 124.0/TRACON 24/7

FBOs: Atlantic Aviation
Signature Flight Support

SASO: AvBase

(1) Parking spaces as of July 1, 2021.

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport, City of San José
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Schedule N
(Continued)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

ENPLANED COMMERCIAL PASSENGERS BY AIRLINE
FISCAL YEARS 2012 THROUGH 2016

(Ranked by Fiscal Year 2021 Results)

2012 2013(1) 2014 2015 2016
Airline Enplanements % of Total Enplanements % of Total Enplanements % of Total Enplanements % of Total Enplanements % of Total
Southwest Airlines 2,192,234 %53.1 2,169,956 %51.2 2,280,346 %50.5 2,420,333 %50.8 2,507,648 %49.3
Alaska Airlines(2) 609,315 %14.8 727,616 %17.2 704,944 %15.6 750,673 %15.8 795,136 %15.6
American Airlines(3) 571,167 %13.8 587,829 %13.9 601,104 %13.3 604,952 %12.7 642,626 %12.6
Delta Airlines(4) 218,447 %5.3 228,824 %5.4 332,544 %7.4 463,746 %9.7 551,084 %10.8
Volaris 49,709 %1.2 49,700 %1.2 51,056 %1.1 51,185 %1.1 58,385 %1.1
United Airlines(5) 298,808 %7.2 253,837 %6.0 231,287 %5.1 186,656 %3.9 184,570 %3.6
Hawaiian Airlines 103,483 %2.5 116,928 %2.8 113,381 %2.5 161,707 %3.4 164,088 %3.2
Frontier Airlines - - - - - - - - - -
JetBlue Airways 76,063 %1.8 71,506 %1.7 70,860 %1.6 71,577 %1.5 73,950 %1.5
British Airways - - - - - - - - 9,872 %0.2
Air Canada - - - - - - - - 6,882 %0.1
All Nippon Airways - - 3,273 %0.1 42,999 %1.0 47,560 %1.0 49,717 %1.0
Hainan Airlines - - - - - - 1,849 - 34,939 %0.7
Aeromexico - - - - - - - - - -
Lufthansa - - - - - - - - - -
Air China - - - - - - - - - -
All other airlines(6) 5,659 %0.1 25,284 %0.6 88,500 %2.0 4,763 %0.1 8,808 %0.2

Total(7) 4,124,885 %100.0 4,234,753 %100.0 4,517,021 %100.0 4,765,001 %100.0 5,087,705 %100.0

(1) 2013 enplanements for "All other airlines" has been revised to show corrected information.
(2) Includes enplaned passengers on flights operated by Horizon and Skywest.
(3) In December 2013, the American Airlines and US Airways ("American Airlines Group") merger was completed.  Passengers previously reported under US Airways are now grouped with
American Airlines. The enplanements include flights operated by Skywest, Mesa Airlines, and Compass Airlines.
(4) Includes enplaned passengers on flights operated by Skywest and Compass Airlines.

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport activity reports
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Schedule N
(Concluded)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

ENPLANED COMMERCIAL PASSENGERS BY AIRLINE
FISCAL YEARS 2017 THROUGH 2021

(Ranked by Fiscal Year 2021 Results)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Airline Enplanements % of Total Enplanements % of Total Enplanements % of Total Enplanements % of Total Enplanements % of Total
Southwest Airlines 2,607,667 %45.4 3,050,314 %45.4 3,569,213 %47.8 2,893,513 %51.1 1,151,709 %54.2
Alaska Airlines(2) 988,852 %17.2 1,183,145 %17.6 1,416,446 %19.0 1,004,249 %17.7 394,867 %18.6
American Airlines(3) 634,827 %11.1 628,683 %9.3 606,477 %8.1 443,899 %7.8 195,189 %9.2
Delta Airlines(4) 648,825 %11.3 701,037 %10.4 783,809 %10.5 640,408 %11.3 159,862 %7.5
Volaris 61,585 %1.1 60,602 %0.9 91,784 %1.2 89,250 %1.6 90,049 %4.2
United Airlines(5) 237,281 %4.1 314,024 %4.7 323,965 %4.3 215,104 %3.8 69,106 %3.3
Hawaiian Airlines 153,379 %2.7 169,044 %2.5 143,314 %1.9 88,139 %1.6 42,474 %2.0
Frontier Airlines - - 80,943 %1.2 99,539 %1.3 52,646 %0.9 15,010 %0.7
JetBlue Airways 151,587 %2.6 222,987 %3.3 155,313 %2.1 92,699 %1.6 3,726 %0.2
British Airways 54,145 %0.9 54,092 %0.8 59,099 %0.8 37,503 %0.7 - -
Air Canada 46,701 %0.8 57,145 %0.8 56,389 %0.8 37,232 %0.7 - -
All Nippon Airways 49,160 %0.9 49,735 %0.7 48,901 %0.7 31,735 %0.6 - -
Hainan Airlines 44,123 %0.8 38,995 %0.6 42,025 %0.6 23,111 %0.4 - -
Aeromexico - - 51,326 %0.8 34,761 %0.5 5,670 %0.1 - -
Lufthansa 40,490 %0.7 30,057 %0.4 17,756 %0.2 - - - -
Air China 15,511 %0.3 25,829 %0.4 4,436 %0.1 - - - -
All other airlines(6) 5,636 %0.1 7,169 %0.1 8,899 %0.1 4,909 %0.1 3,831 %0.2

Total(7) 5,739,769 %100.0 6,725,127 %100.0 7,462,126 %100.0 5,660,067 %100.0 2,125,823 %100.0

(5) Continental and United merged in October 2010. The combined airlines ("United Airlines") received FAA approval to operate under a single certificate in December 2011.  The enplanements
include flights operated by Skywest and GoJet. 
(6) Consists of charter airlines and airlines no longer serving the Airport, including Virgin America.  Virgin America operated at the Airport from May 2013 to May 2014.
(7) Percentage totals may not add due to rounding.

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport activity reports
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Schedule O
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
AIRLINE LANDED WEIGHTS (1,000 lbs.)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Airline(1) 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

AeroMexico - - - - - - 51,936 37,427 4,608 -
Air Canada - - - - 8,103 57,831 70,950 73,271 52,420 -
Air China - - - - - 51,359 61,390 9,630 - -
Alaska Airlines 680,586 806,403 790,691 825,699 864,768 1,127,836 1,359,717 1,682,496 1,334,216 726,375
All Nippon Airways - 9,880 138,114 138,700 140,925 138,790 141,175 139,285 100,995 -
American Airlines 643,199 664,570 669,391 653,971 726,312 730,283 735,296 688,165 528,987 272,518
British Airways - - - - 24,650 152,150 138,460 146,625 98,175 -
Delta Airlines 233,473 252,297 386,609 537,959 677,209 829,238 849,208 894,266 810,877 328,342
Frontier Airlines - 672 499 269 - - 80,893 94,850 53,660 26,802
Hainan Airlines - - - 4,180 80,559 97,695 82,815 85,785 56,534 12,368
Hawaiian Airlines 133,520 161,560 154,290 230,520 230,052 206,901 229,459 184,495 95,472 69,248
JetBlue Airways 82,903 79,348 77,215 75,508 82,039 199,784 302,960 216,553 135,081 4,379
Lufthansa - - - - - 99,364 62,646 35,556 - -
Southwest Airlines 2,917,030 2,838,160 2,819,208 2,884,182 2,976,117 3,161,461 3,635,596 4,223,415 3,944,466 2,052,349
United Airlines 355,121 293,930 269,572 206,682 214,585 268,074 353,304 347,168 259,896 103,010
Volaris 59,451 52,014 51,472 55,653 59,565 61,549 61,549 96,214 98,045 101,256
All other airlines 20,108 54,361 179,532 15,137 29,020 19,857 27,580 29,505 17,826 18,555

Subtotal 5,125,391 5,213,194 5,536,593 5,628,460 6,113,904 7,202,172 8,244,933 8,984,703 7,591,258 3,715,202

Cargo Carriers
Air Transport Int'l. 12,015 250 - - - - - - - -
FedEx 163,213 158,845 152,417 150,160 164,527 149,908 146,996 147,188 143,939 122,582
United Parcel Service 93,250 88,940 82,584 86,546 101,377 98,944 100,450 97,171 89,692 87,193
All other cargo airlines 270 33 - - 440 168 161 82 - 630

Subtotal 268,748 248,067 235,002 236,706 266,344 249,020 247,607 244,440 233,630 210,406

Total 5,394,139 5,461,261 5,771,595 5,865,167 6,380,248 7,451,193 8,492,540 9,229,143 7,824,888 3,925,608

(1) See notes on Schedule N.
Totals may not add due to rounding.

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport activity reports
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Schedule P
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
AIRLINE FLIGHT OPERATIONS BY AIRLINE AND CARGO CARRIER

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Airline(1) 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
AeroMexico - - - - - - 722 526 64 -
Air Canada - - - - 214 1,538 1,920 1,952 1,396 -
Air China - - - - - 256 306 48 - -
Alaska Airlines 12,948 15,172 13,960 13,936 14,314 20,330 25,400 30,784 23,948 14,764
All Nippon Airways - 52 726 730 732 730 730 730 528 -
American Airlines 12,452 12,672 12,374 12,172 12,356 12,042 12,256 11,452 8,614 3,844
British Airways - - - - 116 716 652 690 462 -
Delta Airlines 4,784 4,810 8,596 12,702 14,300 15,958 16,496 17,338 14,872 7,848
Frontier Airlines - 10 8 4 - - 1,132 1,294 682 358
Hainan Airlines - - - 22 424 504 420 420 268 60
Hawaiian Airlines 882 1,036 1,014 1,462 1,462 1,324 1,466 1,454 1,078 788
JetBlue Airways 1,166 1,116 1,086 1,062 1,146 2,740 4,126 2,924 1,856 58
Lufthansa - - - - - 476 296 168 - -
Southwest Airlines 47,002 45,486 44,942 45,654 46,918 48,538 55,466 64,484 59,594 29,792
United Airlines 6,072 5,600 5,052 3,714 3,444 4,042 5,624 5,434 4,052 2,102
Volaris 886 770 752 774 820 846 846 1,328 1,352 1,392
All other airlines 286 784 2,546 226 394 296 384 428 252 252

Subtotal 86,478 87,508 91,056 92,458 96,640 110,336 128,242 141,454 119,018 61,258

Cargo Carriers
Air Transport Int'l. 88 2 - - - - - - - -
FedEx 928 918 918 920 936 928 918 916 922 802
United Parcel Service 652 610 550 580 670 664 676 644 572 540
All other cargo airlines 10 6 - - 8 4 2 2 - 2

Subtotal 1,678 1,536 1,468 1,500 1,614 1,596 1,596 1,562 1,494 1,344

Total 88,156 89,044 92,524 93,958 98,254 111,932 129,838 143,016 120,512 62,602

(1) See notes on Schedule N.

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport activity reports
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Schedule Q
(Continued)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

SCHEDULED/ALL-CARGO AIRLINE SERVICE

CARRIER NONSTOP SERVICE

SCHEDULED DOMESTIC AIRLINE SERVICE

Alaska Airlines Austin (AUS)
Boise (BOI)
Honolulu (HNL)
Kahuhui (OGG)
Kalaoa (KOA)
Lihue (LIH)
Los Angeles (LAX)
Missoula (MSO)
Portland (PDX)
San Diego (SAN)
Seattle (SEA)
Spokane (GEG)

American Airlines Dallas (DFW)
Los Angeles (LAX)
Phoenix (PHX)

Delta Air Lines Los Angeles (LAX)
Salt Lake City (SLC)
Seattle (SEA)

Frontier Airlines Las Vegas (LAS)

Hawaiian Airlines Honolulu (HNL)
Kahului (OGG)

JetBlue Airways Boston (BOS)
New York (JFK)

Southwest Airlines Austin (AUS)
Boise (BOI)
Burbank (BUR)
Chicago (MDW)
Dallas (DAL)
Denver (DEN)
Honolulu (HNL)
Houston (HOU)
Kahului (OGG)
Kalaoa (KOA)
Las Vegas (LAS)
Lihue (LIH)
Long Beach (LGB)
Los Angeles (LAX)
Nashville (BNA)
Ontario (ONT)
Santa Ana (SNA)
Phoenix (PHX)
Portland (PDX)
Salt Lake City (SLC)
San Diego (SAN)
Seattle (SEA)
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Schedule Q
(Concluded)

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

SCHEDULED/ALL-CARGO AIRLINE SERVICE

CARRIER NONSTOP SERVICE

SCHEDULED DOMESTIC AIRLINE SERVICE

Southwest Airlines Spokane (GEG)
St. Louis (STL)

United Airlines Denver (DEN)
Houston (IAH)

SCHEDULED FOREIGN AIRLINE SERVICE

Alaska Airlines Guadalajara (GDL)
Los Cabos (SJD)
Puerto Vallarta (PVR)

Volaris Guadalajara (GDL)
León (BJX)
Mexico City (MEX)
Morelia (MLM)
Zacatecas (ZCL)

ALL-CARGO AIRLINES

Federal Express Corporation

United Parcel Service

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport activity reports
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Schedule R
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
PASSENGERS, MAIL, FREIGHT, AND CARGO STATISTICS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Passengers (1,000's):

Enplanements 4,125 4,235 4,517 4,765 5,088 5,740 6,725 7,462 5,660 2,126

Deplanements 4,131 4,254 4,546 4,790 5,125 5,775 6,765 7,488 5,669 2,100

Total passengers 8,256 8,489 9,063 9,555 10,213 11,515 13,490 14,950 11,329 4,226

Mail/freight/cargo (1,000 lbs):
Mail 1,160 1,431 1,135 1,546 1,786 1,856 4,132 3,497 760 1,474
Freight/express 5,303 6,172 16,156 18,257 22,344 42,126 43,228 42,402 27,287 10,321
Cargo 77,303 78,766 86,239 84,203 92,294 78,013 74,868 68,887 69,556 68,924

Total mail/freight/cargo 83,766 86,369 103,530 104,006 116,424 121,995 122,228 114,786 97,603 80,719

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport activity reports
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Schedule S
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
HISTORICAL AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS(1)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal
Year

Air Carrier
Operations(2)

Cargo
Operations

Total
Commercial
Operations

Percent
Commercial
Operations

General
Aviation

Operations(3) 

Military
Operations Total Operations

2012 86,478 1,678 88,156 %73.4 31,664 285 120,105

2013 87,508 1,536 89,044 %73.8 31,321 210 120,575

2014 91,056 1,468 92,524 %75.6 29,619 208 122,351

2015 92,458 1,500 93,958 %73.7 33,246 213 127,417

2016 96,640 1,614 98,254 %74.7 33,048 259 131,561

2017 110,336 1,596 111,932 %76.3 34,551 239 146,722

2018 128,242 1,596 129,838 %78.3 35,664 249 165,751

2019 141,454 1,562 143,016 %74.5 48,762 230 192,008

2020 119,018 1,494 120,512 %71.6 47,724 148 168,384

2021 61,258 1,344 62,602 %56.1 48,959 99 111,660

Annual compound growth rate

FY 2012
through
FY 2021 %(3.4) %(2.2) %(3.4) %4.5 %(10.0) %(0.7)

(1) An aircraft operation is defined as the takeoff or landing of an aircraft.
(2) Includes domestic, including regional commuter operations, and international airlines.
(3) Includes local and itinerant general aviation.

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport activity reports
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Bond Disclosure Report

June 30, 2021

In accordance with the requirements of the Disclosure Agreements for the City of San José Airport Revenue
Refunding Bonds (the ARBs) Series 2014A, 2014B, 2014C, 2017A, 2017B, 2021A, 2021B, and 2021C, the
Airport is including this section to meet the requirements of Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-
12(b)(5) (the Rule).

In April 2021, the City issued Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2021A, 2021B, and 2021C (the 2021
ARBs), to current refund all of the City’s outstanding Airport Revenue Bonds Series 2011A-1, 2011A-2, and
2011B and to advance refund a portion of the City’s outstanding ARBs Series 2014A, 2017A, and 2017B. The
Airport Revenue Bonds Series 2011A-1, 2011A-2, and 2011B and the ARBs Series 2014A, 2017A, and 2017B
in the aggregate amount of $473.6 million were refunded with the issuance of ARBs Series 2021A, 2021B, and
2021C Bonds. Additional information about the ARBs can be found in Note 5 to the financial statements.

Section 4 of the Disclosure Agreements requires the City to provide an Annual Report, which is consistent with
the requirements of Section 4 of the Disclosure Agreements, no later than nine months after the end of the City’s
fiscal year. The Annual Report may be submitted to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board's EMMA
system as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, and may include by reference
other information as provided in Section 4 of the Disclosure Agreements. This Bond Disclosure Report meets
the requirements of Section 4 of the Disclosure Agreements.

Annual Report

The following items are required by the Disclosure Agreements to be included in the Annual Report:

 Audited financial statements of the Airport, updated to incorporate information for the most recent fiscal

year, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated to apply to

governmental entities from time to time by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board and further

modified according to applicable State law.

Refer to the Financial Section, pages 1 - 77 of this report.

 A schedule showing the debt service requirements (required only to the extent there are changes).

Refer to Table 1, page 106 of the Bond Disclosure Section of this report.

 A schedule showing, for the Airport’s most recently completed fiscal year, historical passenger

enplanements.

Refer to Table 2, page 107 of the Bond Disclosure Section of this report.

 A schedule showing, for the Airport’s most recently completed fiscal year, historical aircraft operations.

Refer to Schedule S, page 103 of the Statistical Section of this report.

 A schedule showing, for the Airport’s most recently completed fiscal year, historical landing weight.

Refer to Table 3, page 108 of the Bond Disclosure Section of this report.

 A list showing, for the Airport’s most recently completed fiscal year, air carriers serving the Airport.

Refer to Schedule Q, pages 100 - 101 of the Statistical Section of this report.

 A schedule showing, for the Airport’s most recently completed fiscal year, airline activity shares of enplaned

commercial passengers.

Refer to Schedule N, pages 96 - 97 of the Statistical Section of this report.
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NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
(A Department of the City of San José)

Bond Disclosure Report

June 30, 2021

 A table showing, for the Airport’s most recently completed fiscal year, summary of revenues and

maintenance and operation expenses.

Refer to Financial Section, Exhibit II, page 22 of this report.

 A table showing, for the Airport’s most recently completed fiscal year, historical debt service coverage.

Refer to Schedule F, page 88 of the Statistical Section of this report.

REPORTING OF SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Airport revenue refunding bond ratings

The underlying ratings of the outstanding ARBs were “A-”, “A2”, and “A” by S&P Global Ratings (S&P),
Moody’s Investors Service (Moody's), and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch), respectively. On March 12, 2021, S&P
affirmed an “A-” rating with a revised outlook from negative to stable, and Moody’s maintained an “A2” rating
with a stable outlook on the ARBs. On March 15, 2021, Fitch affirmed an “A” rating on the ARBs and an “A-”
rating on the bank note associated with the Airport's Subordinated Commercial Paper Notes with a negative
outlook.
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                             NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

Table 1

(A Department of the City of San José)
BOND DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

Fiscal
Years
Ended

June 30

Total
Debt Service on

Outstanding
Bonds(1)

Principal
Requirements on

Series 2021A 
Bonds

Interest
Requirements on

Series 2021A
Bonds

Total
Debt Service on

Series 2021A
Bonds

Principal
Requirements on

Series 2021B
Bonds

Interest
Requirements on

Series 2021B
Bonds

Total
Debt Service on

Series 2021B
Bonds

Principal
Requirements on

Series 2021C
Bonds

Interest
Requirements on

Series 2021C
Bonds

Total
Debt Service on

Series 2021C
Bonds

Total
Debt Service on

Series 2021
Bonds

Total
Debt Service

2022 $ 30,695,510 $ - $ 3,728,610 $ 3,728,610 $ - $ 2,076,975 $ 2,076,975 $ 1,900,000 $ 7,304,208 $ 9,204,208 $ 15,009,793 $ 45,705,303

2023 30,695,510 - 4,142,900 4,142,900 - 2,307,750 2,307,750 2,225,000 8,111,208 10,336,208 16,786,858 47,482,368

2024 46,165,510 4,380,000 4,142,900 8,522,900 1,075,000 2,307,750 3,382,750 3,230,000 8,103,621 11,333,621 23,239,271 69,404,781

2025 46,643,710 4,125,000 3,923,900 8,048,900 1,125,000 2,254,000 3,379,000 5,255,000 8,082,626 13,337,626 24,765,526 71,409,236

2026 43,337,710 6,110,000 3,717,650 9,827,650 2,290,000 2,197,750 4,487,750 7,315,000 8,019,093 15,334,093 29,649,493 72,987,203

2027 50,624,325 1,430,000 3,412,150 4,842,150 270,000 2,083,250 2,353,250 8,415,000 7,919,682 16,334,682 23,530,082 74,154,407

2028 51,117,325 1,275,000 3,340,650 4,615,650 - 2,069,750 2,069,750 8,560,000 7,773,934 16,333,934 23,019,334 74,136,659

2029 40,110,075 8,195,000 3,276,900 11,471,900 4,420,000 2,069,750 6,489,750 8,725,000 7,612,835 16,337,835 34,299,485 74,409,560

2030 40,338,575 8,230,000 2,867,150 11,097,150 4,790,000 1,848,750 6,638,750 8,915,000 7,420,013 16,335,013 34,070,913 74,409,488

2031 40,950,575 7,995,000 2,455,650 10,450,650 5,060,000 1,609,250 6,669,250 9,120,000 7,214,076 16,334,076 33,453,976 74,404,551

2032 31,019,250 14,450,000 2,055,900 16,505,900 9,190,000 1,356,250 10,546,250 9,345,000 6,989,724 16,334,724 43,386,874 74,406,124

2033 31,429,250 14,660,000 1,333,400 15,993,400 9,755,000 896,750 10,651,750 17,585,000 6,750,492 24,335,492 50,980,642 82,409,892

2034 31,830,750 15,010,000 600,400 15,610,400 10,225,000 409,000 10,634,000 18,060,000 6,273,939 24,333,939 50,578,339 82,409,089

2035 48,647,250 - - - - - - 24,175,000 5,766,453 29,941,453 29,941,453 78,588,703

2036 48,641,000 - - - - - - 24,880,000 5,062,960 29,942,960 29,942,960 78,583,960

2037 48,640,000 - - - - - - 25,620,000 4,326,512 29,946,512 29,946,512 78,586,512

2038 48,645,750 - - - - - - 26,400,000 3,542,540 29,942,540 29,942,540 78,588,290

2039 48,639,500 - - - - - - 27,215,000 2,726,580 29,941,580 29,941,580 78,581,080

2040 48,638,250 - - - - - - 28,090,000 1,858,314 29,948,314 29,948,314 78,586,564

2041 48,648,000 - - - - - - 28,990,000 953,771 29,943,771 29,943,771 78,591,771

2042 48,644,250 - - - - - - - - - - 48,644,250

2043 48,639,750 - - - - - - - - - - 48,639,750

2044 48,644,250 - - - - - - - - - - 48,644,250

2045 48,643,250 - - - - - - - - - - 48,643,250

2046 48,642,250 - - - - - - - - - - 48,642,250

2047 48,641,250 - - - - - - - - - - 48,641,250

Totals(2) $ 1,147,312,825 $ 85,860,000 $ 38,998,160 $ 124,858,160 $ 48,200,000 $ 23,486,975 $ 71,686,975 $ 294,020,000 $ 121,812,580 $ 415,832,580 $ 612,377,715 $ 1,759,690,540

(1) These amounts pertain to total debt service requirements on outstanding Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2014A, 2014B, 2014C,  2017A, and 2017B.
(2)  Totals may not add due to rounding.

Source: City of San José                                                                                                                                         
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    Table 2

NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT                                                      
(A Department of the City of San José)

HISTORICAL PASSENGER ENPLANEMENTS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal
Year

Air Carrier
Domestic

Enplanements(1)

Air Carrier
International

Enplanements
Total

Enplanements
Total Percent

Change

2012 4,041,624 83,261 4,124,885 %(1.5)

2013 4,124,464 110,289 4,234,753 %2.7

2014 4,353,383 163,638 4,517,021 %6.7

2015 4,592,047 172,954 4,765,001 %5.5

2016 4,847,098 240,607 5,087,705 %6.8

2017 5,334,312 405,457 5,739,769 %12.8

2018 6,258,431 466,696 6,725,127 %17.2

2019 6,997,766 464,360 7,462,126 %11.0

2020 5,358,074 301,993 5,660,067 %(24.1)

2021 1,988,654 137,169 2,125,823 %(62.4)

Annual compound growth rate
FY 2012 through
FY 2021 %(6.8) %5.1 %(6.4)

(1) Includes commuter enplanements previously reported separately.

Source: Norman Y Mineta San José International Airport activity reports
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Table 3
NORMAN Y. MINETA SAN JOSE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

(A Department of the City of San José)
HISTORICAL MAXIMUM GROSS LANDING WEIGHT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(In 1,000 lbs)

Fiscal Year Air Carrier(1) Cargo(2) Total(3)

2012( ) 5,125,391 268,748 5,394,139

2013(4) 5,213,194 248,067 5,461,261

2014(4) 5,536,593 235,002 5,771,595

2015( ) 5,628,460 236,706 5,865,167

2016( ) 6,113,904 266,344 6,380,248

2017( ) 7,202,172 249,020 7,451,193

2018( ) 8,244,933 247,607 8,492,540

2019( ) 8,984,703 244,440 9,229,143

2020( ) 7,591,258 233,630 7,824,888

2021( ) 3,715,202 210,406 3,925,608

Annual compound growth rate
FY 2012 through
FY 2021 %(3.2) %(2.4) %(3.1)

(1) Includes domestic, international air carriers. Also includes commuter carriers which were previously reported separately.

(2) Includes all-cargo airlines.

(3) Totals may not add due to rounding.

(4) 2013 and 2014 amounts have been revised to show corrected information.

Source: Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport activity reports
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